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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report on ' Form 10-K and the information incorporated herein by reference contain forward-looking statements regarding
our business, the financial position of Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the therapeutic and commercial potential of our technologies
and products in development. Any statement describing our goals, expectations, intentions or beliefs is a forward-looking
statement and should be considered an at-risk statement, including those statements that are described as Isis’ clinical goals. Such
statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, particularly those inherent in the process of discovering, developing
and commercializing drugs that are safe and effective for use as human therapeutics, in developing and commercializing
technology and systems used to identify infectious agents, and in the endeavor of building a business around such products
and services. Our forward-looking statements also invelve assumptions that, if they never materialize or prove correct, could
cause our results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward looking statements. Factors that could
cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in this report on Form 10-K, including
those identified in the section of Item 1 entitled ""Risk Factors.” Although our forward-looking statements reflect the good faith
judgment of our management, these statements are based only on facts and factors currently known by us. As a result, you are
cautioned not to rely on these forward-looking statements.

TRADEMARKS

Affinitak™ is a trademark of Eli Lilly and Company.

Gemzar® is a reglstered trademark of Eli Lilly and Company.
Macugen® is a reglstered trademark of Eyetech Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
TAXOTERER® is a registered trademark of Aventis.

V1travene® isa. registered trademark of Novartis AG.
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We are a b1ophannaceut1cal company exp101t1ng propnetary RNA based drug dlscovery technologies to identify and
commercialize ndvel drugs to treat important diseases. RNA, or rlbonuclelc acid, is 2 molecule that provides to a cell the information
the cell needs to produce protelns including those proteins 1mp11cated in disease. Interference with RNA can keep the body from
producing proteins’that are’involved in disease. We are the leader in exploiting RNA as a target for drugs, and have a strong
proprietary’ posmon in RNA-based drug discovery technologles With our primary technology, antisense, we create inhibitors, or
ohgonucleot1des des1gned to hybndlze with a high’ degree of specificity to their RNA target and modulate the production of specific
proteins assoc1ated with d1sease We also use our antisense technology mternally and in collaborations with pharmaceutical
companies to rapldly and efﬁc1ently identify. and prioritize attractive gene targets for drug discovery. Within our Ibis division, we are
expanding on our RNA expert1se by creating a system that’ can rapidly and accurately identify a broad range of infectious organisms
with a single test. Our ongoing development of this technology and a system related to this technology has been funded primarily by
agencies within the Utiited States government ‘

We successfully 1commerc1al1zed our first antisense drug, V1travene V1travene demonstrates our ability to meet Food and
Drug Administration, or EDA, and European regulatory requirements, and to. commercially manufacture antisense drugs. We and our
partners currently have 10 antisense products in preclinical and clinical development, the majority of which are in Phase I or Phase II
human clinical frials.. Our- products in development address numerous therapeutlc areas with major market potential, including
inflammatory, metabohc and cardiovascular diseases, and cancer. We are expanding.the therapeutic opportunities for antisense drugs
by developing a vanety of formulations to enhance patient convenience and compliance. In additjon, our pipeline has matured to
consist primarily. of drugs based on our proprietary second- -generation chemistry,. Our second-generation antisense drugs offer a
number of advantages over prior chemistries. Specifically, these drugs offer the potential for improved safety, increased potency and
a longer half-life, which correlates‘ with durability of therapeutic response and the potential for less frequent dosing. Physicians may
be able to dose our second-generation drugs as infrequently as once every two weeks to once a month. We are also making progress
on developing oral formulations of our second-generation antisense drugs. Our oral formulations may increase the commercial value
of our antisense drugs.

Within our Ibis divisien we have invented technology that has the potential to revolutionize the identification of infectious
diseases. This'technologyis called Triangulation Identification for Genetic' Evaluation of Risks, or TIGER. We have applied the
TIGER technology to develop a system to identify from a sample a broad range of'infectious organisms, including organisms that are
newly-emerging, genetically altered and unculturable.. We have successfuily demonstrated proof-of-principle of the TIGER system
with the identification of a variety of bacteria and viruses in both environmental and human clinical samples. During 2004, we
advanced the development of our TIGER system to include application development for epidemniological surveillance and biological
products screening. These applications represent the first of many we plan to develop to enhance the TIGER system’s commercial
value and opportunity in the government research, medical and diagnostic markets.,

Toldate we have earned‘ $40.1 m1ll1on in revenue from several govemment agencies, including up to $37.5 million for the
development of TIGER: and:$2.6- million to discover small molecule drugs, under contracts valued at up to $66.3 million. These
agencies inc] lude  the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency, or DARPA, the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious
Diseases, or NIAID, part of the National Institutes of Health, or NIH, the Centers for Disease Control, or CDC, the Federal Bureau of
Investigation, ‘or FBI, and the United States Army Medical Research Institute of Infectious Diseases, or USAMRIID.
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We have ra‘ broad patent; portfolio covering our products and technologies. We have rights to more than 1,500 issued patents,
which we believe represents the largest antisense and RNA-oriented-patent estate. in the pharmaceutical industry. Our intellectual
property is a sirategic asset that we are exploiting to generate near term revenue and that we expect will also provide us with revenue
in the future. The principal purpose of our intellectual property portfolio.is to protect our products and those of our partners. Our
intellectual property portfolib also. enables us to expand our pipeline by granting to other companies limited access to antisense
technology throughlicenses we grant them. Licensing partnerships may include traditionally structured antisense drug discovery and
development collaborations, with‘large pharmaceutical companies like Lilly and Amgen.

Ant1sense technology allows us to repeatedly produce more drug candidates than we can afford to develop on our own. As a
result, we have extendeéd our licensing partnerships to include our satellite company strategy in which we provide our expertise and
intellectual property posmon in RNA-baséd therapeutics to industry partners that are interested in developing RNA-based

‘ ; , 3 ‘




therapeutics. Because these companies work closely together with us, with the common goals of advancing the technology and/or
pipeline, we sometimes refer to these companies as satellite companies. These partnerships allow us to benefit from our partners’
expertise and highly focused research efforts, while our partners benefit from our experience in RNA-based drug discovery and
development and access to our intellectual property. In return for providing companies with access to our technology, we receive an
ownership interest in the resulting products and/or in the companies. Through these relationships we are expanding the reach and
potential of antisense therapeutics and participating in the success of multiple companies and products. This provides us with the
opportunity to create a much broader antisense pipeline than we could afford to develop on our own, while minimizing our financial
obligations. We have implemented this integral component of our strategy through our partnerships with Alnylam Pharmaceuticals,
Inc., or Alnylam; Antisense Therapeutics, Ltd., ot ATL; Ercole Biotech Inc., or Ercole; OncoGenex Technologies, Inc., or
OncoGenex; Santans Pharma A/S, or Santaris; and Sarissa, Inc or Sarissa.

In addition, we have an active intellectual property llcensmg program in which we license aspects of our intellectual property
to companies like Hybridon, Inc., or Hybrldon integrated DNA Technologies, Inc., or IDT; Roche Molecular Systems, or Roche:
atugen A/S, or atugen; and Dharmacon, Inc., or Dharmacon. Through this program, we also license our non-antisense patents as we
did with Eyetech Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or Eyetéch In December 2001, we licensed several chemistry patents to Eyetech for the
development of Macugen, a drug for the treatment of wet age-related macular degeneration, or AMD, that Eyetech is co-developing
and commercializing with Pfizer, Inc., or Pfizer. In 2004, we earned $4.0 million in milestone payments from Eyetech associated with
their filing of a New Drug Apphcatlon or NDA, for Macugen with the FDA and Eyetech’s receipt of marketing clearance for the
drug. In January 2005, we sold a portion of our royalty rights in Macugen to Drug Royalty USA., Inc., or DRC, in exchange for
aggregate payments of $24 million over the next three years. To date, we have generated nearly $70.0 million from our intellectual
property licensing program that helps support our internal drug discovery and clinical development programs.

We incorporated in California in 1989, and in 1991 we reincorporated as a Delaware corporation. Our principal offices are in
Carlsbad, California. In November 2003, we established Isis Pharmaceuticals Singapore Pte Ltd, our wholly-owned subsidiary in
Singapore. As part of our strategic decision to reorganize and refocus our resources to advance our most promising second-generation
drugs and to continue the development of antisense technology, we decided to close our research and development laboratory in
Singapore during the first quarter of 2005.

Drug Discovery and Development
Antisense Drug Discovery

Proteins are essential, working molecules in a cell. Almost all human diseases result from inappropriate protein production or
improper protein activity. Scientists use traditional drug discovery methods to design drugs to interact with the proteins in the body that
are supporting or causing a disease. Antisense technology is different from traditional drug discovery because it specifically targets
disease-causing proteins before the body produces them. We design our antisense drugs, or antisense inhibitors, to act earlier in the
disease process than traditional drugs and to interrupt the production of disease causing proteins without disrupting proteins responsible
for the body's normal functioning.

Genes contain the information necessary to produce proteins. A gene is made up of bases, or nucleotides: Adenine, Thymine,
Guanine, and Cytosine, commonly known as A, T, G and C, which are linked together to form a two-stranded structure that resembles a
twisted ladder, known as deoxyribonucleic acid, or DNA. The nucleotides on one side of the ladder bind weakly to complementary
nucleotides on the other strand according to specific rules; for example, A pairs with T and G pairs with C, creating the ladder's rungs.
This highly specific nucleotide pairing is called hybrldlzatlon The sequence or order of these nucleotides establishes the cell's recipes for
making proteins.

When a cell transcribes information from DNA into messenger RNA, or mRNA, the two complementary strands of the DNA
partly uncoil. One strand acts as a template and information stored in the DNA strand is copied into a complementary mRNA. mRNA
then carries the information to cellular structures called ribosomes, the cell's factories for manufacturing proteins. The ribosome reads the
encoded information, the mRNA's nucleotide sequence, and in so doing, strings together amino acids to form a specific protein. This
process is called translation. Antisense technology interrupts the cell's protein production process by preventing the RNA instructions
from reaching the ribosome, thus inhibiting the production of the protein. The mRNA sequence of nucleotides that carries the information
for protein production is called the "sense" strand. The complementary nucleotide chain that binds specifically to the sense strand is called
the "antisense" strand. ’ .




We use the information contained in mRNA to design chemical structures, called antisense oligonucleotides or antisense drugs,
which resemble DNA and RNA and are the complement of mRNA. These potent. antisense drugs inhibit the production of disease-causing
proteins. Ant1sense drugs can selectrvely inhibit one protein among a closely related group of proteins because antisense drugs interact
with a specific RNA and not w1th the RNAs of other members of the group. It'is easrer to differentiate between closely related proteins at
the RNA sequence, level than by binding to the protem itself, as traditional drugs do. As a result, we can design antisense drugs that
selectively inhibit the drsease -causing member of the group without mterfermg with those members of the group necessary for normal
bodily functlons Thrs umque specificity means that antrsense drugs may be less tox1c than tradmonal drugs, because we can design them
to minimize the 1mpact on unmtended targets.

Further, the design of antisense' compounds s less complex, more rapid and more efficient than traditional drug design directed
at protein targets.. Traditional drug design requires companies to identify a:small molecule that will interact with protein structures to
affect the disease-causing process. Since predicting which small molecules will do this has proven to be difficult, traditional drug
discovery involves testing-hundreds of thousands of small molecules for their ability to interfere with protein function. As a result,
traditional drug discovery is a labor intensive, low probability endeavor. In contrast, we design our antisense compounds to bind to
mRNA structures through well understood processes. We can design prototype antisense-drugs as soon as we identify the sequence for the
mRNA receptor. With the complenon of the human genome sequiencing prOJCCt we now know the sequence for all potential mRNA
receptors in the human body A , , & R

We are the leader in the discovery and development of this excrtmg new. class of therapeutrc compounds. Our proprretary
technology to drscover and charactenze novel antrsense inhibitors has enabled our screntrsts to modify the properties of our antisense drug
candidates for optnnal use with particular targets and thus, to produce a broad, propnetary portfolio of compounds applicable to many
disease targets, Further, over the past decade, our scientists have made great advances in chemistries, which we call our second-generation
antisense drugs. Second-generation' drugs may have increased potency, stab111ty, oral bioavailability and an improved side effect profile.
We have also made significant progress in developing new formulations of antisense drugs, like oral, subcutaneous, intravitreal, aerosol,
enema and topical cream that further expand the potential for antisense technologyr

Further, we use antrsense technology to generate information about the function of genes and to determine the value of genes as
drug discovery targéts. This information forms the basis of the first step of our antisense drug discovery program. We use this information
to direct our own’ annsense drug discovery research, and that of our antisense- drug discovery parters. We have created inhibitors to
thousands of genes, vahdated many targets and dlssected numerous dlsease pathways

Small Molecule Anttbmzcmbtal Drug Dtscovery

Prior to the development of TIGER; our Ibis division focused on drscovermg novel small molecule antimicrobial drugs.
" DARPA principally funded this project until 2002, when USAMRIID elected to be the transition partner for a DARPA-sponsored
research program to discover small molecule antimicrobial drugs for biological warfare defense. As part of the transition we entered
into a three-year, $2.4 million contract with USAMRIID to advance this work. ‘As of December 31, 2004, we had received $2.1
million from the United States government for this program. We expect to allocate limited resources to advance this technology once
we complete our work under'the‘ USAMRIID contract in the first quarter of 2005. Our goal is to secure a partner for this program.
PP , . . . . » :

Ibis Division g »‘"3 . ' 4

Wlthm our Tbls dwrsron we have invented technology that has the potentlal to revolutionize the 1dent1ﬁcatron of infectious
diseases. This technology is called Trrangulatron Identification for Genetic Evaluation of Risks, or TIGER. We have applied the
TIGER technology to develop a'system to identify from a sample a broad range of infectious organisms, including organisms that are
neéwly-emerging, genetrcally altered and unculturable. We have successfully demonstrated proof-of-principle of the TIGER system
with the identification of a variety of bacteria and viruses in both environmental and human clinical samples. During 2004, we
advanced the development of our TIGER system to include application development for epidemiological surveillance and biological
products screening. ‘These; applrcat1ons represent the first of many we plan to develop to enhance the TIGER system s commercial
value and opportunity. in the government research, medical and dragnostlc markets.

TIGER is the product of core technology development and small molecule drug discovery research conducted within our Ibis
division. In its’ early years, Ibrs focused on d1scover1ng novel small molecule antrmlcrobral drugs. Ibis’ central focus now is to
develop and commercrahzel our TIGER technology

The advancement of TIGER application development has brought us closer to realrzmg the commercral potential of thrs
unique and proprietary technology To continue this progress, we recently hired Mrchael Treble to head our Ibis division. Mr. Treble’s
knowledge and’ expertrse lin product development and in commerc1alrzmg research instruments and dragnostlc products will
complement the expemse and Innovation of David J. Ecker PhD, the screntrﬁc leader of TIGER technology development.



To develop the TIGER technology and applications, our Ibis division has received contracts from a number of government
agencies, including DARPA, the NIAID, part of the NIH, the CDC and the FBI. Each of these agencies represents a significant source
of funding for our TIGER program. To date, we have earned $40.1 million in revenue under our government contracts and grants,
Also, we have approval to invoice our government partners an additional $8.6 million under our existing contracts and grants. We
may receive continued approval to invoice our government partners under these contracts based upon a variety of factors, including
the accomplishment of program objectives and the exercise of additional contract options by the contracting agencies. In addition,
these agencies may terminate these contracts and grants at their convenience at any time, even if we have fully performed our
obligations. Consequently, we may never receive the full amount of the potential value of these awards. Our Ibis division has received
contracts and grants from numerous government agencies valued at up to $63.2 million.

Dpring 2004 and 2003, revenue generated from agencies of the United States Government totaled 28% and 20%,
respectively, of our total revenue. Refer to Note 7, “Segment Information and Concentration of Business Risk,” startmg on page F-30
of this report on Form 10-K for additional information about our Ibis division.

Approved Product and Products In Development

We successfully developed the first antisense drug to reach the market, Vitravene, for CMV retinitis, which is available through
our partner, Novartis Opthalmics AG.

 We have designed our drugs in development to treat a variety of health conditions, including inflammatory, metabolic, and
cardiovascular diseases, and cancer, and we and our partners are studying them in intravenous, subcutaneous, topical cream, enema and
oral formulations. Intravenous and subcutaneous formulations are commonly grouped together and referred to as parenteral forms of
administration. The following table lists our approved product and each of our and our partiers’ products under development, its target
disease indication and development status, as well as our commerc1al rights.

Isis Drugs in Development

Product(l) . o Target . ’ ‘Potential Disease Indication(s)  Development Status(2) Commercial Rights
Vitravene (I} ‘ . CMV CMYV Retinitis Launched in the U.S. Isis/Novartis

) ‘ and Europe (3) Ophthalmics AG(3)
Alicaforsen (ISIS 2302) (E) ICAM-1 Ulcerative Colitis Phase I Isis
ISIS 113715 (P)* PTP-1b Diabetes Phase II- Isis
ISIS 301012 (P)* ; apoB-100 .. High Cholesterol . . . Phasel Isis
ISIS 301012 (O)* . apoB-100 © . High Cholesterol Preclinical Isis

ISIS 345794 (P)* STAT-3 -~ . Cancer . ., Preclinical Isis

Partner Drugs in Development

Product(1) o Target ' Potential Disease Indication(s)  Development Status(2) Commercial Rights

ATL 1102 (ISIS 107248)(P)* VLA-4 Multlple Sclerosns y Phase 1T ATL

0GX-011 (ISIS 112989) (P)* Clusterin " Cancer g ' Phase I/II ' OncoGenex / Isis

ATL 1101 (T)* ‘ IGF-IR , Psoriasis ) Phase [ ATL -

LY2181308 (P) *- - Survivin " Cancer’ : Phase I Lilly

LY2275796 (P) * elF-4E ‘ Cancer . Preclinical ‘ Lilly

* Drugs based on proprietary second-generation chemistry

(D I = Intravitreal; P = Parenteral; T = Topical; O = Oral; E = Enema

(2)* A compound in ‘the preclinical phase of development is one in which we or our partners have made a decision to initiate
" toxicology and pharmacokinetic studies in animals to support the initiation of human clinical studies. - _

3) Novartls Ophthalrrucs AGQG has the exclusive worldw1de nghts to distribute Vitravene, which it distributes on a limited basis.

The following section prov1des more detalled descnptlons of our approved product and those products in clinical development
and the disease indications they target. We also have a significant research program. Our goal for 2005-2006 is to advance at least two
new drug candidates from our cardiovascular, metabolic or 1nﬂammatory disease research programs into development.




G ytomegalovzrus, or CMV Retmttzs r o _
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Ind1v1duals wrth suppressed immune systems such as those ‘with AIDS resulting from the HIV virus, are susceptible to
opportumstlc infections caused by' CMV. Among patients with AIDS, .CMV retinitis is the primary cause of blmdness Currently
approved drugs for CMV ret1n1t1s are ganc1clov1r foscarnet, cidofovir and fomivirsen (Vrtravene)

Vitravene,' or fomivirsen—In August 1998 the FDA app'roved Vitravene to treat CMV retinitis in AIDS patients. Vitravene is
an antisense compound that we discovered and developed. Novartis Ophthalmics AG, the eye health unit of life sciences leader Novartis
AG, ‘and our worldwide dlstrrbutron partner for this drug; launched Vitravene -in November 1998. New anti-HIV drugs, particularly
protease inhibitors and combination treatment regimens, have prolonged ‘survival in HIV-infected individuals. This has resulted in a
decline in mortality from AIDS, accompanied by a decline in the incidence of many opportumstlc mfectlons including CMV retinitis. As
a result, Novartls AG currently offers Vltravene ona hmrted ba51s ; v :
Inﬂammatmy‘Disea‘sés oo T o t

Our research and development efforts in the therapeutic area of inflammatory diseases focus on identifying and developing
antisense inhibitors to protems such as intercellular adhesion molecule 1, or ICAM-1 and another adhesion molecule called CD49d, which
isa subumt of Very Late Antlgen—4 or VLA-4. Researchers believe that these protems are mvolved in inflammatory diseases.
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Ahcaforsen (ISIS 2302—The most advanced compound in our mﬂammatory disease program selectively inhibits [CAM-1- gene
expression. Over‘expressron of ICAM-1:occurs in a wide varrety of inflammatory disorders, including inflammatory bowel disease.
According to the*Crohn's and: Cohtrs Foundation of America, up to oné million péople have inflammatory bowel disease, with diagnoses
evenly split between Crohn's  disease and ulcerative colitis, or UC. According to the European Federation of Crohn's and UC Associations,

mﬂarmnatory bowel drsease affects a smular number of people n Europe !

or

. ,‘Ulcerauve Colrtts——UC is an mﬂammatory drsease of the colon a part of the large intestine. Inflammation and ulceratron of

the mnermost hmng of the colon characterize uC. Symptoms typrcally mclude diarrhea, rectal bleeding and abdorninal pain.

. In December. 2004, we released the results of three Phase II studies. of alicaforsen enema to treat patients with UC in

which. ahcaforsen enema produced srgmﬁcant and long- lastrng disease’ improvement, as measured by changes in Disease

Alctivity Index or DAL, scores and other indicators of disease. In the Phase II studies alicaforsen enema outperformed

-both placebo and the enema standard of care. In particular, a substantial number of patients treated with alicaforsen

_enema experlenced mucosal heahng, as well as decreases in rectal bleeding and in stool frequency, manifestations.of the

dlsease that cause considerable drscomfort inconvenience and pain to patients. In all three trials, alicaforsen enema was

{ well tolerated and, 1mproved signs and symptoms of drsease in ulceratrve colitis patients. In addition, data from a 2003

chmcal trial for an enema formulation of alicaforsen demonstrated an 1mprovement in clinical drsease symptoms of up. to

nine months 1 in patients with pouchitis. Pouchitis is an ulcerative colitis-like 1nﬂammatron of the surgically constructed

o mternal pouch created in ulcerative colitis patients when their drseased colons are removed. We plan to find a strong
commerc1a1 partner for alicaforsen enerma, while planmng a‘Phase III program for the drug.

Our goa]s for'2005 2006 for alicaforsen enema forulcerative colitis are to:
o‘ | meet with the FDA to discuss Phase IIT development plans for the drug; and-

o 1dent1fy a marketmg partner with late-stage’ development and: commerc1a1 expertise, and work with that partner to
develop and implement a sucgessful Phase III development program

o ' Crohn's disease-—Crohn's disease is a serious inflammatory disease that affects the entire digestive tract, unlike UC which
affects only. thelcolon A patient with Crohni's disease suffers chromc and often severe episodes of diarrhea, abdominal pain,
rectal bleeding and fever. In December 2004, we reported the results .of our Phase III clinical trials of alicaforsen in

o patrents with Crohn s disease. In these trials alicaforsen did not demonstrate statistically significant induction of clinical
remission compared to placebo. As a result of these data, we will not invest further in the development of alicaforsen
for Crohn‘s dlsease !

ATL 1 1 02———ATL 1102, fonnerly called ISIS 107248 is a second- generatlon antisense inhibitor of CD49d, which is a subunit of
Very Late Antlgen—4 or VLA 4. Studies in animal models have demonstrated that inhibition of VLA-4 has a positive effect on a number
of inflammatpry - dlseases including multiple scler081s In December 2001, we hcensed ATL 1102 to ATL. Under our agreement with
ATL, we completed the ‘required preclinical studies for ATL 1102,and manufactured the drug for human clinical trials at ATL's expense.
ATL is responsrble for the chmcal deve]opment and the commerc1ahzat10n of the drug In June 2004, ATL announced the results of a

“7,




Phase I clinical trial of ATL 1102, in which the drug was well-tolerated. In December 2004, ATL initiated a Phase Ila clinical trial of
ATL 1102 in patients with multiple sclerosis. In March 2005, ATL announced that, although it and the trial investigators are confident
that the current ATL 1102 Phase II trial is safe, in light of the recently announced safety issues associated with one other VLA-4 inhibitor
that works through a different mechanism, ATL decided to halt the current trial and convene an advisory group to consider the potential
development path for ATL 1102 which may include restarting a Phase II trial program in muitiple sclerosis and exploring ATL 1102 as an
inhaled asthma treatment. We plan to support ATL’s development efforts to determine the potential of ATL 1102 as an effective treatment
for multiple sclerosis and asthma. . «

ATL 110I—ATL 1101 is an antisense compound targeting Insulin-like Growth Factor-I Receptor, or IGF-1R. Researchers
believe that IGF-1R plays a pivotal role in the regulation of cell growth in psoriasis. Their research has demonstrated that antisense
molecules delivered by intra-dermal injection successfully inhibit production of IGF-1R and normalize the skin architecture in human
psoriasis skin samples grafted onto mice. We plan to support ATL’s program to explore the activity of ATL 1101 in patients with
psoriasis, which includes completing the ongoing study ATL is conducting. According to the National Psoriasis Foundation, more than
4.5 million people in the United States have psoriasis, which is a non-contagious disorder of the skin. Abnormal growth.or overproduction
of skin cells characterizes psoriasis.

Metabolic Diseases

'

We are pursuing the discovery and development of antisense drugs for metabolic diseases such as diabetes and obesity. These
chronic diseases affect millions of people and there continues to be a significant need for new: therapies for these patients. We believe that
our second-generation antisense drugs will have properties that will make them attractive therapies for metabolic diseases. According to
the American Diabetes Association, diabetes affects more than 18 million people, with type 2 diabetes constituting about 90 percent of
those cases.

ISIS 113715—ISIS 113715 is our second-generation antisense inhibitor of the PTP-1b gene for the treatment of type 2 diabetes.
An antisense inhibitor of PTP-1b represents a new approach to the treatment of diabetes. For years, pharmaceutical companies interested
in treating diabetes have actively pursued phosphatases, such as PTP-1b, as targets in their traditional small molecule drug discovery
efforts. However, due to structural similarities among closely related phosphatases it is often difficult to identify small molecule drugs
with sufficient spemﬁcny to be safe. Ant1sense allows us to design very specific inhibitors to' PTP-1b that do not inhibit other
phosphatases

~ InMay 2003, we initiated a Phase I clinical trial to assess the safety and pharmacokinetic profile of several doses of ISIS 113715
by parenteral administration in 20 healthy volunteers. In September 2003, we reported the results from this Phase I study, in which ISIS
113715 increased insulin sensitivity in normal volunteers. Further, subjects treated with ISIS 113715 did not experience
hypoglycemia or excessively low blood sugar, which is an adverse effect observed with many currently available treatments for type 2
diabetes. Based on the results of this Phase I study, we initiated a Phase II cl1n1cal trial to further evaluate the drug's abﬂlty to regulate
blood sugar levels in patients with type 2 diabetes.

Our goals for 2005-2006 for our ISIS 1 13715 cl1n1cal development program for type 2 diabetes are to

» demonstrate safety of the drug as a single agent in patients with type 2 diabetes to support longer-term dosing;

define the optimal dose and schedule to support future clinica] trials;

advance [SIS 113715 into additional clinical trials to evaluate longer-term dosing; and
o explore the drug in patients who are taking oral anti-diabetic therapies.
- Our development plans for 2005-2006 to meet these goals are to:
. report the results from our ongomg Phase II single agent trial in patients with type 2 dlabetes
) report the results following 12 weeks of dosing.from a single agent trial in patients w1th type 2 diabetes; and

e - 'initiate dosing in patients with type 2 diabetes who are also taking oral anti-diabetic therapy.

Cardiovascular Diseases

We are pursuing the discovery and development: of antisense drugs for cardiovascular diseases such as high cholesterol.
According to the American Heart Association, cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of death in the United States. Researchers have
shown a strong correlation between high cholesterol levels and subsequent cardiovascular diseases. Statistics from the Amencan Heart
Association show more than 100 million American adults have high cholesterol levels. :
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18IS 301 012—I151S301012is a second-generatron compound that targets. apoB 100, a molecule that has been of great interest to
the industry, yet has long been considered "undruggable" by traditional small molecule approaches. ApoB-100 is a protein that plays a
pivotal role.in the production, of low-density lipoprotein, or LDL, the "bad" cholesterol. In preclinical studies, ISIS 301012 reduced total
cholesterol, very low—density lipoproteins, or VLDL, LDL, and triglyceride levels, all of which are keys to managing heart disease. We
initiated a Phase I study in late 2003 in volunteers with borderline elevated cholesterol. The goal of this initial study was to measure the
safety and pharmacokmetrc profile of ISIS 301012, and its ability to reduce several components of cholesterol. In 2004, we announced
preliminary data from this trial, which demonstrated ISIS 301012 produced dose-dependent, rapid and prolonged reductions of its target,
apoB-100, in LDL, in VLDL, and in total cholesterol levels in- volunteers -with borderline elevated cholesterol. We have also
demonstrated that an oral formulatlon of ISIS 301012 reduces cholesterol in animals.

b

For 2005- 2006 our: goals for ISIS 301012 cl1n1cal development programs for lowermg hlgh cholesterol, both the subcutaneous

injection and oral formulations, are to:

o - understand the optimal dose and schedule for the-drug as a single agent;

. ‘ prepare to initiate combination studies with atorvastatin, and other drugs;

" e define the oral bioavailability of ISIS 301012 and demonstrate reduct1on of its target, apoB-100, and cholesterol
reductron in man;

: o advance lSIS 301012 into additional clinical trials to evaluate longer-term dosing; and
. explore other indications, such as apheresis, that may offer shortened routes to commercialization.

Our development plans for 2005- 2006 to meet these goals are to:

e report ﬁnal results from our ongoing Phase 1 single: agent study in normal volunteers with borderline elevated
‘ cholesterol atan approprlate scientific meeting; - !

. 1nrt1ate a Phase II trial to evaluate dose and dose schedule in patients with high cholesterol;
e initiatea pharmacokintetic study to evaluate the addition of ISIS 301012 to statin therapy;
e initiate a Phase 2 study in patients with high cholesterol who are also taking statins; and

. ‘e . initiate a PhaseI trial of the oral formulation of ISIS 301012 in volunteers with normal cholesterol levels.
Cancer g i : ; O ‘

v . . .
We, together with our partners, are pursuing the development of antisense drugs for the treatment of a variety of cancers. In
clinical trials, 'we and our partners have observed evidence of activity of our anti-cancer drugs. In addition, patients tolerated our
compounds well, with none of the serious side effects, such as bone marrow or immune system suppression, gastrointestinal distress or
hair loss, assocrated with standard cancer chemotherapres ’ ‘

0GX—011—OGX—Oll formerly called ISIS. 112989 is a second-generation antisense inhibitor of clusterin, which we are co-
developing and commercrahzmg with OncoGenex, a Canadian oncology-focused research and development company. We have designed
OGX-011 to inhibit the secretory protein clusterin, which acts as a cell-survival protein that is over-expressed in response to tumor killing
strategies, like chemotherapy, hormone ablation and radiation therapy. Based on analysis of human tumor tissue, clusterin is over-
expressed in several cancers, including prostate, breast, renal, bladder, non-small cell lung and ovarian. By inhibiting clusterin, clinicians
may be able to enhance the effects of drug therapies in the treatment of these cancers.

In agPhase I tnal evaluatmg 0GX-011 in combination with hormone ablatron therapy prior to wsurgical removal of the prostate,
OGX-011 was well-tolérated, achieved excellent drug concentration in its target tissue, the prostate, and produced up to a 91 percent
dose- dependent réduction of its target, clusterin. In preclinical animal studies, scientists from both OncoGenex and Isis, in collaboration
with the Prostate Center at Vancouver General Hospital, demonstrated that OGX-011 improved the potency of traditional chemotherapies
more than ten- fold in prostate cancer, without compromising safety. These studies also demonstrated that OGX-011, when combined with
other cancer treatments in' prechmcal model systems, may significantly improve tumor reduction and-delay disease progression in
prostate, lung, bladder and renal cancer. These findings support the continued development of OGX-011 in combination with standard
chemotherapy and other agents.. We plan to support OncoGenex s expans1on of OGX-011 development into additional cancer
therapeutic areas through the completion of this second Phase I ‘trial evaluatrng 0GX-011 in combination with TAXOTERE in solid
tumors, and with the initiation of Phase II clinical trials in patients with lung, breast and prostate cancers in 2005.
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LY2181308—We licensed our preclinical anti-cancer candidate, LY2181308, formerly ISIS 23722, to Liily in 2002, as part of
the expansion of our Lilly antisense drug discovery research collaboration into cancer for which we earned $1.1 million. Under the two-
year agreement, we and Lilly collaborated to discover antisense drugs to inhibit specific gene targets associated with cancer. The cancer
collaboration built on the broad, strategic alliance the companies forged in August 2001, to among other things, discover antisense drugs
in the areas of inflammatory and metabolic diseases. The compound targets survivin, which plays a role in cancer cell death, or apoptosis.
Survivin is one of the most highly overexpressed proteins in cancers. Our researchers and collaborators have shown that inhibiting
expression of survivin by LY2181308 inhibits the growth of cancer cells. Since normal cells in the body do not express survivin, we
expect that this drug will have fewer side effects than traditional chemotherapy.

In 2003, we eamned a $1.5 million milestone from Lilly in the development of LY2181308. LY2181308 is the first compound
from this partnership to advance to clinical trials. In November 2004, Lilly initiated Phase I clinical trials of LY218308 in cancer patients,
for which we earned a second $1.5 million milestone.

LY2275796—1.Y2275796 is the second anti-cancer drug candidate we have licensed to Lilly and is currently in preclinical
studies. During 2004, we earned a $750,000 license fee for this second-generation antisense drug which targets eukaryotic initiation
factor-4E, or elF-4E, a protein involved in tumor progression, angiogenesis and metastases, including breast, head and neck, prostate,
lung, bladder, colon, thyroid and non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. Based on scientific literature, there is a strong indication that eIF-4E
may act as a critical "switch" in cancer progression.

During 2005 - 2006, we plan to support Lilly’s ongoing anti-cancer antisense research and development programs through the
progression of the above Phase I trial of LY2181308 in patients with cancer and the continued preclinical development of LY2275796 for
cancer. Further, we plan to support Lilly’s oncology franchise by providing new antisense drug candidates for licensing consideration by
Lilly.

ISIS 345794—ISIS 345794 is the latest compound to emerge from our cancer research program and is in preclinical
development for cancer. Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3, or STAT-3 is a protein that regulates cell division and
growth and prevents cell death. In preclinical studies, we have demonstrated that antisense inhibition of STAT-3 significantly delayed
tumor growth and increased the rate of cancer cell death in multiple cell and animal models of cancer. Based on these findings, we
selected ISIS 345794 for clinical development.

Recently Discontinued Products

ISIS 104838 produced positive disease responses in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, according to results of two Phase II
studies. While we are encouraged by the performance of this drug, in light of the strong competition in this market and the significant
investment required to bring the first oral anti-TNF product to market, we elected to discontinue development of this drug. In
addition, we have discontinued development of ISIS 14803, a first-generation drug for the treatment of hepatitis C.

In October 2004, we reported the results of a second Phase III clinical trial of Affinitak in combination with Gemzar and
cisplatin in patients with non small cell lung cancer, or NSCLC. Findings from this trial, which was sponsored by Lilly, were similar to
the results of the initial Isis-sponsored Phase III study of Affinitak for NSCLC, in which Affinitak failed to demonstrate improved
survival sufficient enough to support an NDA filing. As a result of these trials, we will not invest further in the development of Affinitak.

Research Programs

We combine our core technology programs in medicinal chemistry, RNA biochemistry, and molecular and cellular biology with
molecular target-focused drug discovery efforts to design drug candidates. The goal of our target-based research programs is to identify
antisense and small molecule drug candidates to treat diseases for which there are substantial markets and for which there is a need for
better drugs. In addition, our research programs focus on identifying next-generation compounds to serve as backup compounds to our
current products in development and to our development candidates.

Our core technology programs can support multiple target-based antisense research programs without significantly increasing
costs. Through these programs, we can efficiently explore numerous disease targets and identify lead compounds to advance into
preclinical development. We are currently pursuing antisense drug discovery programs focused on various cardiovascular, metabolic and
inflammatory disease targets, and cancer. o

We are pursuing three early-stage antisense meéhanisms, including RNA interference, or RNAi, micro-RNA, and alternative
splicing, through research collaborations and partnerships like those we have with Ercole and Alnylam.
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RNAI is an antisense mechanism that involves using a small interfering RNA, or siRNA, as a method to target an mRNA
sequence. With siRNA, the cell recruits a protein group called RISC to prevent the production of a disease-causing protein. We have a
strong intellectual. property. position in RNAi methodology andare pursuing: opportunmes to license .these patents to companies
specializing in RNA mterference as atherapeutic method.

Micro-RNAs are an emerging class of drug targets and a new area“ for drug dlscovery Micro- RNAs are small RNA molecules
that appear to have critical functions in controlling the process of gene expression. Micro-RNAs can serve as drug targets or as drugs
themselves. Researchers est1mate that there are approxrmately 250-300 known micro- RNA molecules in humans »

Modulation of altematwe sphcmg seeks to control the process by which a.single gene can lead to. several proteins. To be
converted into proteins, genes must ‘be initially copied into. a-pre-mRNA. Pre-mRNA., often contains extra sequence information that must
be removed prior to translation into the protein. This process is called splicing. Using antisense technology, we have been able to control
how these stretches of RNA are spliced back together. This provides another way to control the production of a disease causing protein.

"Prior to the: development of TIGER, our Ibis division focused on'discovering novel small molecule antibacterial drugs. We
expect to allocate limited resources to advance:this technology once we complete our. work under the USAMRIID contract in the first
quarter of 2005. Our goal is to secure a partner for this program S : ‘
Collaborative Arr“ang'ement's and Licensing Agreeme.nts v ‘

Our. strategy is.to use alllances with other companies and equity-based financing to.increase our financial resources, reduce risk,
and retain an appropnate level of ownership of products.currently in development. Through alliances with major pharmaceutical

companies and b1otechnology compames we can obtain fundlng, expand exrstmg programs and gam additional expert1se in developing
and marketing products

Antisense technology allows us to repeatedly produce more drug candidates than we can afford to develop on our own. As a
result, we have éxtended our licensing partnerships to include our satellite company strategy in which we provide our expertise and
intellectual property position in RNA-based therapeutics to industry partners that are interested in developing RNA-based
therapeutics. Because these companies work closely together with us, with the common goals of advancing the technology and/or
pipeline, we sometimes refer to these companies as satellite companies. These partnershlps allow us to benefit from our partners’
expertise and highly focused research efforts, while our partners-benefit-from our experience in RNA-based drug discovery and
development and access to our intellectual property. In return for prov1dmg compames with access to our technology, we receive an
ownership interest in the resultmg products and/or in the’ compames ‘Through these relat1onsh1ps we are expanding the reach and
potential of antisense therapeutlcs and participating in the success of multiple companies and products. This provides us with the
opportunity to create a muchsbroader antisense pipeline than we could afford to develop on our own, while minimizing our financial
obligations. We have implemented this integral component of our ‘strategy. through our partnerships with Alnylam, ATL, Ercole,
OncoGenex, Santarls and Sarlssa l
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2004 and Recent Collaborqtzon and Ltcensmg Hzghlzghts ‘

We are focused on estabhshmg new partnersh1ps and on advancmg and bulldmg upon existing relationships. We currently have
agreements with more than a dozen partners. These span the three key areas of our business: antisense drug discovery and development,
our Ibis. division, and:our mtellectual property estate. The following, is a list of our collaboration and licensing highlights for 2004 and
early 2005. .- R P 3 ‘

We forrned a strateg1c all1ance with Alnylam to accelerate the development and commerc1ahzatlon of RNAx therapeutics. We
earned a; $5. Otnnlhon technology -access fee.: and a $500,000 payment from: our participation in Alnylam’s partnering
program ‘ . B T 1t g LT

s We recelved a two year contract provrdmg up to $19.5 mllhon from DARPA through a contract w1th SAIC to further the
‘ development of our TIGER system to 1dent1fy mfectrous agents in blologlcal warfare attacks

o  We were gTanted three new government contracts valued at up to $10 0 million for the continued development of our TIGER

technology;: : ~
| rx ; E - e

We earried $4.0 million in milestone payments from Eyetech assoc1ated with their filing of an NDA for Macugen and receipt
of marketing clearance for the drug, and sold a portion of our royalty rights in Macugen to DRC in exchange for aggregate
payments of $24.0 million over the next three years; -
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e  We earned a $1.5 million Phase I clinical milestone from Lilly for LY2181308, an inhibitor of survivin;

¢  We earned a $750,000 payment from Lilly for the license of LY2275796, a cancer drug that targets eIF-4E;

e We extended our anti-cancer antisense drug discovery collaboration with Lilly. This oncology relationship builds on a
broad, ongoing strategic alliance previously established by Isis and Lilly to discover antisense drugs in the areas of
inflammatory and metabolic diseases;

e We jointly developed a new high performance solid support for the manufacture of oligonucleotides with Nitto Denko
Corporation of Osaka, Japan. Solid support is the base structure used in the synthesis of oligonucleotides, both antisense,
including RNA and DNA-based and RNAI, and aptamer drugs and represents a substantial portion of the cost to manufacture
these drugs. The new solid support has the potential to decrease manufacturing costs of oligonucleotide-based drugs,
including antisense; .

¢ We acquired Elan Corporation plc’s minority interest in Orasense and HepaSense, joint ventures arising out of prior
collaborations between Isis and Elan, and eliminated all future royalties to Elan related to the oral delivery platform
developed within the Orasense collaboration and to ISIS 14803;

o We expanded our strong intellectual property position in RNA-based drug discovery by licensing core intellectual property
regarding all therapeutic uses of miRNA from the Max Planck Society;

e We licensed an anti-cancer antisense drug to Sarissa, Inc., in exchange for a $1.0 million represented by a debt instrument
which will convert into Sarissa stock upon Sarissa’s successful completion of a venture capital financing; and

e  We broadened our antisense drug development partnership with Oncogenex to allow for the development of two additional
second-generation antisense anti-cancer drug candidates.

Eli Lilly and Company

In August 2001, we entered into a broad strategic relationship with Lilly, including four key components:
e Lilly purchased $75.0 million of our common stock 4t $18 per share.
o We licensed to Lilly rights to Affinitak, which Lilly has decided to discontinue funding.

e We initiated with Lilly a four-year antisense drug discovery collaboration. in the areas of metabolic and inflammatory diseases
and a related gene functionalization and target validation collaboration to determine the function of up to 1,000 genes. Key
achievements and developments under this collaboration include:

* In 2002, Lilly and we expanded our antisense drug discovery collaboration to include oncology and the license of
LY2181308, our antisense inhibitor of survivin for which we earned a $1.1 million license fee. Under the two-year
agreement, we and Lilly collaborated to discover antisense drugs to inhibit specific gene targets associated with cancer. The
expanded collaboration focused initially on several antisense prechmcal compounds, including LY2181308, directed at
cellular regulators of cancer cell death, or apoptosis.

« In April 2003, we earned a $1.5 million milestone from Lilly in the development of LY2181308, the antisense inhibitor of
survivin, as part of the research collaboration oncology expansion. LY2181308 is the first compound from the partnership
selected by Lilly for clinical development. In November 2004, Lilly initiated Phase I clinical trials of LY218308 in cancer
patients, marking a significant milestone in the partnership and triggering a $1.5 million milestone payment from Lilly to us.
Our collaboration with Lilly also may generate additional milestone payments aggregating up to $25.0 million based on
LY2181308 achieving specified regulatory and commercial milestones.

» In July 2003, we expanded the cancer research component of our antisense drug discovery collaboration with Lilly to
include multiple antisense mechanisms, such as RNAi and alternative splicing, as well as third generation antisense
chemistries. We are currently jointly developing follow-on drugs to LY2181308 that work through an RNAi mechanism
and that use proprietary Isis chemistries.

s In May 2004, Lilly and we announced the extension of our antisense drug discovery collaboration in cancer. During this
extension, Isis and Lilly will continue to characterize and develop RNase H, siRNA, and splicing modulating inhibitors
for the treatment of cancer using advanced generation chemistries. An important component of this extension will be the
exploration of potential new anti-cancer drug targets using RNA-directed technologies.
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* In September 2004, Lilly licensed-from us LY2275796. This second-generation antisense anti-cancer drug candidate
targets elF-4E. We eamed a $750,000 payment from Lilly for the license. LY2275796 is the second compound from the
parmership to be selected by Lilly for clinical development. Our collaboration with Lilly also may generate additional

milestone payments aggregatmg up to $20.3 mtlhon based on LY2275796 achtevmg specified regulatory and
commermal m11estones

e  Lilly committed to lend us, interest-free, up to $100 0 rmlhon over a four-year period to fund our obligations under the research
collaboration. This loan comes due in August 2005. We can | repay this loan at our option in either cash or our common stock, at a
fixed conversion pnce of $40 per share.

To date, L111y has pald or cormmtted to pay us $292 9 million in fundmg through 2005, including the $100.0 million loan, the
$75.0 million equity investmenit, the $25.0 million in Affinitak up-front license fees, reimbursement for Affinitak development costs and
research collaboration license: fees and milestones. Of this $292.9 million we had collected $287.9 million as of December 31, 2004.
Assuming the success of multiple products from our collaboration with Lilly, we have the opportunity to earn additional future milestones
and royaltiés from Lilly that could be substantial to us.

As part of our relatlenship with Lilly, in 2003, We upgraded and expanded our manufacturing facﬂity, including the addition of a
new state-of-the-art manufagturing suite. Lilly provided ys with $21. 2 million in fundmg to build the new suite. We can use this facility to
manufacture drugs for ourselves and our partners..

'

Our relationship: w1th Lilly has historically provided several revenue'sources, including research funding re]ated to their
$100.0 million research 1Qan to us, development milestones similar to the milestones for LY2181308 and LY2275796, and revenue
related to Affinitak. During. 2004, 2003 and 2002, we generated revenue from our relationship with Lilly totaling $15.7 million,
$30.9 million and $45.4 million, respectively, which comprised 37%, 62%, and 57%, respectively, of our total revenue during those same
periods. Our current collaboratton with Lilly expires ‘in August 2005. Consequently, we anticipate ‘our revenue from Lilly will
decrease in 2005. ‘ :

[ P o
: h . . o

Antisense Drug Diséoﬁery Collaborations
Singapore Economic Development Board

In November 2003, ‘we received a grant of up to $8.0'million over three years from the Singapore Economic Development
Board, or EDB; which was' intended to fund, in part, the broadening of two of our RNA-based drug discovery and development programs:
micro-RNA drug dlscovery and antisense drug discovery targeting the coronavirus associated with' SARS. In connection with this grant,
we established Isis Pharmaceuticals:Singapore Pte Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Isis Pharmaceuttcals Inc. As part of our strategic
decision to reorgamze and’ refocus our resources to-advance our most promising-second-generation drugs and to continue the
development of antisense technology, we decided to close our research and development laboratory in Singapore during the first quarter
of 2005 and terminaté our agreement with the EDB. To date, we have received $1.5 million in cash payments under our EDB grant and
do not anticipate receiving any additional payments under the grant.

Industrlal and T echnology Research Institutes of Tazwan

In June 2003, we 1n1t1ated a collaboration with ITRI to identify antisense candidates targeting the coronavirus associated with
SARS. We conducted the research in exchange for an upfront payment of $1.0 million, milestone payments, and the potential for future
funding. In Decemberi2003, we achieved two milestones in our antisense drug discovery partnership with ITRI, for which we received a
total of $1.0 million. The milestones related to the identification of second-generation antisense drugs that inhibit SARS virus replication
and the successful completton of preclinical studies evaluating aerosol and parenteral delivery of antisense drugs as specified under the
agreement. This collaboration has ended in accordance with its terms.

Amgen 0 - ‘

In December 200‘1, we entered into a three—year collaboratlon with Amgen to discover new antisense drugs. In December 2004,
this collaboration w1th Amgen ended in accordance with its terms, e
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Satellite Company Collaborations
Sarissa, Inc.

In February 2005, we licensed an anti-cancer antisense drug to Sarissa, Inc., a biotechnology company emerging from the
University of Western Ontario. The drug is an antisense inhibitor of thymidylate synthase, or TS, a well-known drug target that
protects cancer cells from the effects of several chemotherapy treatments. In preclinical studies, antisense inhibition of TS suppressed
human tumor cell growth and overcame tumor cell resistance to marketed TS-targeted drugs.

Under the terms of the agreement, Sarissa paid us a $1.0 million upfront fee in exchange for the exclusive, worldwide license
to the TS antisense drug. Sarissa paid the upfront fee with a debt instrument, which will convert into Sarissa stock upon Sarissa’s
successful completion of a.venture capital financing. Sarissa will also pay us milestone payments totaling up to $5.5 million for key
clinical and regulatory achievements and royalties on any product sales. Sarissa will be solely responsible for preclinical and clinical
development of the drug. \

Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

In March 2004, we entered into a strategic alliance with Alnylam to develop and commercialize RNAi therapeutics. Under the
terms of the agreement, we exclusively licensed to Alnylam our patent estate relating to antisense motifs and mechanisms and
oligonucleotide chemistry for double-stranded RNAI therapeutics in exchange for a $5.0 million technology access fee, participation in
fees for Alnylam's partnering programs, as well as future milestone and royalty payments from Alnylam. For each of these drugs, the
potential milestone payments total $3.4 million and are payable upon the occurrence of specified development and regulatory events. We
retained rights to a limited number of RINAI therapeutic targets and all rights to single-stranded RNAI therapeutics. In addition, Alnylam
and we will share the proceeds of any licenses Alnylam grants under its previously announced InterfeRx program that include sublicenses
to our patents. We agreed to provide Alnylam with access to our resources for development and commercialization of RNAI therapeutics,
including process development, bioanalytic methods, quality control and manufacturing. We also made a $10.0 million equity investment
in Alnylam. ‘

In turn, Alnylam nonexclusively licensed us its patent estate relating to antisense motifs and mechanisms and oligonucleotide
chemistry to research, develop and commercialize single-stranded RINAI therapeutics and to research double-stranded RNAIL compounds.
We also received a license to develop and commercialize double-stranded RNAi drugs targeting a limited number of therapeutic targets
on either an exclusive or co-exclusive basis depending on the target. If we develop or.commercialize an RNAi-based drug using
Alnylam's technology, we will pay Alnylam milestones and royalties. For each of these drugs, the potential milestone payments total $3.4
million and are payable upon the occurrence of specified development and regulatory events. As of December 31, 2004, we did not have
an RNAi-based drug in clinical development. As part of the collaboration, each party granted the other party a nonexclusive cross license
to its respective patent estate relating to antisense motifs and mechanisms and oligonucleotide chemistry for microRNA therapeutics.

Our Alnylam alliance provides us with an opportunity to realize substantial value from our pioneering work in antisense
mechanisms and oligonucleotide chemistry and is an example of our strategy to participate in all areas of RNA-based drug discovery.
For example, in the second quarter of 2004, we earned a $500,000 license fee from Alnylam related to Alnylam’s alliance with Merck.

In September 2004, we recorded a non-cash loss on investment of $5.0 million related to the impairment of our equity
investment in Alnylam. The loss on investment reflected a decrease in the market value of Alnylam’s stock in 2004, which Isis believes
was primarily a result of financial market conditions related to biotechnology companies. ‘

In October 2004, we and Alnylam expanded our strong intellectual property positions in RNA-based drug discovery by
licensing core intellectual property regarding all therapeutic uses of microRNA from the Max Planck Society.

During 2004, we generated revenue from our relationship with Alnylam totaling $5.5 million, or 13%, of our total revenue.

Ercole Biotech, Inc.

In May 2003, we and Ercole initiated a multi-year collaboration to discover antisense drugs that regulate alternative RNA
splicing. As part of the collaboration, we cross-licensed our respective splicing-related intellectual property. We are combining our
alternative splicing expertise with Ercole to discover antisense drugs that regulate alternative RNA splicing. As part of this collaboration,
we granted Ercole a license to our Bel-x molecule and certain of our chemistry patents. In addition, we took an equity ownership position
in Ercole, with the initial funding in the form of convertible debt, which the companies anticipate will convert into securities that Ercole
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issues in its next venture capital financing. We also have the option to make an additional equity investment in Ercole. Pursuant to the
terms of a Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement during 2003 and early 2004, we made cash payments to Ercole of $500,000 and
$250,000, respectively, in exchange for a convertible promissory:note. We expensed the payments when made. The Note is secured
by all of Ercole’s asséts, including intellectual property: and hcenses The Note will convert: into securities that Ercole issues in a
qualified financing, as defined by the agreement. ‘ :

Antisense T herapeutics Limited

In December 2001, we licensed ATL 1102, formerly ISIS 107248, to- ATL, an Australian company publicly traded on the
Australian Stock EAchange We were responsiblé for completing the required preclinical studies for ATL 1102 and for manufacturing the
drug for human clinical trials at ATL's expense. ATL agreed to undertake the' future.clinical development and commercialization of the
drug. In June 2004, ATL announced the results of a Phase I clinical trial of ATL 1102, in which ATL 1102 was well-tolerated. In
December 2004, ATL initiated a Phase Ila clinical trial of ATL 1102 in patients with multiple sclerosis. In March 2005, ATL announced
that, although it and the trial investigators are confident that the current ATL 1102 Phase 11 trial is safe, in light of the recently announced
safety issues associated with one other VLA-4 inhibitor that works through a different mechanism, ATL decided to halt the current trial
and convene an advisory group to consider the potential development path for ATL 1102, which may include restarting a Phase II trial
program for multlple scleros1s and explormg ATL 1102 as an inhaled asthma treatment

ATL is also developmg ATL 1101, an antisense compound targetmg IGF IR for the treatment of psoriasis. ATL recently
initiated a Phase | study in patlents w1th psor1asrs . ‘

In addmon, we are. pamcrpanng with ATL in a five-year antisense drug discovery and development collaboration. ATL pays us
for access to our antisense expertise and for research and manufacturing services we may provide them during the collaboration.
Additionally, ATL is obllgated to pay us royalties on any antisense drugs discovered and developed within the partnership. We currently
own approximately 11% of ATL's equity and hold options for additional shares. If all of ATL's outstanding options, including ours, were
exercised, our ownership in ATL would be approxrmately 14%.

. OncoGenex T echnologzes [nc.
\ v

In November 2001; 'we established a drug development collaboration with OncoGenex Technologies Inc., a Canadian
oncology-focused research and development company, to co-develop and commercialize OGX- 011, formerly ISIS 112989, an anti-cancer
antisense drug ‘candidate.'We share-in the costs. of developing OGX-011. In exchange, we share in any revenue generated by OncoGenex
for OGX-011.OGX-011 combines OncoGenex's proprietary antisense position in inhibitors to the target clusterin, with our proprietary
second-generation antisense chemistry. We conducted preclinical toxicology and pharmacokinetic studies of OGX-011 during 2002, We
also manufactured OGX-011 for preclinical and Phase /I studies..OncoGenex has responsibility to perform Phase I clinical trials to
assess the safety of dGX—Ol'l in combination with hormone ablation therapy in men with localized prostate cancer and to perform Phase
11 clinical trials in comb1nat1on with standard chemotherapy in patients with solid tumors known to express clusterin, including non-
small cell lung, prostate breast renal, and ovarian cancers. In a Phase I trial evaluating OGX-011 in combination with hormone ablation
therapy prior to surgmal removal of the prostate, OGX-011 was well-tolerated, achieved excellent drug concentration in its target tissue,
the prostate, and produced up to a 91 percent dose-dependent reduction of its target, clusterin. In April 2003, OncoGenex and we initiated
a second Phase /11 trial to evaliate OGX-011 in combination with TAXOTERE in various solid tumors. OGX-011 was our first second-
generation antlsense anti-cancer drug in clinical trials. We plan to support OncoGenex’s expansion of OGX-011 development into
additional cancer therapeutlc areas. through the completion of this second Phase I trial evaluating OGX-011 in combination with
TAXOTERE in solid tumors,tand with the initiation of Phase Il clinical trials in patients with- 1ung, breast and prostate cancers.

In September 2003 we and OncoGenex expanded our antisense drug development partnershrp to include the deve]opment of the
second-generation- antisense: anti-cancer drug candidate, OGX-225. OncoGenex has responsibility for the preclinical and clinical
development of the drug, OncoGenex issued us OncoGenex securities as payment for an upfront fee. In addition, OncoGenex agreed to
provide to us milestone payments totaling up to $3.5 million for key clinical and regulatory achievements and to pay us royalties on
product sales.; As of December 31, 2004, OncoGenex had not triggered any of these milestone payments related to OGX-225.

i
t

In January 2005; we broadened our antisense drug development partnershlp with OncoGenex to allow for the deve]opment
of two additional se"cond‘-‘generation antisense anti-cancer drug candidates. Under the terms of the agreement, OncoGenex will be
responsible for the preclinieal and clinical development of the drug. OncoGenex agreed to pay us an upfront fee, milestone payments
for key clinical and regulatory achievements, and royalties on future product sales.

As of ‘December 3 1, 2004, our ownership interest in OncoGenex was less than 10%.
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Santaris Pharma A/S (formerly Pantheco A/S)

In November 1998 and September 2000, we entered into license agreements with Santaris, formerly Pantheco. We amended the
agreements in May 2003. Under the terms of the amended and restated license agreement, we licensed our novel antisense chemistry,
Peptide Nucleic Acid, or PNA, to Santaris on a limited exclusive basis to develop products. The license restricts Santaris to a limited
number of molecular targets that are subject to our approval. Santaris has agreed to pay us royalties on any products developed under the
license. ‘

As part of our original license agreements with Pantheco, we received shares of Pantheco common stock. In May 2003, Pantheco
and Cureon A/S merged to form Santaris. Prior to the merger, we purchased additional shares of Pantheco for $55,000 as a result of
antidilution provisions related to Pantheco's stock. After the merger and as of December 31, 2004, our ownership interest in Santaris was

less than 10%.
Antisense C ommercializatiqn

Novartis Ophthalmics AG

In 1997, we entered into an agreement with Novartis Ophthalmics AG, formerly CIBA Vision Corporation, granting them
exclusive worldwide distribution rights for Vitravene, an antisense compound that we discovered and developed. The terms of the
agreement provided for us to receive $20.0 million in pre-commercial fees and milestones. As of December 31, 2001, we had received the
full $20.0 million of these pre-commercial fees and milestones. In August 1998, the FDA approved Vitravene to treat CMV retinitis in
AIDS patients. Novartis Opthalmics AG-launched Vitravene in November 1998. Due to the low incidence of CMV retinitis among
patients with AIDS, Novartis AG currently offers Vitravene on a limited basis.

Ibis Collaborations

To develop the TIGER technology and applications, our Ibis division has received contracts from a number of government
agencies, including DARPA, the NIAID, part of the NIH, the CDC and the FBI. Each of these agencies represents a significant source
of funding for our TIGER program. To date, we have earned $40.1 million in revenue under our government contracts and grants.
Also, we have approval to'invoice our government partners an additional $8.6 million under our existing contracts and grants. We
may receive continued approval to invoice our government partners under these contracts based upon a variety of factors, including
the accomplishment of program objectives and the exercise of additional contract options by the contracting agencies. In addition,
these agencies may terminate these contracts and grants at their convenience at any time, even if we have fully performed our
obligations. Consequently, we may never receive the full amount of the potential value of these awards. Our Ibis division has received
contracts and grants from numerous government agencies valued at up to $63.2 million.

In 2004, we received three new government contracts valued at up to $10.0 million for the continued development of our
TIGER system. A key highlight of these new contracts was funding from the NIAID to develop a TIGER application aimed at
ensuring vaccine safety. Currently, there are few tests available that can specifically address safety issues unique to cell substrates
used in vaccine manufacturing, such as the identification of unknown or novel microbes that have the potential to contaminate vaccine
cell lines and substrates. Successful development of an application to simultaneously identify a broad array of infectious agents in
vaccine cell substrates would create a new commercial prospect for our TIGER system.

We receive funding from DARPA through a subcontract with SAIC, on a multi-year project for the ongoing development of
TIGER. This project combines our expertise in microbial genome sequence analysis and advanced mass spectrometry technology with
SAIC's advanced signal processing capabilities. In March 2004, we entered into a two-year contract with SAIC that provides for up to
$19.5 million in funding by DARPA. During 2004 and 2003, revenue from SAIC comprised 18% and 16%, respectively, of our total
revenue.

In September 2003, we received a three-year grant for up to $6.0 million from the CDC to develop and apply our TIGER
technology to the surveillance of human infectious disease in the United States, Using the grant from the CDC, we expect to develop and
provide TIGER technology for CDC projects focused on emerging human infectious disease.
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Intellectual Property Licensing Agreements’
, ‘

In-Licensing Arrangements

'Hybri‘donf Inc. AN S Co !
In May 2001, we entered into an agreement wrth Hybndon under wh1ch we acqulred an exclusive. license to all of Hybridon's
antisense chemistry and dehvery patents and technology. Hybridon retained the right to practice its licensed antisense patent technologies
and-to sublicense!it to collaborators under certain circumstances. In addition, Hybridon received a non-exclusive license to our suite of
RNase H patents. In exchange for the license to Hybridon's antisense patents, we paid $15.0 million in cash and agreed to pay Hybridon
$19.5 million in our common stock before May2003. In return for access to our patents, Hybridon agreed to pay us $6.0 million in
‘Hybridon common stock before May 2004. In September 2001 and October.2001, wé issued to Hybridon 357,143 shares of our common
stock valued at.$5.0.million and 500,000 shares of our common stock: ~valued at'$10.0 million, respectively. In May 2002, Hybndon
issued to us 1,005{499 shares-of its common stock valued at $1.3 million and paid-us $700,000 in cash. In August 2002, Hybridon and we
cancelled the remaining reciprocal financial obligations related to this agreement The cancellation of the obligations resulted na decrease
to our carrymg value for the license i in the amount of $500 000. r Tt
T t ' o A o

e

Molecular Btosystems Inc

‘In March 2001, we. amended a non-exclusive Patent License Agreement; which we entered into with-Molecular Biosystems, Inc.
in September 1992. The amendment provided us'with a fully paid-up licensé to certain patents and patent applications in exchange for a
one-time payment to Molecular Biosystems of $1.0 million. Molecular Biosystems has since been acquired by Alliance Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. v i

S Integrated DNA Technologres Inc.

In March 1999 Wet further sol1d1ﬁed our intellectual property leadersh1p pos1tlon in antisense technology by hcensmg certain
antrsense patents from IDT; a leadmg supplier:of antisense inhibitors for research. The patents we licensed from IDT are useful in
functional genomics and in‘making certain antisense drugs. In December 2001, we expanded this license agreement to allow us to
exclusively sublicense this intellectual property for functional genomics purposes. Under the license, we have paid IDT $4 2 million

through December 31, 2004 and expect to pay IDT an aggregate of $700,000 in 2005 for the license. o

In addmon in Decernber'2001 we established a long- term research-scale antisense inhibitor supply agreement with IDT. In
this supply agreement IDT agreed to manufacture research-scale antisense inhibitors and research reagents to our specifications. We
paid IDT: $5.0' million: toward ourfuture purchase of antisense inhibitors. During the fourth quarter of 2004 we recorded a non-cash
charge of $4 2'million to write off the unused portion as part of our restructurmg aetxvrtres _ :

Out-Licensmg !A rrangemen ts; Royalty F actormg Agreements
. [N N (I A ’u‘ et . e ¢
Roche Molecular Systems SRR I B PR
. ‘*.*‘: ‘{‘ o : . Lo : { : : .

In October. 2000, we whcensed some of our novel chermstry patents to Roche -a business unit of Roche Dlagnostrcs for use in the

production of Roche's: diagnostic products. The- royalty-bearmg license ‘grants' Roche: non-exclusrve worldw1de access to some- of our

proprietary chemistries, in exchange for 1mt1al and ongomg payments- from Roche to' us.

Eyetech. Phannaceutickzls wne. e t L o L T
T Gy i U : ' : :

In December 2001 ‘we licensed to Eyetech a pubhcly -held company, certam of our patents: necessary for Eyetech to develop,
make and commercialize Macugen, a non-antisense compound intended for use in the treatment of ophthalmic diseases. Eyetech paid us a
$2.0 million upfront fee and agreed to pay us milestone ‘and royalty payments in exchange for non-exclusive, worldwide rights to the
intellectual property licensed ‘from'us. In December 2002 Eyetech entered into am: agreement w1th Pfizer to develop and commerc1ahze
Macugen EEIR PR M'y AN REIRE vl

Dunng 2004 we earned from Eyetech 84 O million in mllestones ass001ated with the filing of an NDA and FDA approval for
Macugen for the treatment of wet age-related macular degeneration. Our license with Eyetech also may generate additional milestone
payments aggregating up 'to $2.8 million based on achieving specified regulatory milestones with respect to the use of Macugen for
each additional therapeutic'indication.
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Drug Royalty Corporation

In December 2004, we sold a portion of our royalty rights in Macugen to Drug Royalty USA, Inc., or DRC, in exchange for
aggregate payments of $24 million over the next three years. Under the terms of the agreement, we and DRC will share the royalty
rights on Macugen through 2009. After 2009, we retain all royalties for Macugen under our Eyetech agreement. Under the
agreement, through 2009 DRC will receive royalties on the.first $500 million of annual sales of Macugen. We and DRC will each
receive 50 percent of royalties on annual sales between $500 million and $1 billion.. We retain 90 percent of all royalties on annual
sales in excess of $1.0 billion and 100 percent of all royalties -after 2009. We have retained all milestones payable to Isis by Eyetech
under the license agreement. :

As part of the sale, we agreed to pay DRC liquidated damages if any one of a defined set of defaults occurs. The amount of
liquidated damages will be calculated such that DRC will receive a ten per cent per annum return, compounded quarterly on the total
of all purchase price payments made by DRC to us through the default date minus.the total of any royalties received by DRC through
the default date. In addition; DRC may withhold any installment of the purchase price if immediately prior to such payment, we fail to
meet a minimum liquidity requirement equal to the then outstanding balance on our loan with Silicon Valley Bank; plus the potential
amount of liquidated damages, assuming that DRC has paid the impending purchase price installment; plus our cash burn over the
most recent three months.

As collateral for our obligations under the sale agreement, we granted DRC a first priority secunty interest in the patents
licensed by us to Eyetech under the license agreement and in the license agreement itself. ,

Dharmacon

In May 2004, we entered into a patent license agreement with Dharmacon, a wholly owned subsidiary of Fisher Scientific
International, Inc. In order to sell chemically modified RNA for research purposes, Dharmacon licensed from us certain chemistry and
method-of-use patefts in return for an upfront licensing fee and royalties on reagent sales. Through this agreement, we are able to provide
access to our technology to-a wide array of academic labs, research institutes and compames practicing this technology while participating
financially in Dharmacon’s success. - -

Manufacturing

In the past, except for small quantities, it was generally expensive and difficult to produce chemically modified oligonucleotides,
like the:antisense drugs we use in our research and development programs. As a result, we have dedicated significant resources to develop
ways to improve manufacturing capacity. Since we can use variants of the. same nucleotide building blocks and the same type of
equipment to produce our oligonucleotide compounds, we found that the same techniques we used to efficiently manufacture one
oligonucleotide drug could help improve the manufacturing processes for many other oligonucleotide drugs. By developing several
proprietary chemical processes to scale up our manufacturing capabilities, we have greatly reduced the cost of producing oligonucleotide
compounds. For example, we have significantly reduced the cost of raw materials through improved yield efficiency, while at the same
time increasing our capacity to make the compounds. Through both our internal research and development programs and collaborations

" with outside vendors we may achieve even greater efficiency and further cost reductions. For example, in November 2004, we and Nitto
Denko Corporation announced that we have jointly developed a new high performance solid support for the manufacture of
oligonucleotides. The new solid support has the potential to decrease manufacturing costs because it is less expensive than currently used
solid supports and it has the potential to increase yield, thereby further reducing costs.

As part of our relationship with Lilly, in 2002 we upgraded and expanded our manufacturing facility, including the addition of a
new state-of-the-art manufacturing suite. Lilly provided us with $21.2 million in funding to build the new suite. We can use this facility to
manufacture drugs for ourselves and our partners. .- :

.We have contractual obligations to manufacture clinical trial materials and/or commercial supply for ATL, Lilly, Novartis and
OncoGenex. We believe we have sufficient manufacturing capacity to meet our current and future obligations under existing agreements
with our partners for commercial, research and clinical needs as well as meet our current internal research and clinical needs. We believe
that we have, or will be able to develop or acquire, sufficient supply capacity to meet our anticipated needs. We also believe that with
reasonably anticipated benefits from increases in scale and improvements in chemistry, we will be able to manufacture antisense

compounds at commercially competitive prices.
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Patents and Propnetary nghts

Our success wrll depend in part, on our ab111ty to obtam ‘patent protectlon for our products in the Umted States and other
countries. We file apphcatrons as appropriate, for patents ‘covering ‘our products.and processes. As of March 3, 2005, we owned or had
exclusively licensed more than 1,500 issued patents worldwide. Patents issued to us, applied for by us or exclusively licensed to us cover
the following types of i mventlons processes and products: '

e  Method clarms for the use of RNA/DNA oligonucleotides and other dntisense inhibitors, in gene functionalization and target
vahdatron mcludmg chemistries, antisense inhibitor designs called "motifs”, methods of use of antisense inhibitors and
mechanrsmsof‘actron by which antisense inhibitors inactivate an RNA target; - ‘

. Composmon of, matter, claims to core chemlstnes for chen'ncally modlfymg olrgonucleotldes whlch cover our rlghts to the
_ bu1ld1ng blocks of our compounds

P

. Composrtlon of matter clarms to antrsense compounds targeted to pamcular RNA target sequences whlch Cover our drugs

. Use clatms for using olrgonucleotrdes targeted to partrcular d1sease targets, whrch cover our rrght to use
ohgonucleotrde based drugs to treat specrﬁc drseases or modulate expressron of the target gene

J Method and’ composmon of matter’ clarms for the formulatlon and dehvery of therapeutic olrgonucleotrdes which cover our
pharmaceutrcal formulatrons of our drugs; - Lo RPN

. Method claims for the manufacture of ohgonucleotrdes ‘which cover our new, improved and/or more cost effectrve ways to
' ‘manufacture olrgonucleotldes B :
Yl‘ y}u»l"ll,' . .
.. Composmon of~matter clarms to RNA structural elements wh1ch cover our nghts for drscovery of small molecules that brnd
to these RNA structural elements; " T :
. Method clarrns for analyzing the interaction of small molecules wrth RNA whrch cover our novel drscovery methods using
- mass spectrometry to analyze the interaction of small molecules W1th RNA;
. Method clarms for optimizing the interaction of drug substances wrth their target molecules which cover our mass
spectrometry -based structural activity relatlonshlp drscovery methods;

ih !

. Method clarms for 1dent1fy1ng unknown broagents ut11121ng mass-spectrometry -based analyses and

. Method clarms for raprdly dlscovenng antisense. ollgomenc compounds which cover our-rapid throughput method of
‘ dlscovenng ant1sense ohgonucleotldes .

Government Regulation‘ o , ‘ . B
Extensive. rjegulati’o‘n by United States.and :fo‘reign. govemrnental authorities governs our manufacture and potential sale of

therapeutics. In pa‘rticular pharrnaceutical products are subject to rigorous preclinical and clinical testing arid other.approval requirements

by the FDA in the Umted States under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act.and by comparable agencies in most foreign countries.

Various federal, state and forelgn statutes also .govern or influence -the manufacture; safety, labeling, storage, record keeping and

marketing of such products State local and other authorities also regulate, pharmaceutlcal manufacturmg facilities.

In conJunctxon with obtammg approval of Vitrayene, we successfully passed the manufacturing pre-approval inspection by the
FDA and European regulatory authorities. Approval of each new drug wrll requrre a rrgorous manufactunng pre- approval inspection- by
regulatory authontres b 4‘ . S S .

o L. o Lo
Wy 4 "

In addrt]on to- regulatrons enforced by the FDA, we are also subject to regulatlon under the Occupatronal Safety and Health Act
the Envrronmental Protectlon Act,l the Toxic Substances Control Act, the Resource Conservat1on and Recovery Act and other present and
potential future federal state- and local regulatrons e

.- g . . .- . . . R
P LA T . S . . 1

i . - . ' -
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We fund our Ibis division primarily through contracts or subcontracts with agencies of the United States Government. As a
result, we must comply with various government regulations, including the Federal Acquisition Regulations, or FARs, and agency
regulations supplemental to the FARs; the Truth in Negotiations Act, which requires certification and disclosure of all cost and pricing
data in connection with certain contract negotiations; and laws, regulations and executive orders restricting the use and dissemination of
information classified for national security purposes and the export of certain products and technical data.

Competition

For many of their applications, our drugs will compete with existing therapies for market share. In addition, there are a number
of companies pursuing the development of oligonucieotide-based technology and the development of pharmaceuticals utilizing this
technology. These companies include specialized pharmaceutical firms and large pharmaceutical companies acting either independently
or together with biopharmaceutical companies.

Vitravene and our other products under development address numerous markets. The diseases targeted by our drugs for which
we may receive regulatory approval will determine our competition. For certain of our products, an important factor in competition may
be the timing of market introduction of competitive products. Accordingly, the relative speed with which we can develop products,
complete the clinical trials and approval processes and supply commercial quantities of the products to the market is an important
competitive factor. We expect to compete among products approved for sale based on a variety of factors, including, among other things,
product efficacy, safety, reliability, availability, price and patent position.

, A number of factors have affected the market for Vitravene, our antlsense drug for CMV retinitis. Anti-HIV drugs that were
introduced prior to Vitravene's approval, have prolonged survival in HIV-infected individuals. This has resulted in a decline in mortality
from AIDS, accompanied by a decline in the incidence of many opportunistic infections, including CMV retinitis.

Employees _

As of March 3, 2005 we employed appr0x1mately 303 individuals, of whom 141 held advanced degrees. These numbers exclude
employees impacted by our January 2005 reduction in force, some of who were still employed by us as transition employees or under our
salary continuation program. A significant number of our management and professional employees have had prior experience with
pharmaceutical, biotechnology or medical product companies. Collective bargaining agreements do not cover any of our employees, and
management considers relations with its employees to be good.

Executive Officers of Isis

The following sets forth certain information regarding our executive ofﬁcefs as of March 3, 2005:

Name Age . - Position

Stanley T. Crooke, M.D., Ph.D. 59 Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer

B. Lynne Parshall, J.D. 49 Director, Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Secretary ’ .

C. Frank Bennett, Ph.D. 48 Vice President, Antisense Research

Richard K. Brown, Ph.D. 52 Vice President, Business Development

David J. Ecker, Ph.D. 50 Vice President and Scientific Head of Ibis Division

Arthur A. Levin, Ph.D. 51 Vice President, Development

Patricia Lowenstam 58 Vice President, Human Resources and Operations

John McNeil ' ~ < 40 Vice President, Ibis Product Development

Michael J. Treble - oo 58 - Vice President and Head of Ibis Division

STANLEY T. CROOKE, M.D., Ph.D. ‘ ' C
Chairman of the Board, Preszdent and Chief Executive Officer

* Dr. Crooke was a founder of Isis and has been its Chief Executive Officer and a director since January 1989. He served as our
President from January 1989 to May 1994, and was elected Chairman of the Board in February 1991. SmithKline Beckman Corporation,
a pharmaceutical company, employed Dr. Crooke from 1980 until January of 1989, where his titles included President of Research and
Development of SmithKline and French Laboratories. He serves as a director of Antisense Therapeutics Ltd., a biopharmaceutical
company, Axon Instruments, Inc., a developer and manufacturer of novel high-technology devices and software for drug discovery, and
EPIX Medical, Inc., a developer of magnetic resonance imaging contrast agents, Northern Arizona University Arts and Sciences Advisory
Council, Flagstaff, Arizona, and BIOCOM, San Dlego California. Dr. Crooke is also an adjunct professor of pharmacology at San Diego
State University.
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B. LYNNE PARSHALL, J.D.- ‘
Director, Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, and Secretary

Ms. Parshall has served as a director of Isis since September 2000. .She has served as our Executive Vice President since
December 1995, our Chlef Financial Officer since June 1994, ‘and our .Secretary -since November 1991. From February 1993 to
December 1995, she.was a ‘Senior Vice President of Isis, and from November 1991 to February 1993, she was a Vice President of Isis.
Prior to joining Isis, Ms. Parshall practiced law at Cooley Godward LLP, counsel to Isis, where she was a partner from 1986 to 1991. Ms.
Parshall is on the Board of. Trustees. of the Bishops™ School Ms Parshall is.also a member of American, California and San Diego bar
associations. : :

C.FRANK BENNETT, PhD, -
Vice President, Antisense Research

Dr. Bennett thas served as our Vice Presrdent Antlsense Research smce June 1995. From March 1993 to June 1995, he was
Director, Molecular Pharmacology, ‘and from May 1992 to March 1993 he was an Assocrate Director in our Molecular and Cellular
Biology department Pnor to Jommg Isis in 1989 Dr Bennett was employed by SmrthKlme and French Laboratories in various research
positions. -

RICHARD K. BROWN, Ph.D.
Vice President, Business Development

Dr. Brown Jomed Isrs in June 2001 as Pres1dent of the GeneTrove program and has been our Vice President, Business
Development since January 2003 Prior to joining Isis, Dr Brown was President of Irori; a company that develops, ‘manufactures and
markets combmatonal chemrstry and medicinal cherrustry products to the pharmaceutrcal industry. He Jomed Irori in 1996 arid served as
President from 1998 t0' Tune 2001

DAVID J. ECKER, Ph. D. ! }”;
Vice President dnd Sczentzf ¢ Head, Ibis Division

Dr. Ecker was a founder of Isis and has served as a'Vice President since June 1995. In 2001 he assumed the role of Scientific
Head of our Ibis Division. He served as our Vice President, Blology from July 1993 to June 1993, as our Executive Director, Molecular
and Cellular Biology from February 1993 to July 1993, and as our Director, Molecular and Cellular Biology from February 1989 to
February 1993. From 1984 unt11 February 1989, he was employed by SmithKline and French Laboratories in a variety of research
positions. :

ARTHUR A. LEVIN Ph. D
Vice Preszdent Developmenz . ’
Dr. Levm has served as our Vice Pres1dent Development since 1995, Prior to jornmg Isis, Dr. Levin worked at Hoffmann-La
Roche Inc. where he was Research Leader in’ their anestrgatrve Toxicology Department managing the Nuclear Receptor Research Group.
During his tenure at Hofﬁnan-LaRoche Dr. Levin also estabhshed and superv1sed laboratones dedicated to the research of mechanisms of
toxicity, brochermcal tox1cology and tox1cok1netlcs

PATRICIA LOWENSTAM‘
Vice Presi‘a"en‘z“,‘ Human Resources and Operations ‘
Ms.‘Lofw'eristam‘has served as our Vicé President, Human Resources and Operations since January 1995. She joined Isis in
August 1992 as our Director, Human Resources and served in that capacity until January 1995. Prior to joining Isis, she held senior
management po;sijiion‘s‘in Human Resources with Quotron Systems, Inc., Citicorp, Zale Corporation, and the May Company.

s

JOHN MCNEIL o
Vice President, Ibis Product Development

M. "McNeil has-served as our Vice President, Tbis Product Development.since January 2005, Prior to that, he was our Vice
President, Informatrcs since. October 1999. Mr. McNeil joined Isis:in October 1997 as our Director, Informatics. Prior to joining Isis,
Mr. McNeil was President of John McNeil & Co., Inc., and held various pos1t10ns at SAIC in San Drego from 1989 to 1997, including
Manager of the Laboratory. Sensors and Automation division. , ,

i .
. . |
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MICHAEL J. TREBLE
Vice President and Head, Ibis Division

Mr. Treble joined Isis in December 2004 as Head of our Ibis Division and a Vice President of the Company. Prior to joining
Isis, Mr. Treble was President and Chief Executive Officer from 2000 to 2003 of Nimblegen System, Inc., which develops DNA
microarray and chemistry technologies. From 1995 to 2000, Mr. Treble was the Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer and
Director of Third Wave Technologies, Inc. which provides research and molecular diagnostic products to the healthcare industry. Mr.
Treble was also the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and founder of Genetic Models, Inc. from 1991 until it was sold to Charles River
Laboratories in July 2001." :

RISK FACTORS

Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. In addition to the other information in this report on Form 10-K,
you should carefully consider the risks described below before purchasing our securities. If any of the following risks actually occur,
our business could be materially harmed, and our financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely
affected. As a result, the trading price of our securities could decline, and you might lose all or part of your investment.

We have incurred losses, and our business will suffer if we fail to achieve profitability in the future.

Because drug discovery and development require substantial lead-time and money prior to commercialization, our expenses
have exceeded our revenue since we were founded in January 1989. As of December 31, 2004, we had accumulated losses of
approximately $698.4 million and a stockholders’ deficit of approximately $72.1 million. Most of the losses resulted from costs
incurred in connection with our research and development programs and from general and administrative costs associated with our
operations. Most of our revenue has come from collaborative arrangements, with additional revenue from interest income and
research grants and the sale or licensing of patents. We currently have only one product, Vitravene, approved for commercial use.
This product has limited sales potential. We expect to incur additional operating losses over the next several years, and these losses
may increase if we cannot increase or sustain revenue. We may not successfully develop any additional products or services, or
achieve or sustain future profitability.

If we or our partners fail to obtain regulatory approval for our products, we will not be able to sell them.

' We and our partners must conduct time-consuming, extensive and costly clinical trials to show the safety and efficacy of
each of our drug candidates before a drug candidate can be approved for sale. We must conduct these trials in compliance with United
States Food and Drug Administration regulations and with comparable regulations in other countries. If the FDA or another
regulatory agency believes that we or our partners have not sufficiently demonstrated the safety or efficacy of our drug candidates, it
will not approve them or will require additional studies, which can be time consuming and expensive and which will delay
commercialization of a drug candidate. We and our partners may not be able to obtain necessary regulatory approvals on a timely
basis, if at all, for any of our drug candidates. Failure to receive these approvals or delays in these approvals could prevent or delay
commercial introduction.of a product and, as a result, could negatively impact our ability to generate revenue from product sales. In
addition, following approval of a drug candidate, we and our partners must comply with comprehensive government regulations
regarding how we manufacture, market and distribute products. If we fail to comply with these regulations, regulators could force us
to withdraw a drug candidate from the market or impose other penalties or requirements that also could have a negative impact on our
financial results.

We have only introduced one commercial product, Vitravene. We cannot guarantee that any of our other drug candidates will
be safe and effective, will be approved for commercialization or that our partners or we can successfully commercialize these drug
candidates. " ‘

If the results of clinical testing indicate that aliy of our drugs under development are not suitable for commercial use, or if
additional testing is required to demonstrate suitability, we may need to abandon one or more of our drug development
programs.

Drug discovery and development has inherent risks, including the risk that molecular targets prove not to be important in a
particular disease, the risk that compounds that demonstrate attractive activity in preclinical studies do not demonstrate similar activity
in human beings, the risk that a compound is not safe or effective for use in humans, and the risk that successful resuits in early
human clinical trials may not be indicative of results in late-stage clinical trials. Antisense technology in particular is relatively new
and unproven. We are applying most of our resources to create safe and effective drugs for human use. Any of the risks described
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above could prevent us from meetmg this goal.” In the past, we have mvested in clinical studies of drug candidates that have not met
the primary. clmrcal end pomts m therr 1n1t1al Phase III studies. '

‘In March 2003 we reported the results ofa Phase 111 clinical trial of Afﬁmtak In patients with late stage non-small cell lung
cancer and in October 2004 we reported the results of a second s1mrlar Phase III clinical trial. In each case, Affinitak failed to
demonstrate 1mproved survrval sufﬁcrent enough to support an NDA filing. In December 2004, we reported the results of our Phase
III clinical trials of alicaforsen i m patients with active Crohn's dlsease in which alicaforsen did not demonstrate statistically significant
induction of clinical remrssrons compared to placebo. Similar results could occur with the trials for our other drugs. If any of our
drugs in cl1n1cal studxes do not show sufficient efﬁcacy in patients with the targeted indication, it could negatively 1mpact our
development and commercralrzatlon goals for this and other drugs and our stock price could decline.

If the market does not accept our products, we are not likely to generate revenues or become proﬁtable.

Our success will depend upon the medical community, patients ‘and third-party payors accepting our products as medically
useful, cost-effective andisafe. We cannot guarantee that, if approved for commercialization, doctors will use our products to treat
patients. We currently have one commercially available product, Vitravene, a treatment for cytomegalovirus, or CMV, retinitis in
AIDS patients, which addresses a small market. Our partners and we may not successfully commercialize additional products.

The degreerof market acceptance for any of our products'depends upon a number of factors, including;

o  The receipt and scope of regulatory approvals;

o - The establlshment and demonstration in the medical and patient community of the efficacy and safety of our drug
: candrdates and thelr potentlal advantages over competing’ products

. uThe cost and effectlveness of our drug candidates compared to other avallable therapies;
o The patlent convenlence of the dosmg reg1men for our drug candrdates and

. Rermbursement p011c1es of government and thlrd party payors.
Based on the proﬁle of our drug. cand1dates ‘physicians, patients,’ patrent advocates payors or the medlcal community in
general may not accept and use.any products that we may develop
| J; ' 3 !
If any of our collaboratlve partners fail to- fund our' collaboratlve programs or develop or sell any of our products under
development, or if we cannot obtam addltronal partners, we may have to delay or stop progress on our product development
programs. ‘

To date, corporate partnering has played a key role in our strategy to:fund our development programs and to add key
development resources We plan to continue to rely on additional collaboratrve arrangements to develop and commercialize our
products. However we may not be able to negotrate additional attractive collaborative arrangements and, even if negotiated, the
collaborative arrangements may not be successful. -

We have entered mto collaborat1ve arrangements with third parties to develop many of our product candidates. We enter into
these collaboratlons in order to:, co

. Fund our research and: development actrvrtres
L Access manufacturmg by third partres

. Seek and obtarn regulatory approvals

o Conduct cl1n1cal trials; and

l"

e Successfully commercrahze exrstmg and future product candidates."

If any of our partners falls to develop or sell any drug in which we have retarned a financial 1nterest our business may suffer
These collaboratlons may not continue or result in commercialized drugs. Our collaborators can terminate their relationships with us
under certain crrcumstances some of which are outside of our control. For example, 1in November 2004 based on the outcome of both
Phase 111 trials, Eli Lrlly dlscontlnued its investment in Affinitak.
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Other drug candidates in our development pipeline are being developed and/or funded by corporate partners, including
Antisense Therapeutics Limited, OncoGenex Technologies Inc. and Lilly. We have received significant financial support from United
States Government-funded grants and contracts for our Ibis division and the development of our TIGER system. The United States
Government can unilaterally terminate these contracts and grants at its convenience at any time, even if we have fully performed our
obligations. If any of these pharmaceutical company or government partners stopped funding and/or developing these products, our
business could suffer and we may not have the resources available to develop these products on our own.

Certain of our partners are pursuing other technologies or developing other drug candidates either on their own or in
collaboration with others, including our competitors, to develop treatments for the same diseases targeted by our own collaborative
programs. Competition may negatively impact a partner’s focus on and commitment to our drug candidate and, as a result, could
delay or otherwise negatively affect the commercialization of a drug candidate.

In addition, the diéappointing results of the two Affinitak trials, our Phase III clinical trials of alicaforsen in patients with
active Crohn’s disease or any future clinical trial failures could impair our ability to attract new collaborative partners. If we cannot
continue to secure additional collaborative partners, our revenues could decrease and the development of our drug candidates could
suffer. ‘

We may not successfully develop or derive revenues from our business based on our TIGER system to identify infectious
organisms,

Our TIGER system is subject to the risks inherent in developing tools based on innovative technologies. Qur product is at an
early stage of development, and requires additional research and development prior to marketing. If our potential customers fail to
purchase our TIGER system due to competition or other factors, or if we fail to develop applications that lead to market acceptance,
we could lose our investment in this technology and our TIGER business could fail to meet our business and financial objectives.

If we fail to obtain timely funding, we may need to curtail or abandon some of our programs.

All of our product candidates are still undergoing clinical trials or are in the early stages of research and development. All of
our products ‘under development will require significant additional research, development, preclinical and/or clinical testing,
regulatory approval and a commitment of significant additional resources prior to their commercialization. Based on our current
operating plan with reasonable assumptions for new sources of revenue and cash, we believe our resources will be sufficient to meet
our anticipated requirements through at least mid 2007. If we do not meet our goals to commercialize our products, or to license our
drugs and proprietary technologies, we will need additional funding in the future. Our future capital requirements W111 depend on
many factors, such as the following:

e the profile and.launch timing of our drugs;

o continued scientific progress in our research, drug discovery and development programs;
o the size of our programs and progress with preclinical and clinical trials;

e the time and costs involved in obtaining regulatory approvals;

¢ competing technological and market developments, including the introduction by others of new therapies that address
our markets;

e success in developing and commercializing a business based on our TIGER system to identify infectious organisms; and

e changes in existing collaborative relationships and our ability to establish and maintain additional collaborative
arrangements.

If we need additional funds, we may need to raise them through public or private financing. Additional financing may not be
available at all or on acceptable terms. If we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities; the shares of existing stockholders will
be diluted and their price, as well as the price of our other securities, may decline. If adequate funds are not available, we may have to
cut-back on one or more of our research, drug discovery or development programs. For example, in January 2005 we decided to
terminate the development of two lower priority drugs, ISIS 14803 and ISIS 104838. Alternatively, we may obtain funds through
arrangements with collaborative partners or others, which could requlre us to give up rights to certain of our technologles product
candidates or products.
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If we cannot manufacture our products or contract with a.third party to- manufacture our products at costs that allow us to
charge competltlve\prlces 10 buyers, we will not be able to market products proﬁtably

If we, successfully commercialize any. of our drug candidates,. we. may be requlred 'to estabhsh large-scale commercial
manufacturing. capab:lrtres -In addition, as our drug development pipeline. increases and matures, we will have a greater need for
clinical trial and commercral manufacturing capacity. We have limited expenence manufacturing pharmaceutlcal products of the
chemical class’ represented by our drug candidates, called oligonucleotides, on a commercral scale for the systemic administration of a
drug. There are a small number of suppliers for certain capital equipment and raw materials that we use to manufacture our drugs, and
some of theseisuppliers will' need to increase their scale: of production to meet:our projected needs for commercial manufacturing.
Further, we' must continue to improve our manufacturing processes to allow us to reduce our product'costs. We may not be able to
manufacture at a cost or in quantmes necessary to make commercrally successful products

Also manufacturers mcludrng us, must adhere to the FDA's current Good Manufacmnng Practices ‘regulations which the
FDA enforces. through its. facilities inspection program.-We and our contract manufacturers may not be able to comply or maintain
compliance with! Good Manufacturing Practices regulations. Non-compliance conild significantly delay our receipt of marketing
approval for potentral products or'result in FDA enforcement action after approval that could limit the commercial success of our
potential product Gl : . . - el

If we fail to compete effectively, our products will not contribute significant revenues.

Our competitors are ‘engaged in all areas ‘of drug discovery throughout the world, are numerous, and include, among others,
- major pharmaceutrcal companies and specialized biopharmaceutical firms. Other companies are engaged in developing antisense
technology ‘or umque methods of’ identifying infectious organisms. Our competifors may succeed in developing drug candidates or
technologies. that are more effective than'. -any.-drug candidates' or technologres 'that we are developmg These competrtrve
developments could make our products obsolete”or non- competmve Lo -

FAER T b i STl tod
" Many -of our competrtors have substantially greater fmancral technical and human resources than we do. In addition, many
of these competitors: have srgmﬁcantly greater-experience than we do in conducting preclinical testing and human clinical trials of
new pharmaceutrcal products and in obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals of products for use in health care. Accordingly,
our competitors may succeed in obtaining regulatory approval for products earlier than we do. We will also compete with respect to
marketing and sales capab111t1es areas in Whrch we have-limited or no experience. - : ' '
If we cannot protect our patents or our proprletary nghts, others may compete more drrectly agamst us.
- - (l .m\‘:i‘u . .

Our success- depends toa srgmﬁcant. degree upon our abr 1ty to continue to' develop and secure intellectual property rights to
proprietary products ‘and| services, However, .we may' not receive issued patents on any of our pending patent -applications in the
United States or.in:other countrres In addition, the scope of any of our issued patents may not be sufficiently broad to provide us with
a competitive advantage. Furthermore, our issued patents or’ patents licensed to us may be successfully challenged, 1nva11dated or

' Clrcumventedlso thiat our patent rights would not create an effectrve competrtrve barr1er Or revenue source.

" . B . .
hoo a0 L

Intellectual property htlganon could be expensrve and prevent us from pursumg our programs

Itis possrble that m the future we may.have to defend our: 1ntellectual property rrghts In the event of an 1ntellectual property.
dispute, we may be forced to l1t1gate to defend our rights or assert them against others. Disputes could involve arbitration, litigation or.
proceedings declared by the. United States Patent and. Trademark Office or the International Trade Commission or foreign patent
authorities. Intellectual property litigation: can be extremely expensive, and- this expense as well as the consequences should we not
prevail, could serrously harm our busmess c - i '

. i i ’ [ ' [ ' v :.:le : : L . '/

If a third party clarms that our products or technology 1ntr1nge their patents or other 1ntellectual property r1ghts we may have
to discontinue an 1mportant product or product line, alter our products and processes pay license fees or cease certain activities. We
may not be able o] obtain a: license to such intellectual property on favorable terms,'if at all. There are:many. patents issued or applied
for in the’ brotechnology 1ndustry, and we may not be aware of patents or applrcatrons held by others that relate to our business. This is
especially true " smce patent apphcatrons in the Umted States'are filed . conﬁdentrally Moreover, the- validity and breadth of
brotechnology patents mvolve complex legal and factual questrons for whichi 1mportant legal issues remain unresolved.
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If we do not progress in our programs as anticipated, the price of our securities could decrease.

For planning purposes, we estimate the timing of a variety of clinical, regulatory and other milestones, like when a certain
product candidate will enter the clinic, when we will complete a clinical trial, or when we will file an application for marketing
approval. We base our estimates on present facts and a variety of assumptions. Many of the underlying assumptions are outside of our
control. If we do not achieve milestones when we expect to, investors could be disappointed and the price of our securities would
likely decrease. : ‘

The loss of key personnel, or the inability to attract and retain highly skilled personnel, could make it more difficult to run
our business and reduce our likelihood of success.

We are dependent on the principal members of our management and scientific staff. We do not have employment agreements
with any of our executive officers; The loss of our management and key scientific employees might slow the achievement of
important research and development goals. It is also critical to our success that we recruit and retain qualified scientific personnel to
perform research and development work. We may not be able to attract and retain skilled and experienced scientific personnel on
acceptable terms because of intense competition for experienced scientists among many pharmaceutical and health care companies,
universities and non-profit research institutions. Failure to succeed in clinical trials may make it more challenging to recruit and retain
qualified scientific personnel.

We depend on third parties in the conduct of our clmrcal trials for our product candidates and any failure of those parties to
fulfill their obllgatlons could adversely affect our development and commercialization plans.

We depend on independent clinical investigators, contract research organizations and other third party service providers in
the conduct of our clinical trials for our product candidates and expect to continue to do so in the future. We rely heavily on these
parties for successful execution of our clinical trials, but do not control many aspects of their activities. For example, the investigators
are not our employees. However, we are responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical trials is conducted in accordance with the
general investigational plan and protocols for the trial. Third parties may not complete activities on schedule, or may not conduct our
clinical trials in accordance with regulatory requirements or our stated protocols. The failure of these third parties to carry out their
obligations could delay or prevent the development, approval and commercialization of our product candidates. - -

If the price of our securities continues to be highly volatile, this could make it harder for you to liquidate your investment and
could increase your risk of suffering a loss.

The market price of our common stock, like that of the securities of many other biopharmaceutical companies, has been and
is likely to continue to.be highly volatile. These fluctuations in our common stock price may significantly affect the trading price of
our securities. During the 12:months preceding December 31, 2004, the market price of our common stock has ranged from $4.22 to
$9.90. per share. On-March 11, 2005 the closing price of our common stock on the Nasdaq National Market was $3.95 per share.
Many factors can affect the market. price of our securities, including, for. example, fluctuations in our operating results,
announcements of collaborations, clinical trial results, technological innovations or new drug products being developed by us or our
competitors, governmental regulation, regulatory approval, developments in patent or other proprletary rights, public concern
regarding the safety of our drugs and general market conditions.

Provisions in our certlﬁcate of mcorporatlon, other agreements and Delaware law may prevent stockholders from receiving a
premmm for their shares. :

Our certiﬁcate of mcorporation provides for classified terms for the members of our board of directors. Our certificate also
includes a provision that requires at least 66% of our voting stockholders to approve a merger or certain other business transactions
with, or proposed by, any holder of 15% or more of our voting stock, except in cases where certain directors approve the transaction
or certain minimum price criteria and other procedural requirements are met. .

Our certiﬁcate of incorporation also requires that any action required or permitted to be taken by our stockholders must be
taken at a duly called annua! or special meeting of stockholders and may not be taken by written consent. In addition, only our board
of directors, chairman of the board or chief executive officer can call special meetings of our stockholders. We also have implemented
a stockholders' rights plan, also called a poison pill, which could make it-uneconomical for a third party to acquire our company on a
hostile basis. These provisions, as well as Delaware law and other of our agreements, may discourage certain types of transactions in
which our stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares over then current market prices, and may limit the ability
of our stockholders to approve transactions that they think may be in their best interests. In addition, our board of directors has the
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authority to fix the rights ‘and preferénces of and issue shares of preferred stock, which may have the effect of delaying or preventing
a change in control of our company without action by our stockholders.

If registration rights that we have previously granted are exercised, then the price of our securities may be negatively affected.

We have granted registration rights in connection with the issuance of our securities to Eli Lilly and Company. These
registration rights cover approximately 2.5 million shares of our common stock which may become outstanding upon the conversion
of outstanding, convertible securities. If these securities are converted and the holder exercises its registration rights, it will bring
additional shares of our comimon stock into the market, Wthh may have an adverse effect on the price of our securities.

Our business is sub]ect to changing regulatlons for corporate governance and publlc disclosure that has increased both our
costs and the risk of noncompliance.

Each year we are required to evaluate our internal controls systems in order to allow management to report on, and our
Registered Independent Public Accounting Firm to attest to, our internal controls as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act. As a result, we will incur additional expenses and will suffer a diversion, of management’s time. In addition, if we cannot
continue to comply with the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner, we might be subject to sanctions or investigation by
regulatory authorities, such as the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, or
PCAOB, or the NASDAQ Stock Exchange. Any such action could adversely affect our financial results and the market price of our
common stock

Item 2. Properties.

As of March 3, 2005, we occupied approximately 218,000 square feet of laboratory and office space, including 6,888 square feet
of manufacturing, area built to meet Good Manufacturing Practices and 18,800 square feet, which our Ibis division occupies. We are
primarily located in six buildings in Carlsbad, California. We own three of these buildings and, as of December 31, 2004, these buildings
secured approximately $6.1 million of our debt. We lease three of the buildings under lease agreements, of which two leases will expire in
2007 and one will expire in:2010. In February 2003, we completed an expansion. of our manufacturing facility.to upgrade our existing
manufactunng su1te and add a second state of the art manufacturing suite.

Y ” X
Item 3. Legal%Proceedings. ‘

Ajmomoto Co., Inc v. Isis Pharmaceutlcals, Tnc. On or about January 27, 2005 Ajinomoto Co., Inc., or Ajinomoto filed
a Demand for. Arbltratlon against'us with thé American Arbitration Association in San Diego, California. The Demand relates to a
February 17, 1994 license agreement between Ajinomoto and us, which purports to license certain intellectual property, including
United States Patent No. 5,013,830, or the 830 patent, in exchange for initial payments, royalties and certain milestone payments
relating to the*development of products covered by the license. Ajinomoto alleges that several products developed by us are covered
by the '830 patent, and thus by the license. Ajinomoto seeks a determination of products covered by the license, along with an
accounting ofiany sums due as:a'result. Ajinomoto also seeks a determination that the license is still in force. We have not'yet filed
an answer, and a hearing, has not yet been set. We believe that Ajmomoto s claims are without merit, and we intend to vigorously
defend our p051t10n in arbltratlon

Item 4. Submissioniof Matters to.a Vote of Security Holders.
Not app:ticable. |
Co g
o PARTH
Item S. Market For Reglstrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities
Our common stock is traded publicly through the Nasdagq Natronal Market under the symbol "ISIS." The following table presents

quarterly mformanon on the price range of our common. stock. This information indicates the high and low sale prices reported by the
Nasdaq National Market These pnces do not mclude retail markups, markdowns or commissions.
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HIGH LOW

2004
First Quarter ‘ $9.59 $6.66
Second Quarter $9.90 $5.54
Third Quarter $6.67 $422
Fourth Quarter $6.63 $4.25
2003 .
First Quarter $7.55 $2.50
Second Quarter . $6.85 $3.50
Third Quarter $8.05 $4.55
Fourth Quarter $7.07 $£5.20

As of March 3, 2005, there were approximately 1,067 stockholders of record of our common stock. We have never paid
dividends and do not anticipate paying any dividends in the foreseeable future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
Not applicable.
Purchases of Equity Securiﬁes by Us and Affiliated Persons
Not applicable.
Available Information
We make available, free of charge, on our web site, www.isispharm.com, our reports on 10-K, 10-Q, 8-K and amendments
thereto, as soon as reasonably practical after we file such materials with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Any information that is

included on or linked to our Internet site is not a part of this report or any registration statement that incorporates this report by reference.

Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue (includes amounts for R&D, licensing $ 42,624 % 49,990 $ 80,179 % 53273 % 37,255
and royalties) ' : ‘

Research and development expenses $ 118474 § 116963 S 124,074 § 83,741 §$ 57,014
Net loss applicable to common stock $ (142,864) $ (95690) $  (73302) $  (75,131) $  (54,699)
Basic and diluted net loss per share 3 (252) % (1.73) $ (1.35) § (1.70) '$ (1.48)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted
net loss per share 56,642 55,463 54,480 44,109 37,023
Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Consolidated Balance Sheet:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments  § 103,883 § 215504 § = 289,353 § 312,018 8 127,262
Working capital $ 82,193 $§ 194004 $ 244230 $ 280,569 § 118,568
Total assets $ 208425 § 334942 § 438,683 § 417,061 $ 183,256
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, less '

current portion § 236611 § 213397 § 192,893 § 125,710 § 102,254
Accumulated deficit ‘ $ (698,447) $ (555,583) § (459,893) § (386,591) $  (311,460)
Stockholders equity (deficit) $  (72,133) % 67,178 $ 155477 § 223,099 § 66,366

(1) Our net loss applicable to common stock includes charges related to restructuring activities of $32.4 million, $1.8 million, $1.4
million, and $1.6 million in 2004, 2003, 2002, and 2000, respectively. During 2001, we did not incur any charges related to
restructuring activities.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and. Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
"~ Overview .

Since our inception in 1989, we have pioneered the science of antisense for the development of a new class of drugs. We have
designed antisense drugs to treat a wide variety of diseases. Due to their gene selectivity, antisense drugs have the potential to be highly
effective and less toxic than traditional drugs. We have made significant progress in understanding the capabilities of antisense drugs in
treating disease. We have developed new chemistries and novel formulations to enhance the potency and utility of antisense drugs, and we
have successfully turned our. expertise into one marketed product and 10 antisense drugs, which we and our partners are advancing in pre-
clinical and clinical development, the majority, of which: are in Phase I or Phase 1I-human clinical trials. Our products in development
address numerous therapeutic areas.with major market potential, including inflammatory, metabolic, cardiovascular diseases, and cancer.
We and our partners are studying these drugs in intravenous, subcutaneous, topical cream, enema, aerosol, and oral formulations, and we
are advancing antrsense drugs usmg ‘second-generation chemistry. We achieved marketrng clearance for the world's first antisense drug,

Vitravene (fomrvrrsen) in 1998

! L

To date, we have; earned $40.1 m1lllon in revenue from.several govemment agencies, 1nclud1ng up to $37.5 million for the
development of TIGER 'and $2.6 million to discover 'small molecule drugs, under contracts valued at up to $66.3 million. These
agencies include the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency, or DARPA, the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious
Diseases, or NJAID, part of the National Institutes of Health, or NIH, the Centers for Disease Control, or CDC, the Federal Bureau of
Investigation, or FBI, and'the United States Army Medical Research Institute of Infectious Diseases, or USAMRIID. During 2004
and 2003, revenue generated from agencies of the U.S. Government accounted for 28% and 20%, respectively, of our total revenue.

: . c o P i . o . .

We have 4 broad/patent portfolio covering our technologies. We own or exclusively license more than 1,500 issued patents,
which we believe represents the latgest antisense and RNA-oriented patent estate in the pharmaceutical industry. Qur intellectual property
is a strategic asset that we'are exploiting to generate near-term revenue and that we expect will also provide us with revenue in the future.
To date, we-have. generated nearly $70.0 million from our intellectual property hcensmg program that helps support our internal drug
discovery and elnneal development programs ' ;

We are pursiing early-stage antrsense‘research programs, including RNA interference, or RNAi, micro-RNA, and alternative
splicing through research collaborations and partnerships, like our strategic alliances with Alnylam and Ercole.

A

Business Segmeénts
We focus our business on'two principal segments: *

Drug Dzscovery and Development. Our proprietary technology to discover and characterize novel antisense inhibitors has
enabled our scientists to modify the properties of our antisense drug candidates for optimal use with particular targets and thus,
to produce. a broad proprietary portfolio of compounds applicable to many disease targets. Further, over the past decade, our
scientists have made: great advances in chemistries, which we call our second-generation antisense drugs. Second-generation
drugs may have 1ncreased potency, stability, oral bloavarlabrhty and an 1mproved side effect profile. We have also made
significant progress in developing new formulations of aritisense drugs, like oral, topical cream, subcutaneous, intravitreal,
aerosol and enema that further expand the potentral for antlsense technology

We and our partners currently have 10 drugs in development of whrch three are in Phase II clinical development, four are in
Phase I chnrcal development and three are in preclinical development. Our partners are developing, with our support, five of
these ten drugs which substantrally reduces our development costs. :

Ibis Dtvtswn Wlthm our Ibis division, we have invented a technology that has the potential to revolutionize the identification
of mfectrous drseases Thts technology is called Triangulation Identification for Genetic Evaluation of Risks, or TIGER.
TIGER is the’ product of core technology development and small molecule drug discovery research conducted within our Ibis
division; ini rts~early years. Ibis’ central focus now is to develop and commercialize our TIGER technology. Prior to the
development of TIGER our Ibis division focused on discovering novel small molecule antibacterial drugs.

Asa result of the technologlcal and orgamzatronal advancements that we have made during 2004 combined with our future
commercralrzatron plans for TIGER and'the srgmﬁcant contribution that the division made to Isis” 2004 revenue, and in
accordance w1th the' authontatlve gurdance under SFAS No. 131, “Disclosure about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information, ‘We beheve it is appropnate to present the financial results of our Ibrs drvrsron as a separate operating segment
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from our consolidated results. We refer to this operating segment as our Ibis division. Prior to 2004, we did not allocate
R&D Support or general and administrative costs to our separate operating segments. We believe that it would be impractical
to obtain comparative information for prior periods, and that such comparisons between any period in 2004 and the
comparable periods in prior years for R&D support costs and general and administrative expenses by segment would be
meaningless; therefore, we do not discuss these comparisons below.

Recent Event

In December 2004, we made a strategic decision to reorganize and refocus our resources to advance our most promising second-
generation drugs and to continue the development of antisense technology. We announced this decision in January 2005. In the fourth
quarter of 2004 we recorded a $32.4 million charge for restructuring activities resulting from this decision, which consisted of non-cash
write-downs of tangible and intangible assets that are non-essential to our current focus, including excess or idle equipment, inventories,
patent costs, and certain prepaid expenses. ‘

We expect to incur additional charges relating to our restructuring activities during the first quarter of 2005, including those
associated with employee termination costs, termination of certain contractual obligations, the consolidation of our United States
facilities, and the closure of our research and development laboratory in Singapore.

Critical Accounting Policies

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. As such, we are required to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions that we believe are reasonable, based
upon the information available to us. These judgments involve making estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain
and may significantly impact our quarterly or annual results of operations and financial condition. We discuss the development, selection
and disclosure of such estimates with our audit committee each quarter. There are specific risks associated with these critical accounting
policies that we describe in the following paragraphs. For all of these policies, we caution that future events rarely develop exactly as
expected, and that best estimates routinely require adjustment. The significant accounting policies, which we believe are the most critical
to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results, require the following:

o Assessment of propriety of revenue recognition and associated deferred revenue;
o  Determination of proper valuation of investments in marketable securities and other equity investments;

o Estimations to assess the recoverability of long-lived assets, including property and equipment, intellectual property and
licensed technology;

e  Determination of proper valuation of inventory;

*  Determination of appropriate cost estimates for unbilled preclinical studies and clinical development activities;

e  Estimation of our net deferred income tax asset valuation atlowance;

¢ Determine appropriateness of judgments and estimates used in allocating revenue and expenéés to operating segments; and

o Estimations to determine the fair value of stock-based compensatlon including the expected life of the option and the
expected stock price volatility over the term of the expected life.

Descriptions of these critical accounting policies follow.

Revenue Recognition

We follow the provisions as set forth by current accounting rules, which primarily include Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, or
SAB 101, "Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements,” SAB 104, "Revenue Recognition,” and Financial Accounting Standards Board
Emerging Issue Task Force No. 00-21, or EITF 00-21, "dccounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables."

We generally recognize revenue when we have satisfied all contractual obligations and we are reasonably assured of collecting
the resulting receivable. We are often entitled to bill our customers and receive payment from our customers in advance of recognizing the
revenue under current accounting rules. In those instances where we have billed our customers or received payment from our customers in
advance of recognizing revenue, we include the amounts in deferred revenue on the balance sheet.

30




We oﬁen enter 1nto collaborations where we receive non-refundable up-front payments for prior or future expenditures. We
recognize revenue related : to up-front payments ratably .over the period of the contractual arrangements as we satisfy our performance
obligations. Occas10nally, we are required to estimate the period of a contractual arrangement or our performance obligations when the
agreements we énter into do'not clearly define such information: Should different estimates prevail, revenue recognized could be
materially différent. We have made estimates of our continuing obl1gations on several agreements, 1ncludmg our collaborations with ATL,
Chiron, Lilly and OncoGenex o Coe A .

As part of our Lilly alhance in 2001 Lilly provrded us a $100.0 million: 1nterest free loan to fund the research collaboration. We
take quarterly drawdowns against this loan and discount the amounts to their net present value by imputing interest on the amount at 20%,
which represented market conditions in placeat the time we entered: into. the loan. iAs of December 31, 2004, we had drawn down
$95.0 million on. this loan.’ We are accreting the loan up to its face value over its term by recording interest expense. The difference
between the cash' received and the present value of the loan represents valueLilly gaveéito us to help fund the research-collaboration. We
account for this, difference ‘as deférred revenue and recognize it as revenue over the period of contractual performance.

Our collaborations often mclude contractual imnilestones.' When we. achieve-these milestones, we are entitled to payment, as
defined by the underlying agreements We generally: recognize revenue related to milestones upon completion .of.the milestone's
performance requirement, as'long as we are reasonably assured of collecting the resulting receivable and we are not obligated to future
performance related:to the achievement of.the milestone.. We recognized revenue dunng 2004 related to milestones achieved under our
agreements with Eyetech Lilly and S1ngapore EDB. PR o o oo |

We generally recogm;e revenue related to the sale of our mventory as we ship or dehver drugs to our partners. To date, in two
instances, we completed the manufactunng of drugs, but our partners asked us'to deliver the drug on a later date. Under these
circumstances, we ensured that ‘our obligation was complete under the terms of the manufacturing agreement in place and title had
transferred to the customer before we recogmzed the related revenue.

‘ ‘\tf,‘ . . A CoenE . - . )

We often enter into agreements to license our" proprietary patent rights on an exclusive or non-exclusive basis in exchange for
license and/or troyalty fees: We: generally recognize as.revenue immediately those licensing and royalty fees for which we have no future
performance obhgations and are reasonably assured of collecting the: resultmg receivable .

We. often enter into revenue arrangements that contain multiple dehverables In these cases, we recognize revenue from each
element of the arrangement as long-as we are-able to determine a separate. value for.each element, we have completed our obhgation to
deliver or perform on that element and we are reasonably assured of collecting the resulting receivable.

Valuanon of [nvestments in Marketable Securztzes

We account for our investments in marketable securities in accordance with current accounting rules as set forth by SFAS 115,
"Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities." We carry these investments at fair market value based upon market
prices quoted onthe last day of the fiscal quarter. We record unrealized gains and- losses asa separate component of stockholders’ equity,
and include gross rrealized gams and losses in investment income. T

3
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In addition .to our investments in 'marketable “securities; we also have equity investments in privately~ and publicly-held
biotechnology companies. We hold ownership interests of less than.20% in each of the respective entities. In determining if and when a
decrease in market value below our cost in our equity positions is other-than-temporary, we examine historical trends in the stock price,
the financial: condition of the issuer, near termprospects of the issuer, and our current need for cash.. When we determine that a decline in
value is -other-than- temporary, we recognize an‘impairment loss in the period in which the other-than-temporary decline occurs. During
the first quarter of 2003, we: recorded a non-cash loss on investments of $2.4 million related to the impairment of our equity investments
in ATL and Hybridon We recorded these charges based on declines in market value of the equity investments, as compared to their initial
valuations. Duringi the third quarter of 2004, we recorded a non-cash loss on investments of $5.1 million principally related to the
impairment of our equrty investment in Alnylam.. The'loss on investment reflected a decrease in the market value of Alnylarn $ stock in
2004 which We beheve was, prtmarily a result of financial, market conditlons related to b1otechnology companies

Valuatzon of Long—szed Assets ‘ ‘ i - ' ‘ e

We assess the value of our long- lived assets Wh]Ch include property and equ1pment patent costs, and llcenses acquired from
third parties, under the prov1s1ons set forth by SFAS 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, or SFAS 144.
We evaluate our long hved assets for impairment on at least a quarterly basis. During this process, we review our property and equipment
listings, pendmg domestic and international patent applications, domestic and international issued patents, and licenses we have acquired
from other parties. To determine if any impairment is present, we consider the following, among other factors:
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. Evidence of deereases in rnarket value;-

° - Changes in the 'extent or manner in‘w‘hich we use an asset;

. .‘ Aldverse changes in legal factors or in the business climate that would al‘fect the valne of an asset;

®  Anadverse action or assessment by .a regulator; -

"0. . An accumulation of costs‘ signiﬁcantly inexcess of amounts originall$/ expected to acquire or construct an asset;

.. Current period operating or cash flow.loss combined with a history of operating or cash flow losses associated with an asset
used for the purpose of producing revenue; and »

o  Challenges or potential challenges to our existing patents the likelihood of applications being issued and the scope of our
1ssued patents - :

In December 2004, we made a strategic decision to reorganize and refocus- our resources to advance our most promising
second -generation drugs and to continue the development of antisense technology. As a result, during the fourth quarter of 2004 we
recorded charges of approximately $11.5 million related to the write-down of tangible and intangible assets, including equipment and
patent costs that are non-essential to our current focus. ‘ '

Valuation of Inventory

We include in inventory material costs and related manufacturing costs for drugs that we manufacture for our partners under
contractual terms and that we use primarily in our clinical development activities and drug products. We. expense these costs when we
deliver our drugs to partners, or as we use these drugs in our own clinical trials. We reflect our inventory on the balance sheet at the lower
of cost or market value under the first-in, first-out method. We review inventory periodically and reduce our carrying value of items
considered to be slow moving or obsolete to their estimated net realizable value. We consider several factors in estimating the net
realizable value, including shelf lives of raw materials, alternative uses for our drugs and clinical trial materials and historical write-offs.
In the second quarter of 2003, we reduced the carrying value of our raw materials related to Affinitak to zero. During the fourth quarter
of 2004, we recorded a charge of approximately $21.0 million for the write-down of inventory to its.estimated net realizable value
related to our strategic decision to reorganize and refocus our resources to advance our most promising second-generation drugs and
to continue development of antisense technology. »

Estimated Liability for Clinical Development Costs

We maintain accrued liabilities related to unbilled costs for ongoing preclinical studies and clinical trials. These costs primarily
relate to third-party clinical management costs, laboratory costs and analysis, toxicology studies and investigator grants, among other
costs. We have multiple drugs in concurrent preclinical studies and clinical trials at several clinical sites throughout the world. We expect
that at any given time we will have liabilities outstanding for our preclinical and clinical development costs related to products or services
for which our service providers have not yet billed us. In order to ensure that we have adequately provided for ongoing preclinical and
clinical development costs during the period in which we incur such costs, we maintain an accrual to cover these costs. We update our
estimate for this accrual on at least a quarterly basis. The assessment of these costs is a subjective process that requires judgment. The
ultimate settlement of these costs may differ materially from the amounts we have accrued in our consolidated financial statements.

Valuation Allowance for Net Deferrved Tax Assets

As disclosed in Note 5 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we record a valuation allowance to offset our net
deferred tax assets because we are uncertain that we will realize these net tax. assets. When and if circumstances warrant, we will assess
the likelihood that our net deferred tax assets will more likely than not be recovered from future taxable income and record an appropriate
reversal to the valuation allowance. Because we have had net operating losses since inception, we have established a 100% valuation
allowance - for our net deferred tax asset. As of December 31, 2004, :our deferred tax assets and related valuatlon allowance totaled
approx1mately $283.7 million: :
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Segment Informatidn

We piovide segment ﬁnanc1al information and results for our Drug Discovery and Development segment and our Ibis
division based: on the segreganon of revenues and expenses used for management’s assessment of operating performance and
operating decisions. Expenses shared by the segments require the use of judgments and estimates in determining the allocation of
expenses to the/two segments. Different assumptions or allocation methods could result in materially different results by segment.

i R

Profor}na Stock-Based Compensation

We provide proforma net income and loss per share amounts in-accordance with the disclosure only provision of Statement
of Financial Accountmg Standards No. 123,. “Accounting for .Stock-Based Compensation.” or SFAS No. 123. The stock-based
compensation expense used i m these proforma amounts is based on the fair value of the option at the grant date, which uses the fair
value pricing method descnbed in SFAS No. 123. This method requires us to use several assumptions to estimate the fair value,
including the expected life ofithe optlon and the expected stock price volatility, over the term of the expected life. Should any of these
assumptlons change or dlffer from the actual life or actual stock price volat1l1ty, our pro forma results could differ substantially.

K [ G

Eﬂ‘ectlve in;2005;; pursuant to the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) "Share—Based Payment,” we will be required to recognize as
a charge to our statement of operations the fair value of all share-based payments to employees, including stock option grants. We can not
currently predict the’ 1mpact that this new accounting treatment will have on our statement of operations because it will depend on levels
of share-based payments we grant in the future. However, accounting for share-based payments to employees using the fair value
method will have no 1mpact on our overall financial position.

Results of Operatlons

Years Ended December 31, 2004 and December 31,2003
Revenue i “ S S

Total revenue for'the year ended December 31, 2004 was $42.6 million, compared to $50.0 million for the same period in 2003.
The decrease in revenue of $7.4 million primarily reflects the completlon of our Phase 11 clinical trial of Affinitak in 2003, with an
associated reduction in revenue for 2004, offset in part by increased revenue from our alliances and licenses, particularly with government
agencies relating to our TIGER program, Alnylam, Eyetech, and Lilly. Our revenue may fluctuate from period to period based on the
nature and timiing of license fees and milestones earned, and othet deliverables under agreements with our partners. For example, our
fourth quarter 2004, revenue increased over the same period'in 2003 primarily as a result of the $3.0 million milestone from Eyetech
associated with Macugen’s marketmg clearance from the FDA. Qur ability to maintain revenue at current levels will depend on our ability
to obtain new revenue sources and expand ex1st1ng revenue sources in 2005.

The~'followlng table sets 'forth 1nformatlon on_ou: revenue by segment (in thousands):

D ' S . YearEnded  Year Ended

B T PR FR ' S . December 31, December 31,
ST 2004 2003
Drug Dlscovery and Development _ o
ReseaIch and development revenue § 21,684 $ . 40,605
o L1cens1ng and royalty revenue oo 10,007 523
o B C§ 31691 $ 41,128
Ibis Division: ‘ - ' '
.- Research'and development revenue $ 10,933 $ 8862

Licensing :and royalty revenue : ‘ - -
b o . % 10933 § 8862

Total revenue: i - - o Y :
T Research and’ development revenue < - $ 32,617 $ 49,467
[ 1eens1ng 'and royalty revenue . o 10,007 523
RIS TS 464§ 49990

i
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Research and Development Revenue under Collaborative Agreements

Our revenue under the category research and development revenue under collaborative. agreements for the year ended
December 31, 2004, was $32.6 million, compared to. $49.5 million for 2003. The decrease of $16.9 million reflects the completion of our
Phase III clinical trial of Affinitak in 2003 and an associated reduction in revenue for 2004, offset in part by increased revenue from our
TIGER program, our strategic alliance with Alnylam and our research collaboration with Lilly, which included $1.5 million in revenue
earned from Lilly in 2004 for the initiation of a Phase I clinical trial of LY2181308 and $750,000 in revenue earned from Lilly in 2004 for
the license of LY2275796, a second generation antisense anti-cancer drug candidate for clinical development. - n

Our Ibis division generates revenue from grants and contracts from United States government agencies, including DARPA,
CDC, FBI, and NIAID, a part of the NTH. During 2004, we received grants and contracts for up to $29.5 million in funding from various
governmental agencies to further the development of our TIGER program. Our Ibis division generated revenue of $2.0 million and $10.9
million for the quarter and year ended December 31, 2004, respectively, including revenue related to equipment purchased on behalf of
the respective government agencies. Also, we have approval to invoice our government partners an additional $8.6 million under our
existing contracts and grants. We may receive continued approval to invoice our government partners under these contracts based
upon a variety of factors, including the accomplishment of program objectives and the exercise of additional contract options by the
contracting agencies. In addition, these agencies may terminate these contracts and grants at théir convenience at any time, even if we
have fully performed our obligations. Consequently, we may never receive the full amount of the potential value of these awards. Our
Ibis division has received contracts and grants from numerous government agencies valued at up to $63.2 million. We receive our
DARPA funding through a subcontract with San Diego-based SAIC. This collaboration accounted for approximately 18% and 16% of
our total revenue in 2004 and 2003, respectively. .

Licensing and Royalty Revenue

Our revenue from licensing activities and royalties was $10.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, compared with
$523,000 in 2003. The increase of $9.5 million primarily reflects $5.5 million we earned under our strategic alliance with Alnylam, and
$4.0 million in milestones earned from Eyetech associated with Eyetech’s filing of an NDA with the FDA for Macugen and the
marketing clearance of Macugen by the FDA. In January 2005, we sold a portion of our royalty rxghts in Macugen to DRC, in
exchange for aggregate payments of $24.0 rmlhon over the next three years.

Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses were $160.5 million and $129.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
The increase of $31.5 million was primarily due to non-cash charges of $32.4 million for restructuring activities related to our strategic
decision to reorganize and refocus our resources to advance our most promising second-generation drugs and to develop our antisense
technology. The 2003 operating expenses included a charge for restructuring activities of $1.8 million. The increase in 2004 was partially
offset by the completion of our development activities for Affinitak, and changes to non-cash compensation due to variable accounting for
stock options and in research and development and general and administrative expenses as we describe in the following paragraphs.

Total operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2004 included a non-cash compensation benefit of approximately
$6,000 due to variable accounting for stock options, compared to a non-cash compensation expense of $913,000 for 2003. Variable
accounting for stock options can result in significant increases and decreases in non-cash compensation related to stock options as a result
of the variability in the company's stock price. :

In order to analyze and compare our results of operations to other similar companies, we believe that it is important to exclude
compensation related to stock options from operating expenses because it is based on the variability of our stock price rather than
operations, and to exclude restructuring activities because the costs are directly related to isolated events.

Research and Development Expenses

For the year ended December 31, 2004, our reported total research and development expenses were $118.5 million, compared to
$117.0 million in 2003. Our research and development expenses consist of costs for antisense drug discovery, antisense drug
development, our Ibis division and related R&D Support costs. The increase of $1.5 million in 2004, compared to 2003, was primarily
due to increased spending to support our TIGER program, start-up costs related to our Singapore laboratory, increased spending to
support the completion of a large Phase II clinical program for alicaforsen enema in patients with ulcerative colitis, and increased
spending to support our highest priority second-generation drug candidates, ISIS 113715 and ISIS 301012. These increases were
partially offset by the absence of expenses in 2004 related to Affinitak, which we stopped investing in during 2003, and the completion
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of our development activities for alicaforsen for Crohn s disease, ISIS 14803 and ISIS 104838. We expect total research and
development spénding will decrease in 2005 as a result of the completion of our.development activities for alicaforsen for Crohn's disease,
our decision 0" ‘discontinue development of ISIS 14803 and.ISIS 104838, our strategrc reorganization and assocrated reduction in
workforce, consohdatron of facrlmes and closure of our Smgapore locat1on

Do
! .»4

For the year ended December 3 l, 2004, ‘our research'and development exPe‘nses by segment were as follows (in thousands):
CET S . O N . .ot .

S : " Year Ended
A RS -December 31,
e C 2004
Drug Discovery and Development ‘ I .-$0 105,168
Ibis D1V1s1on E o - i 113,306
Total research and development expenses —_— $ ! 18,474

o .
Antzsense Drug Dzscovery ‘ , ‘ , ‘

Ident1fymg what a gene does, called gene functronahzatron and then’ determmmg whether a specific gene is a good target for
drug discovery, called’ target’ validation, are the' first steps in our drug d1scovery process. We use antisense technology to generate
information about the function of genes and to deterrnirie the value of genes'as drug discovery targets. We use this information to direct
our own antiserise drug discovery research, and that of our antisense drig discovery partners: We have created inhibitors to thousands of
genes, validated many targets and.dissected numerous disease pathways. Additionally, we have created libraries of antisense inhibitors to
identify novel gene- fiinction. Our advances in these areas have enhanced our own antisense drug discovery efforts and our patent portfolio
through custom, target- valrdat1on collaborations and intellectual property licenses while generating near-term revenue for us. Antisense
drug discovery is also.the function within Isis that is responsible for advancing antisense core technology. Through the efforts of our
scientists in the antisense drug discovery group, we have produced second-generation antisense drugs that have been shown to have
increased potency, increased stability, an improved side effect profile and the potential for oral administration. With more than a decade .
focused on learning the capabilities of antisense technology and how these compounds behave in the body, our scientists have learned the
organs and tissues in humans to which antisense therapy is effectively directed. Using this knowledge, we have strategically focused our
research programs on' those sites in. the body that accept antisense readily, like the liver, kidney, fat tissue and bone marrow. These targets
expand the current therapeutic scope of antisense research into new disease categories, including obesity and cardiovascular disease. The
work of our scientists has grven us the opportunity to enter mto important drug drscovery relationships with industry leaders like Lilly and
Amgen.

As we have advanced Gur antisense technology to a point where we and our partners now have extensive clinical and preclinical
development plpelrnes that are full of product opportunities, we have far more drug assets than we can afford to develop on our own.
As aresult, we have srgmﬁcantly reduced our antisense drug d1scovery activities so that we can focus on our drugs in development,
and we would expect to see-our expenses for antrsense drug discovery decrease in. 2005. We anticipate that our existing relationships and
collaborat1ons ,as well ag, prospecnve new. partners, will continue to help, fund, our research programs, as well as contribute to the
advancement of the scrence by fundmg core antlsense technology research. ‘

Antlsense drug d1scovery costs included in research and ‘development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2004 totaled
$38.4 million compared to $37 3 million for 2003. The i ihcrease oﬁ $l 1 million in 2004 gver 2003 was principally the result of start-up
costs related to.our Smgapore laboratory - _ L b

Antzsense Drug Development

- Our development activities reflect our, efforts to advance our drugs throuigh the various stages of preclinical, or animal studies,
and human chnrcal trials. The development plans for our drugs are subject to numerous uncertainties like obtaining regulatory approval,
market availability: and successfully, obtaining funding, which affects our research and development expenditures and capital resources.
Prior to starting cln(ncal tnals we test our potent1al products in numerous preclrmcal studies to identify drsease indications for which they
may be candidates. Once we have etablished that a prechnrcal drug candidate has met certain clinical requirements and we have filed an
Invest1gat1onal New Drug Apphca’uon or IND, with the FDA, we may Iinitiate, clinical trials in the United States for that drug. It may take
several years to complcte clinical trials, with the length varying substantially according to the complexity, novelty and intended use of the
product candidat The followmg timelines represent our -estimate of typical completion times for clinical trials we generally conduct:
Phase ~ong yéar; Phase I—one to two years, and Phase II—two to four-years. However, a number of factors including the required
minimum number of patients, the ability to enroll suitable patients, the dosing regimens and the requisite follow-up periods, the clinical
endpoints and: mputslfrom our corporate partner, tend to:vary from product to product and can impact the timing and magnitude of what
we spend on each product in a particular period.. These factors are outside our control and often result in dramatic fluctuations in the costs
associated w1th each product on a period to period basis. As a result, we are unable to estlmate the costs to complete our projects.
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We may conduct multiple clinical trials on a drug candidate, including multiple clinical trials for the various indications we may
be studying. Furthermore, as we obtain results from trials we may elect to discontinue clinical trials for certain drug candidates in certain
indications in order to focus our resources on more promising drug candidates or indications. For example, we recently decided not to
initiate additional studies of ISIS 14803 and ISIS 104838. Generally, Phase III clinical trials are the longest, largest and most expensive
component of the drug development process. Further, products in Phase III trials represent the most near term possibility of
commercial success. In addition, because Phase III trials typically involve a well-defined protocol and require dedicated resources, it
is easier for us to separately capture costs associated with these projects. Qur Phase I and Phase II programs are really research
programs that fuel our Phase III pipeline. When our products are in Phase 1 or Phase II clinical trials, they are in a dynamic state
where we continually adjust the development strategy for each product. Although we may characterize a product as “in Phase I”” or “in
Phase 11,” it does not mean that we are conducting a single, well-defined study with dedicated resources. Instead, we allocate our
internal resources on a shared basis across numerous products based on each product’s particular needs at that time. This means we
are constantly shifting resources among products. Therefore, what we spend on each product during a particular period is usually a
function of what is required to keep the products progressing in clinical development, not what products we think are most important.
For example, the number of people required to start a new study is large, the number of people required to keep a study going is
modest and the number of people required to finish a study is large. However, such fluctuations are not indicative of a shift in our
emphasis from one product to another and cannot be used to accurately predict future costs for each product. And, because we always
have numerous products in preclinical and early stage clinical research, the fluctuations in expenses from product-to-product, in large
part, offset one another. If we partner a drug, it may affect the size of a trial, its timing, its total cost and the timing of the related cost. For
example, during 2003, Lilly reimbursed us for our costs to develop Affinitak. Our partners are developing, with our support, five of our
10 drug candidates, which substantially reduces our development costs.

The following table sets forth research and development expenses for our major antisense drug development projects for the .
years ended (in thousands):

December 31,

: : 2004 2003
Affinitak \ : $ — § 5,072
Alicaforsen for Crohn’s disease 5,523 . 6,519
Other antisense development products 30,202 29,323
Development overhead costs ‘ : 6,704 4,234
Total antisense drug development $ 42429 § 45,148

Antisense drug development costs included in research and development expenses totaled $42:4 million and $45.1 million for
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The decrease of $2.7 million was primarily due to the completion in 2003 of
our Phase III trial of Affinitak and the completion in 2004 of our development activities for alicaforsen for Crohn’s disease, offset in part
by increased clinical development expenses for other products in development. We expect our drug development expenses to fluctuate
based on the timing and size of our clinical trials, and anticipate that such expenses will decrease in 2005 as compared to 2004 as the
result of our strategic reorganization and associated reduction, in workforce.

There were no expenditures related to Affinitak in 2004. Expenditures related to Affinitak in 2003 were $5.1 million. The
decrease was primarily due to a reduction in costs associated with the development of Affinitak following the disappointing results from
the first Phase III trial of Affinitak and the decision not to file an NDA in 2003. In October 2004, we and Lilly reported the results of a
second Phase III clinical trial of Affinitak in combination with Gemzar and cisplatin in patients with NSCLC. Findings from this trial,
which was sponsored by Lilly, were similar to the results of the first Isis-sponsored Phase 111 study of Affinitak for NSCLC. As a result of
these data, we will not invest further in the development of Affinitak. ‘

Development expenditures related to alicaforsen for Crohn’s disease totaled '$5.5 million and $6.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The decrease of $1.0 million was pnmarlly due to the completion of our Phase [T trials in
December 2004,

We incurred expenses related to our other products in development of $30 2 million and $29.3 rmlhon for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The increase of $900,000 was primarily the result of an increase in development activity
related to Phase I and Phase II trials for our ulcerative colitis, diabetes, cancer and cardiovascular drugs, as well as expenses related to
other products in the early stages of development.
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Ibis Divisi()n :
S .

Research and development expendrtures in our Ib1s d1v1sxon include costs for scientists, pass-through equipment costs, laboratory

supplies, chemtcals and hlghly specialized 1nformat10n technology consultants to advance the research and development of our TIGER

program ' :

. N Ty
Our Ibis division’s research and development expendrtures for the year ‘ended December3l 2004 totaled $10.0 million,
" compared to $9.3 million for 2003 The increase of $700,000 was the result of our performance under our contracts with DARPA, the
FBI, the NIAID a part of the NIH and the CDC, in support of our ongoing development of our TIGER program. We include in our Ibis
division expenses all contract—related costs we incur on’ behalf of’ govemment agencies in connection; with the performance of our
obligations under the respective cofitracts, including costs for equipment to which theé government retains title. We began reporting
our Ibis dtvrsron as: a separate operatrng segment in 2004 Accordingly, we allocate a portion of R&D Support and general and
administrative costs to this segment In 2004, we allocated approxrmately $4.2 mrllton of costs related to R&D Support and general
and admrnlstrattve to Ib1s Prror to 2004, we did not allocate: R&D Support or general and ‘administrative costs to our separate
operating segments We' believe that it wonld be 1mpract1cal to obtain comparanve information for prior periods, and that such
comparisons between any. period in 2004 and the comparable periods in prior years for R&D support costs and general and
administrative. expenses by: segment would be meaningless; .therefore, we do not discuss these: comparisons below. We expect our
costs for our Ibis drvrsron to mcrease as we continue to expand this business.

R&DSupport o

In our research and development expenses we 1nclude support costs such as rent, repair and maintenance for buildings and
equipment, ut1llt1es deprematlon of laboratory equipment and facilities, amortization of our intellectual property, information technology
costs, procurement costs and waste disposal costs. We call these costs R&D Support costs Generally these costs represent approximately
17% to 23% of our total annual research and development expense. :

The followrng table sets forth 1nformat10n on R&D Support costs for the years ended (in thousands):

- December 31,

’ o ‘ L 2004 2003 ;
Personnel costs . S '$ 10450 § 9,844
vOccupancy Co } L ‘ ’ 6,409 N 6,734
Deprecrat1on and amomzatton e . 6,946 '5.710
Insurance . . . L 11,179 COL132
Other . ;' e L 2694 1,760

Total R&D support costs RS . $ . . 27,6,78 § 25180

R&D Support costs for the year ended December 31, 2004 totaled $27.7 million, compared to $25.2 million for 2003. The
increase of $2.5 nulhon was prtmarrly due to increased personnel, facilities and equipment depreciation and patent amortization costs,
- which are all costs that support the entire research  and development organization. We ailocated $3.3 miilion of our 2004 R&D
Support costs to our Ibis division as a result of repomng Ibis as a separafe segment beginning in 2004. Prior to 2004, we did not
allocate R&D" Support costs to our separate operattng segments. We belieye that it would be impractical to obtain comparative
information for f prtor periods, and ‘that such compansons between any perrod in 2004 and the comparable perrods in prior years for
R&D Support' costs by, segment would be méaningless; therefore, we do not discuss these compansons We expect R&D Support
»costs to decrease in 2005 as a result of our strategtc reorgantzatton and reductton in workforce announced in January 2005.

For the year ended December 31, 2004 our R&D Support costs by segment were as follows (in thousands)

Year Ended
December 31,
2004
Drug D1scovery and Development o $ 24374
Tbis: Drvrslon » o L , \ 3,304
i Total R&D support costs L ., § 27678

il i
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General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include corporate costs required to support our company, our employees and our
stockholders. These costs include personnel and outside costs in the areas of business development, legal, human resources, investor
relations and finance. Additionally, we include in general and administrative expenses such costs as rent, repair and maintenance of
buildings and equipment, deprecratron utilities, 1nformatron technology and procurement costs that we need to support the corporate
functions listed above. : '

General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2004 totaled $9.6 million compared to $9.3 million for
2003. The increase of $300,000 as compared to 2003 was primarily related to our Sarbanes-Oxley Act Section 404 implementation
activities. We allocated $924,000 million of our 2004 general and administrative costs to our Ibis division as a result of reporting Ibis
as a separate segment begrnmng in 2004. Prior to 2004, we did not allocate general and administrative costs to our separate operating
segments. We believe that it would be impractical to obtain comparative information for prior periods, and that such comparisons
between any period in 2004 and the comparable perlods in prior years for general and administrative costs by segment would be
meaningless; therefore, we do not discuss these comparisons. We expect general and admmrstratrve expenses to decrease in 2005 as a
result of our strategic reorganization and reduction in workforce announced in January 2005.

For the year ended December 3 1, 2004, our general and administrative expenses by segment were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended

' ] December 31, 2004
Drug Discovery and Development g 8,658
Ibis Division “ - : - 924
Total general and administrative expenses $ 9582

Compensation Related to Stock Options

Compensation benefit for the year ended December 31, 2004 was $6,000, compared to compensation expense of $913,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2003. The changes in compensation expense (benefit) were primarily related to the effects of using variable
accounting to account for stock options associated with the employee stock option exchange program initiated in April 2003. We
accounted for options affected by the employee stock option exchange program as variable stock options in accordance with Accounting
Principles Board, or APB, Opinion No. 25 and Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation, or FIN, No. 44. APB 25 and FIN 44
require us to account for these exchanged options as variable stock options. Variable stock options can result in significant increases and
decreases in compensation expense, as a result of the variability of our stock price. We also recorded nominal expense in 2003 related to
stock options granted in prior years to consultants, and we accounted for these options in accordance with Emerglng Issues Task Force
Abstract No. 96-18, or EITF 96-18. .

Restructurm o Activitiés

During the founth quarter of 2004, we recorded a $32.4 mrllron charge for restructurrng activities resultmg from our strategrc
decision to reorganize and refocus our. resources to advance our most promising second-generation drugs and to continue our
development of antisense technology. The 2004 charge for restructuring actmtres consists of non-cash write-downs of tangible and
intangible assets that are non-cssential to our current focus, including excess or idle equipment, inventories, patent costs, and certain
prepaid expenses. The 2003 operating expenses included a $1.8 million charge for restructuring activities. We expect to incur additional
charges relating to restructuring activities during the first quarter of 2003, including those associated with employee termination costs, the
consolidation of our facilities, termination of certain contractual obligaiions, and the closure of our research and development laboratory
in Singapore. We expect that our cost containment measures will significantly decrease our cash'use in 2005 as compared to 2004

.Investment Income

Investment income for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 was $3.0 million and $5.1 million, respectively. The
$2.1 million decrease in investment income in 2004 compared to 2003 was primarily due to our lower average cash balance in 2004
compared to 2003. :

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2004 was $22.6 million, compared to $18.7 million for the same period in
2003. The $3.9 million increase in interest expense in 2004 compared to 2003 was primarily due to the effect of a higher debt balance
during 2004 than during 2003 related to an increase in the loan to fund our Lilly research collaboration, offset by a decrease in the
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carrying value of our term loan from Silicon Valley Bank. A decrease in the average interest rate on our debt offset, in part, the effect of a
higher average debt balance The decrease in the average debt interest rate was primarily due to the retirement, in the fourth quarter of
2003, of higher interest rdte debt with proceeds from our $32.0 million term loan from Silicon Valley Bank secured in December 2003.
The debt we retired in'the fourth: quarter of 2003 consisted of convertible partner debt that carried interest rates ranging from 8.5% to
12%. The Silicon:Valley Bankterm loan bears interest at.the prime rate, which was 5.25% at December 31, 2004. The loan is convertible
to a fixed interest: rate. ’at“ou'r option -at any time .at the then-applicable prime. rate plus 1.25%. In 2004, $13.0 million of the
$22.6 million in‘interest expense did not require cash payment. This represents the accrual of interest expense related to the $100.0 million
{oan Lilly has made avallable to-us to fund the research collaboration. ‘
We plan to! draw the remammg $5.0 million from Lilly in March 2005, which w1l] bring our total due to Lilly under our loan
agreement to $100.0:million.’ Our loan to Lilly is due in August 2005. We can repay our Lilly research collaboration loan at our option
.in either cash or our common stock at a fixed conversion price of $40 per share. If we draw down the remaining amount available
under the loan, we icould repay the.loan for. 2.5 million shares of our common stock. We expect to substantially reduce our debt
obligations in 2005 &s a result of the repayment.of our Lilly loan, combined with' principal payments we are obligated to make on our loan
with Silicon Valley Bank. Accordmgly, we expect our interest expense to decrease.in’2005.

Net Loss Appllcable to Common Stock T AT

For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, we reported a net loss of $142.5 million and $95.0 million, respectively. Our
net loss applicable to common stock was $142.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, arid $95.7 million for 2003, including
$361,000 and $694,000, respectwely, of accreted dividends on preferred stock. The decrease in accreted dividends in 2004 from 2003
was the result of;ouf, agreement in June 2004.with a subsidiary of Elan to acquire Elan’s minority interest in Orasense and HepaSense. In
connection with thls agreement, Elan transferred its shares of Isis Series B preferred stock to a third party. Immediately upon transfer,
these shares convened into 1,055,502 shares of Isis common stock, eliminating the 5% in-kind dividend. The increase in the net loss
applicable to common:stock in 2004 from 2003 was primarily the result-of a decrease in revenue, increase-in operating expenses, decrease
in interest income, and mcrease in interest expense as described previously. In addition, during 2004 and 2003, we incurred charges of
$32.4 million and $1.8 rmlhon tespectively, related to restructuring activities. In 2003, we incurred a non-cash loss. on investments of
$2.4 million related to the 1mpa1rment of our investments in ATL and Hybridon. In 2004, we incurred a non-cash loss on investments of
$5.1 million principally related to the impairment of our equity investment in Alnylam, reflecting the decrease in the market value of
Alnylam’s stock 1n 2004, wh1ch we believe was primarily a result of financial market conditions related to biotechnology companies. Our
Alnylam alliance, estabhshed in, 2004 1o develop RNAI drugs, provides us-with-an opportunity. to realize substantial value from our
pioneering work in antisense mechamsms and oligonucleotide chemlstry and is an example of Isis’ strategy to participate in all areas of
RNA-based drug d1scovery :

Net Operatmg Loss Carryforward

At December 31y 2004 we had federal, forelgn and Cahforma tax net operatmg loss carryforwards of approximately $517.1
million, $530,000 and $140. 4 million, respectively. We also had federal and Cahforma research credit carryforwards of approximately
$23.5 million and $10.0. rrulhon respectively. The net operating losses, research credit carryforwards and capitalized research expense
make up the majonty of our deferred tax assets. Subject to the limitation described below, we will use the net operating loss and research
credits, and realize the benefit of these deferred tax assets if we becorme profitable. We fully reserved all of our deferred tax assets, as their
realization is uncertain. Our, federal tax loss carryforwards and our research credit carryforwards will begin expiring in 2007 and 2005,
respectively; unless: prev1ously utilized. Our foreign tax losses may be carried-forward indefinitely and used to offset future taxable
profits, prov1ded there is no substantial change in ownership. Our California tax loss carryforwards will begin expiring in 2005, unless
utilized. Our net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards will be subject to an annual limitation regarding utilization against taxable
income in future periods due to “change of ownership” provisions of the Tax Reform Act of 1986. We believe that such limitation will not
have a material adverse 1mpact on the benefits that may arise from’ our net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. However, there
may be additional limitationss arising from any future changes in ownership that may have a material adverse impact on us.

oo Thee C o .
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Years Ended December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002

Revenue

Total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003 was $50.0 million, compared to $80.2 million for 2002. The decrease of
$30.2 million was primarily due to the reduction in revenue associated with the clinical development of Affinitak and the conclusion of
Elan's participation in the Orasense and HepaSense collaborations in late 2002. We did not have revenue associated with Orasense and
HepaSense in 2003 as a result of the conclusion of Elan's participation in the joint ventures. New revenue sources not present in 2002
offset, in part, the decreases in total revenue in 2003.

Research and Development Revenue under Collaborative Agreements

Under the category research and development revenue under collaborative agreements, for the year ended December 31, 2003,
we earmned $49.5 million, compared to $67.8 million for 2002. The decrease of $18.3 million was primarily due to the reduction in revenue
associated with the clinical development of Affinitak. In March 2003, we announced the results of our Phase III clinical trial of Affinitak
to treat patients with non-small cell lung cancer, which were not sufficient to support a single-study new drug application. New sources of
revenue not present in 2002 slightly offset the previously described decreases in revenue. New sources of revenue from our Antisense
Drug Discovery collaborations included: '

¢ anupfront fee and milestone payments from ITRI;

e a milestone achieved in the development of L'Y2181308, as part of our research collaboration oncology expansion with |
Lilly; : , ‘

¢ amilestone achieved in our drug discovery collaboration with Amgen; and
e an upfront fee from the expansion of our antisense drug development partnership with OncoGenex.

New revenue sources from our Ibis division resulted from the expansion of work to continue the advancement of our TIGER
technology, which included yvork for government agencies such as the CDC, FBI, and DARPA. Our work for DARPA continued to be a
collaborative effort with SAIC and accounted for approximately 16% and 6% of our revenue in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Research and Development Revenue from Affiliates

Research and development revenue from affiliates consisted of revenue associated with our two collaborations with Elan,
Orasense and HepaSense. Elan concluded its participation in the HepaSense and Orasense collaborations in late 2002, in conjunction with
its restructuring efforts. As a result, we reacquired product rights to ISIS 14803 for hepatitis C and the oral formulation of ISIS 104838
from the HepaSense and Orasense joint ventures, respectively. We did not eam revenue from these affiliates in 2003. During 2002, we
recognized $8.9 million and $3.0 million as revenue from Orasense and HepaSense, respectively.

Licensing and Royalty Revenue

Our revenue from licensing activities and royalties was $523,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003, compared with
$417,000 in 2002. ‘

Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses were $129.0 million and $131.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
The decrease of $2.0 million was primarily due to our implementation of an expense reduction plan during the second quarter of 2003, the
completion of our development activities for Affinitak, and the termination of our GeneTrove database product offering in November
2002. Increased clinical development expenses for many of our other products and increased costs in the Ibis division partially offset the
decrease in operating expenses. Increased expenses of $3.9 million and $430,000 for compensation related to stock options and
restructuring activities, respectively, further offset the decrease in operating expenses. In order to analyze and compare our results of
operations to other similar'companies, we believe that it is important to exclude compensation expense or benefit related to stock options
from operating expenses because it is based on the variability of our stock price rather than operations. We also believe that it is important
to exclude restructuring activities because these costs are directly related to isolated events.
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Research and Development Expenses TR
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For the year ended bécember 31, 2003, we reported total researc:h and development expenditures of $117.0 million, compared to

- $124.1 million reported in 2002. Our research and development expenses consisted of costs for antisense drug discovery, antisense drug

development, our Ibis division and related R&D Support costs. The antisense' drug discovery costs included costs associated with our

GeneTrove program. 'Tﬁefidecrease of $7.1 million in 2003 over 2002 was primarily due to the termination of our GeneTrove product

- offering and'reorganization .of the GeneTrove -program in November 2002; -our implementation .of an expense reduction plan in

April 2003, éhd\a'fd’ecréasé in.our total Affinitak related expenses. Increased clinica] development expenses for many of our other products
and our increased-efforts/in the Ibis division offset, in part, our decreases in research and development expenditures. ‘

Antz’Senséi Drug Di&covéry

Antisense‘dru‘g‘fdi‘fsi:oyery costs included in research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2003 totaled
$36.8 million compared to.$38.9-million for 2002. The decrease of $2. 1 million in 2003 over 2002 was principally a result of our planned
expense reducﬁons started’ in. the second quarter of 2003 and the termination ‘of our GeneTrove database product offering and
reorganization. of the Ge_ﬁéTrov‘e ‘program in November 2002 These.decteases were:offset in part by the increase in expenses to support
our research collaborations ;With Lilly, Amgen, and ITRL o ' .

Antisense Drug ‘D,e\‘)el‘oprﬁent
Dun'ng”2‘003, w‘e“;hyad jl ldrug candidates in :Variousfstag'e‘s’ of development, including two drugs in Phase III clinical trials. In

March 2003, we a’n‘n“ouhged‘the results of ourPhase III clinical trial of Affinitak for-the treatment of non-small cell lung cancer. The
results were not sufficient to'support a single study new drug application. Affinitak related expenses decreased in 2003 compared to 2002.

- We had two Phas¢ I trials of alicaforsen, or. ISIS 2302, in people with active.Crohn's disease. We conducted. one of these studies in

North Americaand the other in Europe.. These studies. were evaluating the safety and' efficacy of alicaforsen. We also had Phase II
programs ongoing for five additional products, Phase I programs ongoing for three additional products; and preclinical studies ongoing
for one project. In‘addition; during 2002 and 2003, Lilly reimbursed-us for our costs related to our development of Affinitak. - :

‘Develo:pmer‘it’ cQéts included in research and-development. expensés totaled $45.1 million and $55.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The decrease of $10.2 million was primarily due to planned expense reductions started in the
second quarter of 2003 driven by a reduction in clinical development activity related to Affinitak. These decreases were offset, in part, by
increased clinical development expenses for our other products, mainly alicaforsen for Crohn's disease and several products in Phase II
and earlier stages of development. ‘ . ‘ ' ‘ :

The planried. expénse reductions began in ‘April.QOO3 when' we initiated a restructuring effort in response to the disappointing
results fromyour ‘Phase. III}trial of Affinitak. As a result, we had a small reduction in our workforce, which primarily represented positions
that were in supp‘ort‘ of tﬁe commetcialization and mamifacture of Affinitak. We completed our development activities for Affinitak in
2003. As a result, expenditures related to Affinitak decreased from $22.6 million in 2002 to $5.1 million in 2003. The majority of the
2003 expenditures bcourrediin the first quarter of 2003, .+ - i SRR TR S : ‘

Our second drug in Phase I1I clinical trials, alicaforsen for Crohn's disease, had development expenditures totaling $6.5 million
for the year ended December 31, 2003, compared to $4.8 million for the same'period of 2002. The increase of $1.7 million was the result
of an increase.inthe numbet of patients undergoing treatment in our two Phase III trials. These trials were initiated in November 2001.and
June 2002. N ‘

Expenditures related to our other products in development totaled $29.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003,
compared to $23:1 million, for 2002. The increase of $6.2 million in: 2003 over 2002 was mainly the result of increased expenses for Phase
II trials of alicaforsen in ulcerative colitis, the Phase I trials for ISISi.1 13715 for type 2 diabetes and preclinical studies and initiation of a

Phase I trial of ISIS 301012 for cdr‘di‘ovascular'disease. o S o

his y o i

Ibis ekpén&fﬁirqs £t the year ended December 31, 2003 totaled $9.9 million, compared to-$8.3 million for 2002. The increase of
$1.6 million -was‘,pr’hparily rglatédv:t_i)_ Ibis' continued performance‘ obligations under its multi-year government contracts with DARPA
through our relationship with' SAIC, awarded in October 2001, and USAMRIID, awarded in March 2002, and new performance
obligations under Ibis' agreement with the CDC, awarded in Septe;hber 2003, and with various other government agencies. Included as
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Ibis expenditures were fixtures and equipment accounted for as pass-through costs that Ibis purchased for government agencies under the
contractual terms of their agreements. From June 2000 through June 2002, Ibis also received funding from its collaboration with Pfizer,
which ended in June 2002 in accordance with the terms of the agreement.

: R&D Support

R&D Support costs for the year ended December3l 2003 totaled $25. 2 mﬂhon compared t0-$21.6 rmlhon for 2002. The
increase of $3.6 million was primarily due to increases in our research and development efforts related to our efforts to prepare for the
manufacture and commercialization of Affinitak in the first quarter of 2003, our increased efforts related to our government contracts and
increased depreciation resulting from the completion  of laboratory build-outs. Our planned expense reductions initiated in, April 2003
offset, in part, the increases in our research and development efforts noted above.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2003 totaled $9.3 million compared to $8.5 million for
2002. This $800,000; increase was ‘primarily a result of an increase in employees and related benefits in the first quarter of 2003. A
reduction in the number of employees and a corresponding reductlon in-expense as a result of the restructuring in Apnl 2003 offset, in
part, the increases noted above.

Compensation Related to Stock Options

Coimpensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2003 was $913,000, compared to compensation benefit of $3.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2002. Compensation. expense for 2003 primarily consisted of expense for stock options. associated with
the employee stock option exchange program we initiated in April 2003. We accounted for options affected by the 2003 option exchange
program as variable stock options in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, or APB 25, and Financial Accounting
Standards Board Interpretation No. 44, or FIN-44. APB 25 and FIN 44 required us to account for these exchange options as variable stock
options. Variable stock options can result in significant increases and decreases in compensation expense, as a result of the variability of
our stock price. We also recordeéd nominal expense in 2003 -related to stock options granted in prior years to consultants, and we
accounted for these options in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Abstract No. 96-18, or EITF 96-18. The compensation
benefit in 2002 represented the reversal of previously recorded compensation expense for stock options accounted for as variable stock
options associated with the option exchange program we offered to non-officer employees in January 2000.

Restructuring Activities .

In April 2003, we initiated a restructuring in response to disappointing results from the first Phase I trial of Affinitak. As a
result, we had a small reduction in our workforce, which primarily represented positions that were in support of the commercialization and
manufacture of Affinitak. Consequently, we incurred a restructuring. charge of $1.8 million during the second quarter of 2003. We
completed the utilization of the reserve related to this restructuring in the fourth quarter of 2003.

In November 2002, we announced the termination of our functional genomics database product offering and the reorganization
of our functional genomics program. As a result, we reduced our workforce by approximately 25 people. The restructuring plan included
the write-down of certain intellectual property valued at $605,000. As a result of this plan, we.incurred a one-time charge of $1.4 million
for restructuring activities in the fourth quarter of 2002. We did not recognize any additional restructuring related charges for the year
ended December 31, 2003, and completed utilization of the reserve related to this restructuring in the fourth quarter of 2003.

Equity in Loss of Affiliates

In late 2002, Elan concluded its participation in the Orasense and HepaSense collaborations in conjunction with its restructuring
efforts. As a result, we regained all rights to ISIS 104838, the compound that Elan and we were developing within Orasense. We also
regained all rights to ISIS 14803, the compound that Elan and we were developing within HepaSense.

We did not have equity in loss of affiliates for the year ended December 31, 2003. As mentioned previously, we used the equity
method of accounting for our investments in Orasense and HepaSense in 2002. As a result, we recognized 80.1% of the total loss reported
by Orasense and HepaSense as equity in.loss of affiliates during 2002. Our equity in loss of affiliates for the year ended December 31,
2002 consisted of $9.5 million for Orasense and $6.5 million for HepaSense.




Investment Income :

lnvestment income for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 was $5.1 million and $8 5 million, respectlvely The
$3.4 million decrease in investment income in 2003 compared to 2002 was.primarily due to our lower cash, cash equivalents and short-
term investments balances in 2003 compared to 2002, and a.decline in interest rates as a result of then current market conditions.

Interest Expensep . ' o o S ‘

Interest expense! for the year ended December 31, 2003 was $18.7 million compared to $16.6 million for the same period in
2002. The $2.1. million mcrease in'interest expense in 2003 compared to 2002 was primarily due to a higher average debt balance during
2003 than durmg 2002. The mcrease in debt compared to 2002 related pnmanly to additional drawdowns under our debt agreement with
Lilly. A decrease inthe average interest rate on-our debt offset, in part, the effect of a higher average debt balance. The decrease in the
average debt interest rate’ was prrmanly due to the retirement in May 2002 and July 2002 of higher. interest rate debt with proceeds from
the issuance, in ‘May 2002;.of our 5.'/,% convertible notes due.in:2009 and to the retirement, in the fourth quarter of 2003, of higher
interest rate debt with proceeds from our $32.0 million term loan from Silicon Valley'Bank secured in December 2003. The debt retired in
the fourth quaner of 2003 consrsted of convertlble partner debt that carried interest rates ranging from 8.5% to 12%.

In 2003 $7 5 mrlllon ofthe $18.7 rrullron in interest expense did.not require cash payment: This represents the accrual of interest
expense related to: the $100.0 mrlllon {oan Lllly ‘has made available to us to fund the research collaboratron « -

. ‘,‘. ll [ ) ', [ B

Loss on Prepayment of 14% Notes N ;

For the year ended December 31, 2002, we reported a $2.3 million loss on prepayment of debt, which represented amounts
related to unamortized issuance costs, unamortized warrants and prepaid interest, on the prepayment of approximately $74.0 million of
our 14% Senior Subordmated Notes No such prepayment occurred in 2003.

Gain on Prepayment of 12% Notes ‘ ‘ _ fy o LT

In July 2002 we used $14.7 mrllron in cash to prepay $19.7 rmllron of 12% convertible debt Elan held. As a result, we reported a
$5.0 million gam on prepayment of debt for the year ended December 31 2002. No such prepayment occutred in 2003.

Net Loss Apphcable to Common Stock

For the years ended December 3L, 2003 and 2002 we reported a net loss of $95 0 million and $72.2 million, respectrvely Our
net loss appllcable to, common stock was $95.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, .and $73.3 million for 2002, including
$694,000 and $l 1 mrlhon respectrvely, of accreted drvrdends on preferred stock. The decrease in accreted dividends in 2003 from 2002
was the result of the August 2002 conversion of 120,150 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock into 656,674 shares of our
common stock, usmg‘ a conversron pnce of $12.54 per share. Included in the conversron was approxrmately $2.1 mullion in preferred stock
d1v1dends accrued in prior years., .The increase in the net loss applicable to common stock was primarily a result of the increase in loss
from operatlons ‘a non-cash loss on investments of $2.4 million related to the other-than -temporary impairment of our investments in
ATL and Hybndon and the absence of a net gam on debt extmgurshment recorded in 2002

Liquidity and Capltal Resources .

We have ﬁnanc\ed our operatrons with revenue from' research and development under collaboratrve agreements and from
affiliates. Addrtronally, we have earned licensing and royalty revenue from the sale, or licensing of our intellectual property. We have also
financed our operatlons through the sale of our equity securities and the issuance of long-term debt. From our inception through
December 3l 2004, we have earned approximately $443.1 million in revenue from contract research and development and the sale and
licensing of our mtellectual property Since we were founded, we have raised net _proceeds of approximately $593.2 million from the sale
of equity secuntles We have borrowed approxrmately $382 1 mrlhon under long—tenn debt arrangements to finance a portion of our
operations. . |, - .

[ N

i

. At December 31 2004 we had cash, cash _equivalents and short term . investments of $103.9 million, working capital of
$82.2 million and a stockholders deficit of $72.1 mrllron In companson we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of
$215.5 mrlllon Workmg caprtal of $194.0 million and stockholders’ equity of $67 2 million as of December 31, 2003. Our $100.0
million Lilly research collaboratron loan, of which $95 0 million was outstandmg as of December 31, 2004, is due in August 2005.
We can repay thrs loan at our optron in either cash or our common stock at a fixed conversron ptice of $40 per share. If we draw down
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the remaining amount available under the loan, we could repay the loan for 2.5 million shares of our common stock. Accordingly, the
outstanding balance on this loan has been classified as a long-term obligation in the current quarter. The decreases in our cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investments and working capital were due primarily to cash used to fund our operations, to purchase
property, plant, and equipment, pursue patents, and to pay our debt and capital lease obligations. In addition, we made a $10.0
million cash investment in Alnylam as part of our strategic alliance with them.

As of December 31, 2004, our debt and other obligations totaled $258.9 million, compared to $250.6 million at December
31, 2003. Our debt and other obligations at December 31, 2004 included current and long-term deferred contract revenue of
approximately $11.8 million and other contractual obligations. The increase in our debt and other obligations was primarily due to
additional draw downs from the $100.0 million interest-free loan from Lilly, which we discounted to their present value by imputing
interest on the amounts at 20% and accreting to their face value over their term by recording interest expense. The increase in debt
was partially offset by the repayment in January of convertible partner debt from Boehringer Ingleheim International BmbH, or BI, of
approximately $6.4 million, the payment of principal and interest related to our standard operating debt, and payments related to our
capital leases. We also financed $3.2 million in capital additions under our existing capital lease financing arrangement. We expect
that capital lease obligations will increase over time to fund capital equipment acquisitions required to support our business.

We will continue to use lease financing as long as the terms remain commercially attractive. Based on our current operating
plan with reasonable assumptions for new sources of revenue and cash, we believe our resources will be sufficient to meet our
anticipated requirements through at least mid 2007. The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31,
2004. The table provides a breakdown of when obligations become due. A more detailed description of the major components of our
debt is provided in the paragraphs following the table:

. Payments Due by Period (in millions)
Contractual Obligations : ' Less than ' After

(selected balances described below) Total 1 year 1-3 years  3-5 years 5 years'

Lilly Research Collaboration Loan $ 95.0 $ 950 $ — % — 3 -
5 %% Convertible Subordinated Notes $ 1250 $ — 3 — § 1250 § —
Standard Operating Debt $ 322§ 64 § 188 § 70§ —
Capital Lease and Other Obligations $ 6.7 § 42 8 23 % 02 3 —
Operating Leases ' $ 96 $ 28 $° 45§ 19 § 0.4

Our contractual obligations consist primarily of our publicly traded convertible debt and Lilly research collaboration loan.
We can repay our Lilly research collaboration loan at our option in either cash or our common stock at a fixed conversion price of $40
per share. If we draw down the remaining amount available under the loan, we could repay the loan for 2.5 million shares of our
common stock. In addition, we also have standard operating debt, capital leases and other obligations. Our standard operating debt
includes a term loan from Silicon Valley Bank and our mortgage loan payable to another bank.

In December 2003, we secured a $32.0 million term loan from Silicon Valley Bank to retire our existing debt to BI and Elan.
We amortize the term loan over sixty months. The term loan requires equal monthly payments of prmmpal plus accrued interest, and
bears interest at the prime interest rate, which was 5.25% at December 31, 2004. The loan is secured by substantially all of our
operating assets, excluding intellectual property, real estate, and certain equity investments. The loan is subject to certain liquidity
requirements, including a requirement that we maintain a minimum balance in an account at Silicon Valley Bank at all times equal to
the outstanding balance of the loan. The loan is convertible to a fixed interest rate at our option at any time at the then-applicable
prime rate plus 1.25%. We used the proceeds from the loan to pay off existing debt to Elan of $5.1 million plus accrued interest and
to BI of $22.6 million plus accrued interest, of which $6.4 million plus accrued interest we paid in January 2004. The carrying value
of the term loan at December 31, 2004 and 2003 was $26.1 million and $32.0 million, respectively.

In May 2002, we ¢ompleted a $125.0 million convertible debt offering, which raised proceeds of approximately $120.9
million, net of $4.1 million in issuance costs. The subordinated notes bear interest at 5.5%, which is payable semi-annually, and
mature in May 2009. Holders of the subordinated notes can, at any time, convert the notés into shares of common stock at a
conversion price of $16.625 per share. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the principal outstanding on the notes was $125.0 million.

In August 2001, Lilly made available to us a $100.0 million interest-free loan to fund the joint research collaboration
between the two companies. The loan is interest-free and is repayable, at our option, in cash or common stock at $40 per share at the
end of four years. The term of the loan provides for quarterly draw downs by us. As of December 31, 2004, we had drawn down
$95.0 million of the $100.0 million available. We discounted the $95.0 million loan to its present value by imputing interest on the
amount at 20%, which represented market conditions in place at the time we entered into the loan. We are accreting the loan up to its
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face value over its term by recording interest expense. The difference between the' cash received and the present value of the loan
represents value given to us by Lilly to help fund the research collaboration. We account for this difference as deferred revenue and
recognize it as revenue over the period of contractual performance. As of December 31, 2004, the balance in long-term obligations
was $83.2 mllhon ‘and the balance in deferred revenue was $11.8 mllhon

R lz - :

In addrtlon to contractual obligations, we had- outstandmg purchase orders as of December 31, 2004 for the purchase of services,
capital equrpment and matemals as part of our normal course of business.

As part ‘of our strategrc decrslon to reorgamze and refocus our resources to advance our most promising second-generation
drugs and to continue the development of antisense technology, we decided to close our research and development laboratory in
Singapore during the first quarter of 2005 and terminate our agreement with the Singapore Economic Development Board, or EDB. To
date, we have received $1.5 million in cash payments under our $8.0 million grant from the EDB and do not anticipate receiving any
additional payments under the: agreement. : ‘

We plan to continue to enter into more collaborat1ons with partners to provrde for additional revenue to us and we may be
required to incur addrtlonal cash expenditures related to our obligations uider any of the new agreements we may enter into. We currently
intend to use our‘cash and shoxt-term equivalents to finance our activities. However, we may also pursue other financing alternatives, like
issuing addxtlonal shares of .6urrcommon stock, issuing debt instruments, refinancing our existing debt, or securing lines of credit.
Whether we use: our ‘existing capital resources or choose to.obtain financing will depend on various factors, including the future success of
our business, the prevalhng interest rate environment and the condition of financial markets generally.

ks “‘l‘ ' NS " okl

Prospective Informatlon

Resmtcturmg Actzvmes » ' - , : v
N wf ] L » ' ‘

We expect‘ to incur additional charges relatmg to restructunng activities during the first quarter of 2005, including those
associated with employee!termination costs, the consolidation of our facilities, termination of certain contractual obligations, and the
closure of our research iand development laboratory in Singapore. We expect that our cost containment measures will significantly
decrease our cash use in 2005 as compared to 2004.

Item 7A. Quantltatlve and Quahtatlve Dlsclosures About Market RlSk

We are exposed to changes in interest rates prlmanly from our long-term debt arrangements and secondarily, investments in
certain short-term mvestrnents We invest our excess cash in hrghly liquid’ short-term investments that are typically held for the
duration of the térm of the respective instrument. We do not utilize derivative financial instruments, derivative commodity
instruments or other market risk sensitive instruments, positions or transactions to manage exposure to interest rate changes.
Accordingly, we beheve that, while the securities we hold are subject to changes in the financial standing of the issuer of such
securities, we are not subject to any material risks arising from changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity
prices, equrty pnces or other market changes that affect market risk sensmve mstruments '

[ .
ot

Item 8. ‘ Fmanclal Statements and Supplementary Data
We ﬁled our consohdated ﬁnancral statements and supplementary data requlred by this 1tem as exhibits hereto, and listed them
under Item 15(a)(1) and (2), and incorporated them herein by reference.

Item9. - " Changes in and Dlsagreements with' Accountants on. Accountmg and Financial Disclosure .
S g ‘1‘ "
There has been no reported disagreements on any matter of accountmg pnn01p1es or procedures or financial statement disclosure
in 2004 with our, Independent Auditors '

“_, v
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on our evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this report on Form 10-K, our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer have concluded that our disclosure. controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(¢)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) were effective as of December 31, 2004 to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms. :

Changes.in Internal Controls

There have been no significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect our
disclosure controls and procedures subsequent to the date of the previously mentioned evaluation.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
b
The management ‘kof Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a — 15(f). Isis’ internal control over financial reporting is a process designed
under the supervision of Isis’ Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of Isis’ financial statements for external purposes in accordance with United
States generally accepted accounting principles.

As of December 31, 2004, management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
assessed the effectiveness of Isis’ internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria for effective internal control over
financial reporting established in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework,” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
(COSO0) of the Treadway Commission. Based on the assessment, management determined that Isis maintained effectlve internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. ‘

Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004
has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their attestation report, which
is included elsewhere herein.

Report of Independent Registered P’ublic Accounting Firm on Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

To the Shareholders and the
Board of Directors of [sis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting, that Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. {the “Company”) maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO criteria™). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment about the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness
of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1)
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
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assets of the compan‘"y;: 2) p'rovide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to. permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with. duthorizations of management and- directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the ﬁnanc1a] statements. S

Because of its mherent limitations mtemal control over: ﬁnancral reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
‘prOJections of any evaluatlon of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of

changes in cond1t1ons or that the degree of compliance with the polic1es or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management s assessment that the Company maintained effective 1ntemal control over ﬁnan01al reportmg as
of December 31 '2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the. COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all, material ,respects effective internal control over ﬁnancxal reportmg as of December 31, 2004 based on the COSO
criteria. ;‘:~;“ Co ! , o

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the related consolidated statements of .
operations, stockholders equ1ty (deficit), and cash.flows for each: of the three years'in the penod ended December 31, 2004, and our
report dated March 3, 2005 expressed an unquallﬁed opimon thereon

‘ St

, o SR ..~ /s/ERNST & YOUNG LLP
San Diego, California” . . - . ’ \ S
March 3, 2005

Item 9B. Other Ini'ormation L k -

Not applicable - .
o l o PARTIII |
Item 10. . Directors and Executlve Ofﬁcers of the Registrant ’

b
“ KRy

We incorp]orateilb‘yrlreference the 1nformat10n requ1re_d by, this’ 'Item with respect to Directors and Audit Committee financial
expert by reference from.the information under the caption "Election of Directors" and "Audit Committee", respectively, contained in our
definitive Proxy. Statement (the "Proxy Statement"), which we will file on or about April 11, 2005 with the Securities and Exchange
Commission in connection with the solicitation o,f proxies for our 2004 Annual Meeting of stockholders to be held on May 26, 2005.

We incorporate by reference the requlred information conceming our Code of Ethics from ‘the information under the caption
"Code of Ethics" 'contamed 1n the Proxy Statement We have ﬁled our Code of Ethics asan exhibit to this Report on F orm 10-K.

Jtem. 1, Part [ of this Report containsthe required information _conceming our Executive Officers. We incorporate by reference
the informatien required by this Item concerning compliance with Section 16(a). of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
from the information under the caption "Section-16(a) Beneficial Qwnership Reporting Compliance" contained.in the Proxy Statement.

R i f

Item11. - Executivé Compensation .=  :. .. el
We incorporate by reference the information required by this item to the information under the caption "Executive
. Compensation and "Compensation Committee Interlock and Inmder Part1c1pat1on contamed in the Proxy Statement.

Item 12 L Security Ownershlp of Certam Beneﬁcnal Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

We incorporate by reference the information required by this itenr t6 the mformatron under the captions "Securrty Ownership of
Certain Beneﬁmal Owners and Management" and "Equlty Compensation Plan Informatlon contalned in the Proxy Statement

Y lvlt"r Lt

Lt Iy
b Sl L o " i
‘ N

47




Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table sets forth information regardlng outstandmg optlons and shares reserved for future issuance under our equity
compensation plans as of December 31, 2004.

Number of Shares Number of Shares
to be Issued Weighted Average Remaining Available
Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of for
Plan Category : Outstanding Options Outstanding Options - Future Issuance
Equity compensation plans approved by \
stockholders 3,863,000 (@) - $8.92 -~ 5,108,000 (c) .
Equity compensation plans not appr'oved‘ , | ‘ ‘ . '
by stockholders , - 4.804,000(b) $7.88 792,000
Total 8,667,000 $8.34 5,900,000
a Consists of two Isis plans 1989 Stock Optlon Plan and the 2002 Non- Ernployee Directors' Stock Option Plan.
P

(b) Consists of the 2000 Broad-Based Equity Incentwe Plan, more fully described below.

(c) Of these shares, 72,993 remained available for purchase under the 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan as of December 31,
2004. The 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan incorporates an evergreen formula pursuant to which on each January 1 for the
first 9-anniversaries, we automatically increase the aggregate number of shares reserved for issuance under the plan by the lesser
of (i) 1% of the total number of shares of Common Stock outstanding on such anniversary date or (i) 200,000 shares.

Description of 2000 Broad-Based Equity Incentive Plan

We adopted the 2000 Broad-Based Equity Incentive Plan, or the 2000 Plan, to provide our employees, officers, directors and
consultants an opportunity to benefit from increases in the value of our common stock through the granting of nonstatutory stock options,
stock bonuses and rights to purchase restricted stock. At the time we adopted the 2000 Plan, we were riot required to seek the approval of
our stockholders. The Board has delegated administration of the 2000 Plan to the Compensation Committee of the Board, and the
Compensation Committee has delegated administration of the 2000 Plan to the Non-Management Stock Option Committee with respect to
certain option grants to employees who are not our executive officers. The Board has the power to construe and interpret the 2000 Plan
and, subject to the provisions of the 2000 Plan, to select the persons to whom stock awards are to be made, to designate the number of
shares to be covered by each stock award, to estabhsh vestmg schedules, to specify the exercise price and the type of consideration to be
paid to us upon exercise or purchase.

As of December 31, 2004, the 2000 Plan had 5,596,000 shares reserved for issuance, options to purchase an éggregate of
4,804,000 shares have been granted and were outstanding under the 2000 Plan, options to purchase an aggregate of 394,000 shares have
been exercised under the 2000 Plan, and 792,000 shares remained available for grant thereunder.

Options granted under the 2000 Plan generally have a term of ten years, have an exercise price equal to the fair market value at
the time of grant, can only be exercised with a cash payment and vest at the rate of 25% per year after the first year and then at the rate of
2.08% per month thereafter during the optionee's employment or service as a consultant or term as an affiliate. Options granted pursuant
to the April 2003 stock option exchange program as discussed in Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition '
and Results of Operations," and in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, expire on December 31, 2008 and vested 33.34% on
January 1, 2004 and then at the rate of 2.78% per month durmg the optionee's employment or service as a consultant or term as an
affiliate. :

If any change is made in the common stock subject to the 2000 Plan, or subject to any stock award, without the receipt of
consideration by us (through merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization, reincorporation, stock dividend, dividend in property
other than cash, stock split,: liquidating d1v1dend combination of shares, exchange of shares, change in corporate structure or other
transaction not involving the receipt of consideration by us), we will adjust the 2000 Plan appropriately in the class(es) and maximum
number of securities subject to the 2000.Plan, and we will adjust the outstanding stock awards appropriately in the class(es) and number
of securities and price per share of common stock subject to such outstanding stock awards. Our Board will make such adjustments, and
its determination will be final, binding and conclusive. We will not treat the conversion of any of our convertible securities as a
transaction without receipt of consideration.

48




1

In the event of our drssolutlon or quurdatron all outstanding stock awards W111 terminate immediately prior to such event.

In the: event of

i &

J a"sélej, ;lease or Other disposition of all or substantially all of dur assets;
»  amerger or consolidation in which we are not the surviving corporation; or

e reverse merger in'which we are the surviving “corporation but the shares of common stock outstanding immediately
preceding the merger are converted by virtue of the merger into other property, whether in the form of securities, cash or
‘otherwrse e ‘

then any surviving ”cbrpc‘)ration or acquiring corporation will assume any stock awards outstanding under the 2000 Plan or will substitute
similar stock awards (including an award to acquire the same -consideration: paid to the shareholders in the transaction for those
outstanding under the 2000 Plan). In the event any surviving corporation or acquiring corporation refuses to assume such stock awards or
to substitute sumlar stock awards for those outstanding under the 2000 Plan, then with respect to stock awards held by participants whose
continuous service has not termmated we will accelerate the vesting of such stock awards in full (and, if applicable, the time during which
such stock awards may be exerc1sed) and the stock awards will terminate if not exercised (if applicable) at or prior to such event. With
respect to any other stock awards outstanding under the 2000 Plan, such stock awards will terminate if not exercised (if applicable) prior
to such event. In addition, as of December 31, 2004, approximately 4,804,000 stock awards granted under the 2000 plan will be
accelerated in full 1f a transaction described above occurs, even if the surviving corporation assumes such award.

Ttem 13. : Certairi Relationships and Related Transactions

We mcorporate by reference the information required by this 1tem to the information under the caption "Certain Relationships
and Related Transactrons contamed in the Proxy Statement. :

3

Item 14. E Br}incipalAccountant Fees and Services

We mcorporate by reference the information required by this item to the 1nformat10n under the caption "Ratification of Selectron
of Independent Audrtors contarned in the Proxy Statement.

r
" i

PART IV S '

N

Item15. Exhlblts and Financial Statement Schedules
@@y Index Jto‘ Finiancial Statements
We subrrritted the..consolidated financial statements required by this item in a separate section beginning on page F-1 of this
Report. ST & : ‘

@)(2) Index to Fmanclal Statement Schedules

l‘t

We omitted. these schedules because they are not‘requrred or are not appllcable or the requned information is shown in the
consolidated ﬁnancral statements or notes thereto.

@)@3) Indextoj nﬁrhibits

See lndex‘td‘Enhll’)“its 6n pages 51 through 55 o

(b) Exh1b1ts B

We hsted the exhrblts requ1red by this Item under Item 15(2)(3).

(c) Fmanclal Statement Schedules

None.




SIGNATURES

‘ Pursuant to the reqﬁirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exéhange Act of 1934, the Registrant has dﬁiy caused this
report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on the 15th day of March, 2005.

ISIS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By
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/s/ Stanely T. Crooke

Stanley T. Crooke, M.D., Ph.D.
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive

Officer (Principal executive officer)




POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Stanley
T. Crooke and B. Lynne Parshall, or any of them, his or her attorney-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, for him or her in any and
all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Report, and to file the same, with:exhibits thereto and other documents in connection
therewith, with the Securltles and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his or
her substitute or substltutes may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this teport has been signedjbelow by the following persons
on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

‘ Sighaiures i : " Title : Date
/s/ STANLEY T. CROOKE ‘ Chairman of the Board, President, ‘ March 15, 2005
Stanley T. Crooke, M.D., Ph.D. and Chief Executive Officer
" ‘ (Principal executive officer)
/s/ B. LYNNE PARSHALL R e S - Director, Executive Vice President, ‘ March 15, 2005
B. Lynne Parshall, 1D. i .~ » Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

(Principal financial and accounting officer)
/s/ SPENCER R. BERTHELSEN ' Director . March 15, 2005
Spencer R. Bérthelsen, M.D: e '

/$/ RICHARD D. DIMARCHI - L .. Director, S | ; March 15, 2005
Richard D. DiMarchi ‘

|

/s/ CHRISTOPHER E. O. GABRIELI : Director - R ' March 15, 2005
Christopher F..O..Gabrieli - ’

/s/FREDERICK T.MUTO '+ ~ Director | o ‘ March 15, 2005
Frederick T. Muto ' !

/s/ JOoHN C. REED, M.D.,PhD. = " Director : , March 15, 2005
John C. Reed, M.D., Ph.D.

/S'MARK B. SKALETSKY " Diréctor . | March 15, 2005
Mark B. Skaletsky . - | RN

/s/ JOSEPH H. WENDER Director B } March 15, 2003
Joseph H. Wender R L T S 4




‘INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit

Number Description of Document

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed June 19, 1991.(1)

3.2 Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed April 9, 2001.(19)

33 Bylaws.(19)

43 Certificate of Designation of the Series C Junior Participating Preferred Stock.(17)

44 Specimen Common Stock Certificate.(1)

4.7 Form of Right Certificate.(17) ’

4.13 Subscription, Joint Development and Operating Agreement dated January 14, 2000 among the Registrant, Elan Corporation,

‘ plc, Elan International Services, Ltd. and HepaSense, Ltd. (with certain confidential information deleted), together with the
related Securities Purchase Agreement, Convertible Promissory Note, Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock,
Registration Rights Agreement and License Agreements.(14)

4.14 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated August 17, 2001, between the Registrant and Eli Lilly and Company.(20)

4.15 Registration Rights and Standstill Agreement, dated August 17, 2001, between the Registrant and Eli Lilly -and
Company.(20)

4.16 Loan Agreement, dated August 17, 2001, between the Registrant and Eli Lilly and Company.(20)

4.17 Registration Rights Agreement, dated May 1, 2002, among the Registrant, UBS Warburg LLC, Robertson Stephens, Inc.,
Needham & Company, Inc., and Roth Capital Partners, LLC.(16)

4.18 Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2002, between the Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, National Association, as
Trustee, with respect to the $125,000,000 5 !/,% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2009.(16)

4.19 Form of 5 '/,% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2009.(16) |

10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between the Registrant and its Directors and Officers with related
schedule.(1)

10.2* Registrants 1989 Stock Option Plan, as amended.(2)

10.3*. Registrants 1992 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan, as amended.(4)

10.4* Registrants Employee Stock Purchase Plan.(10) '

10.5 Form of Employee Assignment of Patent Rights.(1)

10.6* Registrants 2000 Broad-Based Equity Incentive Stock Option Plan and related form of option agreement.(10)

10.9 Imperial Bank Note Secured by Deed of Trust dated March 24, 1997 in the amount of $6,000,000, together with the related
Deed of Trust and Assignment of Rents dated March 24, 1997.(5)

10.10 Imperial Bank Note Secured by Deed of Trust dated March 24, 1997 in the amount of $3,706,620, together with the related
Deed of Trust and Assignment of Rents dated March 24, 1997.(5)

10.11 Asset Purchase Agreement between the Registrant and Gen-Probe Incorporated dated December 19, 1997 (with certain
confidential information deleted).(6)

10.13 Patent Rights Purchase Agreement between the Registrant and Gilead Sciences, Inc., dated December 18, 1998 (with certain
confidential information deleted).(9)

10.14

Rights Agreement dated as of December 8, 2000 between the Registrant and American Stock Transfer & Trust
Company.(17) .
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Exhibit

i Description of Document

Number
10.15 Master ‘Agreement between the Registrant and Hybndon Inc., dated May 24, 2001 (wrth certain confidential information
k deleted).(19) ‘ i

10.16 Development and License Agreement, dated.August 14, 2001 between the Registrant and Eli Lilly and Company (wrth
certain conﬁdentral information deleted).(20) :

10.17 Subcontract ! Agreement -dated October 25 2001 between the. Reglstrant and Science Applications International
Corporation.(21) . { . v

10.18 -~ Master Agreement dated October 30, 2001 between the Registrant and Antisense Therapeutics Limited.(24)

10.19 Collaboratron and License Agreement dated October 30 2001 between the Regrstrant and Antisense Therapeutics Limited

: e (w1th certain conﬁdentlal information deleted).(24)

10.20 Chmeal Supply Agreement dated October 30,2001 between the Reglstrant and Antisense Therapeutrcs Limited {(with certain

L confidential mforrnatron deleted).(24) ‘

10.21 A Stock Purchase Agreement dated October 30, 2001 between the Reglstrant and Antisense Therapeutics Limited.(24)

10.22 Collaboratron and Co- development Agreement dated November 16 2001 between the Regrstrant and OncoGenex
Technologles Inc (22) s

10.23 ‘Ohgonucleotrde Manufacturing and Supply Agreement dated December 4 2001 between the Regrstrant and Integrated DNA

‘ Technologles Inc. (wrth certain confidential information deleted).(24)

10.24 Arnended and Restated IDT-Isis Licensing Agreement dated December 4, 2001 between the Registrant and Integrated DNA
Technologies Tnc. (with certain confidential information deleted).(24) * 1

10.26 License Agreement dated December 31, 2001 between the Reglstrant and Eyetech Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (with certain
conﬁdent1al mformatron deleted).(25) . R : S

10.29 Amerided and Restated Collaboration ‘Agreement dated June 17, 2002, between the Registrant and Eli Lilly and Company

B (w1th certam conﬁdennal mformat1on deleted) (27) o

10.31 Amended and Restated License Agreement among the Registrant, Orasense Ltd and Elan Corporatron Plc. dated October
24, 2002 (Wlth certain confidential 1nformatron deleted). (30) ’ ‘

10.32 Amended and Restated License Agreement among the Registrant,. Orasense Ltd. and Elan Corporatron Plc dated October
24,2002 (with certain confidential information deleted).(30)

10.35 Registrant's restated 10b5-1 Trading Plan.(29)

10.36 Registrant's 2002 Non-Employee Directors' Stock Option Plan. (3‘1) '

10.37 Reglstrant's Form of 2002 Non-Employee Directors' Stock Option Agreement (3

10.38 Wawer and Release Agreement dated Jurie 5 2003 between’ the Registrant and Elr Lrlly and Company (with certain
confidential information deleted) (32)

10.39 Amendment Number One to Development and License Agreement dated June 5, 2003 between the Registrant and Eli Lilly
and Company (wrth certain confidential information deleted) (32)

10.41 Form of Severance Agreement dated April 2003 entered into between the Registrant and its executive ofﬁcers and certain
key employees;, together with related schedule, (32)

10.42 Grant ' letter dated September 29, 2003 from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (with certain confidential
information deleted) (33) ‘

10.43* Amendment No 1 ;to Isis Pharmaceutrcals Inc 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. (33)
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Exhibit
Number

Description of Document

10.44

Loan and Security Agreement dated December 15, 2003 between the Registrant and Silicon Valley Bank, including the
related negative pledge agreement. (12)'

10.45 Grant letter dated October 31, 2003 from the Singapore Economic Development Board to ISIS Pharmaceuticals Singapore
Pte Ltd (with certain confidential information deleted) (12) :

10.47 Subcontract No: 44076514 dated February 26, 2004 between Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Science Applications
International Corporation (with certain confidential information deleted).(13) '

10.48 Strategic Collaboration and License Agreement dated March 11, 2004 between Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Alnylam
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (with certain confidential information deleted). (18) _

10.49 Investor Rights Agreement dated March 11, 2004 between Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(23)

10.50 Securities Purchase Agreement dated June 4, 2004 between Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Elan Pharmaceutical
Investments I1, 1.td.(26)

10.51 Development Agreement dated September 30, 2004 between Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the National Institute of
Allergy and Infectious Diseases (with certain confidential information deleted). (34)

10.52 Amendment No. 1 to License Agreement between Isis and Eyetech

10.53 Sale and Assignment Agreement between Isis and Drug Royalty USA, Inc., dated December 21, 2004 (with certain
confidential information deleted)

10.54 Security Agreement between Isis and Drug Royalty USA; Inc, dated December 21, 2004 (with certain confidential
information deleted)

10.55 Form of Option Agreement for Options Granted after March 8, 2005 under the 1989 Stock Option Plan

10.56 Form of Option Agreement for Options Granted after March 8, 2005 under the 2000 Broad-Based Equity Incentive Plan

10.57 Form of Option Agreement for Options Granted after March 8, 2005 under the 2002 Non—Emponee Director’s Stock Option
Plan

10.58 Collaboration and License Agreement between Isis and Sanssa dated Feb 10, 2005

141 Reglstrants Code of Ethics and Business Conduct (12)

21.1 List of Subsidiaries for the Registrant.

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

24.1 Power of Attorney. Reference is made to page 57.

31.1 Certification by Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification by Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

321 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

99.2 Form of Conﬁdentlahty Agreement.(11)

n Filed as an exhibit to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-39640) or amendments thereto and

incorporated herein by reference.

(2) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
filed with the SEC on April 12, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference.
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(10)
(1)
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(13)
(14)
as)
(16)

(17
(18)

(19)

(20)
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22)

(23)

Not used.

et . . Do ‘
Filed as an exhrbrt to the Reglstrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1996 and mcorporated
herein’ by reference v . : ; SRR :

Frled asnan exhibit to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1997 and incorporated
herein’ by reference B N

Filed'as an' ex}nbrt to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K_for the year ended December 31, 1997 and incorporated
herern by reference

Filed:as an exhrbrt ito the Registrant's.Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q- for the quarter ended June 30, 1998 and incorporated
herein by reference ”

N B
t

Flled asan exhrbrt to the Regrstrant s Quarterly Report on Forrn 10- Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1998 and mcorporated

herern by reference
" g

|
RN A

) Frled as an, exhrbrt to the Regrstrants Annual Report on. Forrn 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 and rncorporated

herem 'by. reference o

Frled as an exhibit to the Registrant's Annual Report on Forrn 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 and incorporated
herern by reference. * ‘ : . . : , .

Frled‘ as, an exhibit to the Registrant's Regrstratron Statement on FormS 3 (No 333- 71911) or amendments thereto and
mcorporated heréin by reference..- - i ; ‘ -

Filed as an exhrbrt to the Regrstrant S Annual Report Form 10-K for the year ended Dec 31, 2003 and 1ncorporated herein by
reference R A ) , ; .

}
SR

Frled as an exhrbrt to Regrstrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004 and incorporated

i

Lherern by referénce.

Frled as an exhrbrt to the Regrstrants Report on Form 8-K dated January 28, 2000, as amended on October 5 2001, and
1ncorporated herern by reference

Filed * as an: exhrblt to the Registrant's Report on Form 10- Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000 and incorporated herein by
reference ‘ ;

Filed as an exhrbrt to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No 333-89066), originally filed on May 24, 2002, or
amendment thereto and 1ncorporated by reference.

Frled as an. exhrbrt to Reglstrant s Report on Form 8-K dated December 8, 2000 and 1ncorporated herein by reference.
Fr]ed as Exhrbrt 10 24:to Alnylam Pharmaceutrcal Inc.’s Regrstratron Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-113162, and
mcorporated herein by reference. : !

R

Frled as an‘exhrbrt to the- Regrstrants report on Form 10- Q/A for the quarter ended June 30, 2001 and incorporated herein by
reference ‘ ‘

Frled as an exhrbrt to the Regrstrant s Report on Form 8- K dated August 29, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference.
Frled as 'an exhrbrt to the Regrstrant s Report on Form 8-K filed October 29, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference.
F rled as an exhrbrt to the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K filed December 12, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference.

Frled as Exhrbrt 10 25 to Alnylam Pharmaceutical Inc.’s Regrstratron Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-113162, and
1ncorporated herern by reference.
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24)
25)

@6)
@7

(28)

(29)

(30)

€

(32)

(33)

(34)

Filed as an exhibit to the Registrant's Report on Form §-K filed January 4, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as an exhibit to the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K dated January 7, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004 and incorporated
herein by reference. o

Filed as an exhibit to the Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002 and 1ncorporated herein by
reference.

Filed as an exhibit to the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K dated September 16, 2002 and 1ncorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 and mcorporated
herein by reference. .

Filed as an exhibit to the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K dated November 6, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 and incorporated
herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to the Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Filed as an exhibit to the Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004 and

incorporated herein by reference.

Indicates management compensatory plans and arrangements as required to be filed as exhibits to this Report pursuant to Item
14(c).
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REPORT OF REGISTERED INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of December 31, 2004 and 2003,
and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the three years in the.period
ended December 31, 2004. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Cornpanv s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audlts in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accountmg Ovcrs1ght Board (United States)
Those standards require that we plan and perform' the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the effectiveness of Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission and-our report dated March 3, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

San Diego, California
March 3, 2005




S . ISIS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
S ‘ | ;' CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS ~
' ‘ o (in thousands; except share data):

o " ASSETS
Current assets: A :
Cash and cash equrvalents
Short-term investments -
~ Contracts recervable
Inventory !
Other current assets o
Total current assets | ' ‘ ‘ IR
Property, plant and: equrpment net; '
Licenses, net ‘
Patents, net
Deposits and other; assets ‘
Investments in corporate secuntres
Total z)iysse_ts,” o

Lot e
St
1

N » :‘1, . i“LIAB'IL_'ITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
. Current l1ab111t1es l '

_ Accounts payable )
Accrued compensatron -
Accrued liabilities
Current portion, of long- -term obhgat1ons
Current portron of deferred contract revenue

. Total current l1ab111t1es P
51,%. convemble subordmated notes
Long-term obl1gat10ns less current portron

Long-term deferredlcontract revenue less current portion

. Stockholders equlty (deﬁc1t)
Series B Convemble Exchangeable 5% Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 4, 605 shares
authorized, no shares issued or outstanding at December 31, 2004; 16,620 shares authorized,
12,015 shares issued and; outstandmg at December 31, 2003
Accretion of Series B Preferred stock dividends
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000, 000 shares authorized 57,447, 333
and 55, 557 253 shares 1ssued and outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectwely ‘ ‘ :
Additional paid:in caprtal . N '
Deferred compensat1on ' ‘
Accumulated other ‘comprehensive income

Accumulated deﬁcrt
Total stockholders equrty (deficit) ,
Total lrablhtres and stockholders equity (deficit) .

- See accompanying notes. '

December 31,

2004 2003
$ - 27250 S 33,117
76,633 182,387
10,048 2,657
2,722 13,995
8,956 7,405
125,609 239,561
28,454 34,790
. 26,104 28,363
19,097 22,374
3,854 18,479
5,307 1,375
$ 208425 S . 334,942
$ 6967 § 3,720
3,475 4,149
8,238 . . 6,527
10,546 . 16,477
14,190 14,684
43,416 45,557
125,000 125,000
111,611 - ‘88,397
531 8,810
- 12,015
— 2,560
57 56
623,706 604,948
(72) (294)
2,623 3,476
(698,447) (555,583)
(72,133) 67,178
$ 208,425 $ 334,942




ISIS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except for per share amounts)

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Revenue:
Research and development revenue under collaborative agreements $ 32,617 $ 49467 § 67,820
Research and development revenue from affiliates — — 11,942
Licensing and royalty revenue 10,007 523 417
Total revenue ‘ » 42,624 49,990 80,179
Expenses:

- Research and development not including compensation (benefit) -
related to stock options of ($8), $673, and ($2,018) in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively 118,474 116,963 124,074
General and administrative not including compensation (benefit)
related to stock options of $2, $240, and ($984) in 2004,

2003, and 2002, respectively 9,582 9,289 8,547
Compensation (benefit) related to stock options 6) 913 (3,002)

- Restructuring activities 32,427 1,803 1,373
Total operating expenses 160,477 128,968 130,992
Loss from operations: » ‘ (117,853) (78,978) (50,813)
Equity in loss of affiliates ' ' — — (16,011)
Investment income 2,999 5,100 8,462

- Interest expense (22,592) (18,680) (16,562)
Loss on investment , (5,057) {2,438) —
-Loss on prepayment of 14% Notes — — (2,294)
Gain on prepayment of 12% Notes — ‘ — 4,976
Net loss ‘ (142,503) (94,996) (72,242)
Accretion of dividends on preferred stock (361) (694) (1,060)
Net loss applicable to common stock $ (142,864) $ (95690) $ (73,302)
Basic and diluted net loss per share - $ (252) § (173) § (1.35)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share 56,642 55,463 54,480

See accompanying notes.
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Description }
Balance at December 3‘1, 2001
Comprehensive Loss :
Net loss appllcable to common stock
Change in unrealized gains and (losses)

Comprehensive loss

Dividends accrued on preferred stock

Deferred compensation o,

Options exercised and employee stock
purchase plan

Compensation benefit relatmg to the grantmg‘
of options

Issuance of common stock

Conversion of preferred- stock mto common ‘
stock ' .
Balance at December 31 , 2002 o {' o
Comprehensive Loss ' L :
Net loss applicable to common stock
Change in unrealized gains and (losses)
Comprehensive:loss o f

Dividends accrued on preferred stock

Deferred compensation ‘

Options exercised and employee stock
purchase plan

Compensation benefit relatmg to the grantmg
of options

Balance at December 31, 2003

Comprehensive Loss
Net loss appllcable to common stock
Change in unrealized gains and (losses)

i ‘,.y.'

Comprehensive loss

Dividends accrued on preferred stock
Deferred compensation :
Options exercised and employee | stock
purchase plan ' :
Compensatron relatmg to the grantmg of
options .

Conversion of' preferred stock into common .

stock .
Balance at Decerber 31, 2004,

ISIS PHARMACEUTICALS INC:
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Years Ended VDecember 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

(in thousands)

Common stock

Prefer‘red stock Accumulated Total
) Additional other stockholders'
’ . Dividend paid in Deferred comprehensive  Accumulated equity
Shares -Amount Accretion Shares. Amount _capital . compensation 'income/(loss) deficit (deficit)

132 $24,030 $2933 53,750 $ 54 $582,258 $ (245) $ 660 $(386,591) § 223,099
— - — — — — — — (73,302) (73,302)
—_ — — — — PL— — (1,268) — (1,268)
- _ — — — — —_ — — (74,570)
— —_ 1,060 — — — — — — 1,060
— - — — — (3,188) 3,188 — - -
— — — 683 1 5,139 — — —_ 5,140
— — —_ — — e (3,002) — — (3,002)
— — — 126 _ ‘3,‘750 ’ - . —_ — 3,750
(120) (12,015 (2,127) 657 — 14,142 — — — —
© 12 $12,015 %1866 55216 $ 55 . $602,101 $ (59) $ (608) $(459,893) § 155,477
— — — — — — — — (95,690) (95,690)
- — — — — — - 4,084 — 4,084
— — —_— — — — — — — !91,606l
— — 694 — — — = — — 694
- — — — — 1,148 (1,148) — — —
— — — 341 1 1,699 — — — 1,700
— — — = — — ) 913 — — 913
12 $12,015 $ 2560 55557 % 56 $604,948 $ 294 $ ‘ 3476 . $ (55_5;583) $ 67,178
— —_ — - — — — = (142,864) (142,864)
— — — — —_ — — (853) — [853
— — — — — — — — — (143,717
— — 361 — — - - — — 361
— — — — — (228) 228 — - —
— — — 834 — 4,05 1‘ — — — 4,051
- = = = — — ® — — ©)
(12) (12,015) (2,921) 1,056 1 14,935 _ —_— — —
— 5 = $ — 57,447 $ 57 $623,706 § T $ 2,623 $(698,447) § (72,133)

See accompanying notes. :
sy - IR
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ISIS PHARMACEUTICALS; INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands) - i

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Operating activities: ‘
Net loss Lo : a $ (142,503) $ (94,996) 3 (72,242)
Adjustments toreconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities: e
Depreciation ‘ . . 8401 8,551 5,985
Amortization of patents 1,442 1,217 927
Amortization of licenses 2,327 ' 2,485 - 2,512
Compensation (benefit) related to stock options : 6) 913 . . (3,002)
Deferred interest on long-term debt . 13,049 5,369 8,634
Loss on prepayment of 14% notes — — 2,294
Gain on prepayment of 12% notes ' ) — — (4,976)
Accrued interest on prepayment of debt — — (34,706)
Equity in losses of affiliates — = 16,011
Loss on investments 5,057 2438 —
Restructuring activities 32,427 — —
Non-cash expenses related to patents and fixed assets } 2,275 2,813 1,622 ‘
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment — — ' (260)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: ‘ ) .
Contract receivable ’ : 39 12,249 (4,546)
Inventory ' o . {9,699) (2,905) (11,090)
Other current and long-term assets : : 1,373 962 © 7,106
Accounts payabie 3,247 (1,804) (2,147)
Accrued compensation (674) 819 (2,316)
Accrued liabilities 1,711 (267) ‘ 2,812
Deferred contract revenues (12,787) (33.318) (6,999 .
Net cash used in operatmg activities (101,751) 095474) (94,381)
Investing activities: )
Purchase of short-term investments \ (72,479) (152,910) (200,563)
Proceeds from the sale of short-term investments 176,147 156,943 196,075
Purchases of property, plant and eqmpment (3,526) (7,554) (36,834)
Licenses and other assets’ - o : o {6:411) (6,404) (9,536)
Strategic investments S . o o . . (10,000) — —
Investments in affiliates — (5.193) 9,511)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 83,731 (15,118)" (60,369)
Financing activities:
Net proceeds from issuance of equity ' ‘ 4,051 1,700 8,890
Proceeds from 5'/,% convertible subordinated notes ' — —_ 125,000
Proceeds from long-term borrowing 24,470 67,049 52,334
Principal payments on prepayment of debt — — (52,704)
Principal payments on debt and capital lease obligations ' (16,368) (26,896) (3,925)
Net cash provided by financing activities . 12,153 41,853 129,595
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (5,867) (68,739) - (25,155)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year - o 33,117 101,856 127,011
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 27250 § 33,117 § 101,856
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Interest paid o ] 8,990 § 12,778 8 39,333
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities: -
Additions to debt for licensing costs $ —  $ — 8 1,050
Additions to deposits and other assets from sale of equipment 5 —  $ — 8 300
Additions to other current assets from sale of equipment $ — — 3 160
Additions to long-term investment for acquired corporate securities $ — 8 750 8 —
Conversion of preferred stock into common stock $ 14934 § — 3 14,142
Decrease in inventory and deferred revenue $ — 3 8,750 $ —
Decrease in property plant and equipment and notes payable 8 — 5 21,200 § —_

See accompanying notes.
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ISIS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
.- NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Decémber 31,2004

1. OrganizatiOn and Signiﬁéant Accounting Policies
' o BEE TR - o ;
: Basis.*oﬁPrésénttzﬁ'dnf s

‘The consohdated ﬁnanmal statements mclude the accounts of Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“the Company”) and its wholly- owned
subsidiaries, Isis ‘Pharmaceutlcals Smgapore Pte Ltd., Hepasense, Ltd. ("Hepasense"), and Orasense, Ltd ("Orasense"). There were no
current operatlons or. results ‘of operations for Hepasense, Ltd. or Orasense, Ltd for the year ended December 31, 2004, -As more fully
descrlbed in Note 8 - Restructuring Activities, the Company demded to close its Smgapore operations in early 2005,

. ‘jt‘ut-‘w“\r"t,,‘;“ . ,

Organization'and \business activity

Isis.Phairmaeeutical.s was incorporated. in California on January 10, 1989. In conjunction with- its initial public offering, Isis
Pharmaceuticals fwas reorganized as a Delaware corporation, as Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Isis" or the "Company"), in April 1991. Isis
was organized 'principally to develop human therapeutic drugs using antisense and combinatorial technology.

Basic net loss per share .

Isis follows the provisionsiof Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 128 Earnings per Share. Isis computes
basic loss per share by d1v1d1ng the net loss applicable to common stock by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period ("Bas1c EPS method"). Isis computes diluted earnings (loss) per common share using the weighted-average number of
common and dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding during the period ("Diluted EPS method"). Diluted common equivalent
shares of 15.2 million at December 31, 2004 consisted of shares issuable upon exercise of stock options and convertible debt. As Isis
incurred a loss in the years:ended’ December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, Isis did not include diluted common equivalent shares in the
computation of diluted net loss per share because the effect would be anti-dilutive.

Contract revenue‘an'd expenses

Contract re‘venuet consists. of non-refundable -reséarch and' development funding and Isis records contract revenue as earned
based on the performance requirements of Isis' .collaborative research and development contracts. Isis recognizes contract fees for which
no further performance obligations'exist when Isis receives the payments or when Isis is reasonably certain it can collect the receivable.
Isis records payrnents recelved in excess -of .amounts. eamed as deferred .contract: revenue. The Company expenses research and
development costs as- mcurred For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, research and development costs of approximately
$36.3 million, $3O 2 nnlhon and $68. 3 million, respectively, were related to collaborative research and development arrangements.

Revenue‘recognitior‘zr SR S . ‘ T o
‘-ﬁ L:t : PRI : RTINS

- Isis.. recognlzes revenue' When all of 1ts contractual obhgat]ons are satlsﬁed and collectlon of the underlymg receivable is
reasonably assured IR ; ‘ j ‘ :

Research an_d development revenue under collaborative agreements- -

Isis recognizes research and development revenue under collaborative agreements as- it incurs the related expenses, up to
contractual limits. Isis defers:payments received under these agreemients that relate to future.performance and records revenue as Isis earns
it over the specified; futureaperformance period. Isis recognizes revenue that relates to nonrefundable, upfront fees over the period of the
contractual arrangements as Isis satisfies its performance obligations.. Isis recognizes revenue that relates to milestones, under existing
arrangements, ‘upon; completlon of the milestone's performance requirement.-Isis' recognizes revenue from arrangements entered into
subsequent to June 30; 2003 in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 00-21 ("EITF 00-21") Accounting for Revenue
Arrangements with Multzple Delzverables This issue addresses the timing and method of revenue recognition for revenue arrangements
that include the delivery of more than one product or service. Isis sometimes enters into revenue arrangements that contain multiple
deliverables. In these cases, Isis recognizes revenue from each element of the arrangement as long as Isis can determine a separate value
for each element Is1s has completed its obhgatton to deliver or perform on that element, and Isis is reasonably assured of collecting the

1
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ISIS PHARMACEUTICALS;, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2004

resulting receivable. Isis records revenue from federal research grants during the period in which it incurs the related expenditures. Isis
recognizes revenue from product sales as it ships the products. Isis has implemented the provisions of Staff Accounting-Bulletin No. 104
("SAB 104"}, which was issued in December 2003. SAB 104 updates portions of the interpretive guidance included in Topic 13 of the
codification of Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 in order to make this interpretive guidance consistent with current authoritative
accounting guidance and SEC rules and regulations. SAB 104 provides interpretation on selected revenue recognition issues and when
revenue is properly recognizable. Revenue should not be recognized until it is realized or realizable and earned. It must meet the
following criteria: 1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, 2) delivery occurred or services were rendered, 3) the seller's price to
the buyer is fixed or determinable and 4) collectibility is reasonably assured. :

As part of Isis' alliance with Eli Lilly and Company ("Lilly") in August 2001, Lilly provided Isis a $100.0 million interest free
loan to fund the research collaboration. As of December 31, 2004, Isis had drawn down $95.0 million on the $100.0 million loan. Isis
discounted the $95.0 million loan to its net present value by imputing interest on the amount at 20%, which represented market conditions
in place at the time Isis entered into the loan. Isis accretes the loan up to its face value over its term by recording interest expense. The
difference between the cash received and the present value of the loan represents value Lilly gave to Isis to help fund the research
collaboration. Isis accounts for this value as deferred revenue and recognizes it as revenue over the period of performance.

Research and development revenue from affiliates

In late 2002, Isis terminated its HepaSense and Orasense collaborations with Elan Corporation plc ("Elan") and as a result, Isis
no longer earns revenue from these collaborations.

Licensing and royalty revenue

Isis recognizes licensing and royalty revenue immediately, if collectibility is reasonably assured, and if Isis is not required to
provide services in the future. N : : .

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject Isis to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents, short-term
investments.and receivables.. Isis places its cash equivalents and certain of its short-term investments with high credit-quality financial
institutions. Isis invests its excess cash primarily in auction and money market instruments, and municipal and floating rate bonds. Isis and
its audit committee established guidelines relative to credit ratings, diversification and maturities that seek to maintain safety and liquidity.

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments

Isis considers all liquid investments with maturities of ninety days or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. Isis' short-term
investments have initial maturities of greater than ninety days from date of purchase. Isis classifies its securities as "available-for-sale" in
accordance with SFAS 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. Isis carries these investments at fair market
value with any unrealized gains and losses recorded as a separate component of stockholders' equity. Fair value is based upon market
prices quoted on the last day of the fiscal quarter. Isis uses the specific identification method to determine the cost of debt securities sold.
Isis includes gross realized gains and losses in investment income and these amounts have not been material. During the third quarter of
2004, Isis recorded a non-cash loss on investments of $5.1 million, principally related to the impairment of the Company's equity
investment in Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc ("Alnylam"), compared to.a non-cash loss on investments of $2.4 million in 2003 related to
the impairment of investments in Antisense Therapeutics Limited ("ATL") and Hybridon, Inc. ("Hybridon"). The 2004 loss -on
investments reflected a decrease in the market value of Alnylam’s stock in 2004, which Isis believes was primarily a result of financial
market conditions related to biotechnology companies. In the fourth quarter of 2004, Isis recorded a net unrealized gain of $1.4 million
related to its equity investment in Alnylam as a separate component of stockholders' equity. This reflected the increase in the market value
of the investment since the impairment in the third quarter of 2004. '
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ISIS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31,2604

[nvento‘ry valuation

- Isis’, mventory includes’ drugs with alternative .uses that are used pnmanly for its clinical development activities and drug

products it manufactures for, its: ‘partners under contractual terms. Isis.states its inventory at the lower of cost or market, with cost
determined under the first-in, first-out method. Isis reviews inventory periodically.and reduces the carrying value of items considered to
be slow moving or obsolete to their estimated net realizable value. In the second quarter of 2003, Isis reduced the carrying value of its raw

materials related to Affinitak to, zero In the fourth quaner of 2004, Isis reduced the carrying value of its inventory by $21.0 million (Note
8-- Restructurmg Activities).

Inventory 1nc1udes the followmg categones as of December 31 2004 and 2003 (net realizable value in thousands):

N " e b g5

e
Py
Lt

- . December 31,
L L £2004 2003 .

Rawmatérials - % 139§ 156
Workmprocess R - _ ‘f ‘ 9.920
Fmrshed‘goods o ' © 1393 2,549

$ 272 $ 13,995

.t

Property, plant and equipment - S B
i t ORI

Property, pla‘.nt and equipment is stated at cost and consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

S o ‘ 2004 . 2003

Land . v $  L163 § 1,163,

Bu11d1ngs and unprovements 30,305 29,859

Equipment and computer software ‘ 27,234 49,108

Fumniture and fixtures . 1,959 3,356 °
S ' : | - 60,661 83,486

Less accumulated depreciation ~(32,207) (48,696)

Lo 0. 87284548 34790

During 2003, Isis r‘educeu to zero approximately $21.2 million in bui'l"dings, building improvements and equipment related to the

debt repayment waiver Lilly granted Isis for amounts Lilly loaned Isis to fund the construction of a new manufacturing suite dedicated to
the commercial production of Affinitak. (Note 6—Collaborative Arrangements and Licensing Agreements). In the fourth quarter of 2004,
Isis recorded a net write-down of $1.2 million for excess or idle property and equipment, consrstlng of $2.9 million less accumulated
deprecation of $1 7 mullion: (Note 8 -- Restructuring Actzvztzes) KRR i ~ ‘

rjw;‘r FIREE ,H

Deprecranon of propezty, plant and equrpment is provrded on the strarght-hne method over estimated useful lives as follows: .

y
‘»“. . . v : '

Buﬂdmg e 315years L
Col Burldmg nnprovements f S S years !

Manufacturing facilities’ + - oo 0 10 years S

Equlpment o “'v,rr o S o 5‘years‘ i b

Computer soﬁware \ , ‘ 3 years

Fumrture ‘and ﬁxtures ‘ ‘ 5 years

Leasehold 1mprovements are deprec1ated usmg the shorter of the estlmated useful life or remaining 1ease term.

’;r i . . TR N




ISIS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2004

Licenses

Isis obtains licenses from third parties and capitalizes the cost related to exclusive licenses. Isis' license from Hybridon comprises
the majority of the license balance as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002. Isis amortizes capitalized licenses over their estimated useful
life or term of the agreement, which for current licenses is between nine years and 15 years. Accumulated amortization related to licenses
was $9.8 million and $7.5 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Based on existing. licenses, estimated amortization
expense related to licenses is $2.3 million for each of the years ending December 31, 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009. ‘

Patents

Isis capitalizes costs consisting principally of outside legal costs and filing fees related to obtaining patents. Isis reviews its
capitalized patent costs regularly to determine that they include costs for patent applications Isis is pursuing. Isis evaluates costs related to
. patents that the company is not actively pursuing for impairment and writes -off any of these costs, if appropriate. Isis amortizes patent
costs over their estimated useful lives of 10 years, beginning with the date the patents are issued. The weighted average remaining life of
issued patents was 6.1 years and 6.5 years at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. In the fourth quarter of 2004, Isis recorded a
non-cash charge of $6.1 million related to the write-down of its patent costs to their estimated net realizable values (Note § --
Restructuring Activities). ' ' ‘

Accumulated amortization related to patents was $5.4 million and $4.4 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Based on existing patents, estimated amortization expense related to patents is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending Amortization

December 31, (in thousands)
2005 $1,362
2006 $1,318
2007 $1,184
2008 $1,062-
2009 $ 966

Investment in affiliates

Isis uses the equity method of accounting to account for its investments in 50% or less owned companies over which it has the
ability to exercise significant influence. Isis also accounted for investments in its joint ventures, Orasense and HepaSense, using the equity
method of accounting. At December 31, 2003, Isis had the following investments accounted for using the equity method:

Orasense and HepaSense,

In April 1999 and January 2000, Isis and Elan formed Orasense, Ltd. and Hepasense, Ltd., respectively, both Bermuda limited
companies. Each joint venture was owned 80.1% by Isis and 19.9% by Elan. While Isis owned 80.1% of the outstanding common stock
of Orasense and HepaSense, throughout the respective terms of the collaborations related to the joint ventures, Elan and its subsidiaries
retained significant minority investor rights that were considered "participating rights" as defined in EITF 96-16. Accordingly, Isis
accounted for its investment in each joint venture under the equity method of accounting for the year ended December 31, 2002. In 2002,
Elan concluded its participation in both the Orasense and HepaSense collaborations. In June 2004, Isis entered into an agreement with a
subsidiary of Elan to acquire Elan’s minority interest in Orasense and HepaSense. As a result, Isis owned 100% of Orasense and
HepaSense at December 31, 2004 (Note 6—Collaborative Arrangements and Licensing Agreements).

Fair value of financial instruments
Isis has determined the estimated fair value of its financial instruments. The amounts reported for cash, accounts receivable,

accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate the fair value because of their short maturities. Isis reports its investment securities at
their estimated fair value based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments.
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Long-lived assets * ... -

[sis periodically. evaluate's carrying values of long-lived assets including property, plant and equipment and intangible assets,
when events and c1rcumstanees indicate that these assets may have been impaired. Isis has adopted SFAS 144, Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-szed Assets For the year ended December 31, 2002, Isis recorded an impairment charge of $605,000 for the write-
down of intellectual property related to the restructuring of the- GeneTrove program. In the fourth quarter of 2004, Isis recorded a charge
of $11.5 million related to the ‘write-down of equ1pment and intangible assets 't0  their estimated net realizable values (Note § --
Restructuring Activities)., . :

Use of estimates il

The preparation of consolidated ﬁnanc1al statements in conformity wrth accountmg prmclples generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements
and accompanyrng notes. Actual résults could differ from those estimates.

Consolidation of vatiable interest entities

Isis has 1mplemented the prov1srons of Fmancral Accounting Standards Board Interpretat1on (“FIN”) No. 46, Consolidation of
Variable lnterest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. ‘51, which addresses consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest
entities either: (1) that. do not have sufficient equity investment .at risk to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional
subordinated financial support or (2) in which the equity. investors lack an essential characteristic of a controlling financial interest. As of
December 31, 2004, Isis had: al collaborative artangement with Ercole Biotech, Inc. (“Ercole™), a development stage bropharmaceutlcal
company developing drugs based on RNA splicing technology. Isis considers Ercole to be a Variable Interest Entity (“VIE”) under the
provisions of FIN No. 46. Pursuant to the terms of a Note and Warrant Purchase ‘Agreement (the “Agreement "), during 2003 and early
2004, Isis made cash payments to. Ercole of $500,000 and $250,000 respectively, in exchange for a convertible promissory note (the
“Note™). Isis expensed the - payments when made. The Note is secured by all of Ercole’s assets, including intellectual property and
licenses, and w111 convert into secuntles that Ercole 1ssues ina quahﬁed ﬁnancmg, as defined by the Agreement. Isis is not required to
consolidate Ercole s results of operatlons under FIN No 46

Stoek—base\t{' 'competts‘ation‘ ' \

In January 2000, Isis offered non-officer employees an opportunity to exchange certain of their existing out-of-the-money stock
options for new options with exercise prices at the then-current market value. These options are required to be accounted for as variable
stock options in accordance with Financial Interpretatlon No. 44 ("FIN 44"), Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock
Compensatzon——an Interpretatzon of APB Opmzon No. 25. Isis reported the resultmg compensation expense in the statement of operations.
Variable stock optlons can result in significant increases and decreases in compensatron expense, subject to the variability of Isis’ stock
price. As of December 31, 2002 optlonholders had exchanged all of these optrons or the options had expired. As of December 31, 2004
all of the exchanged, unex_prred opt1ons were fully vested. o

In Apnl 2003 Tsis 1mplemented an employee stock optron exchange program ( '2003 option exchange program") to maintain one
of Isis' key assets, its employee base in a manner that was sensitive to shareholder interests. The 2003 option exchange program allowed
employees during the offering period, which began on April 8, 2003 and ended on May 8, 2003, to surrender options, granted prior to
January 5, 2002, which had higher exercise prices, in exchange for a lesser number of options, which had lower exercise prices.
Employees exchanged 2.2 million options having a weighted-average exercise price of $14.89 for 1.0 million options having an exercise
price of $5.15. The new options vest over three years beginning on January 1, 2003 and expire on December 31, 2008. Isis accounts for
the affected options, until all these options have been exercised or cancelled, Using variable accounting consistent with the provisions of
APB 25 and FIN 44. As a result, Isis recorded non-cash compensation benefit of $8,000 in 2004 and non-cash compensation expense of
approximately $886,000 in 2003 and will continue to account for the affected options using variable accounting. These amounts are
included in Compensatlon (benefit) related to stock options on the Consolidated Statements of Operations with compensation expense
related to non- employee opttons of $2,000 and $27 000 for 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Isis has adopted the disclosure-only provrs1on of SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation ("SFAS 123").
Accordingly, Isis has not recognized compensation expense, except primarily for compensation expense related to the affected options
from the 2000 and 2003 option exchange programs, for the Isis stock option plans and the employee stock purchase plan ("ESPP").
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Had Isis determined compensation expense consistent with SFAS 123, Isis would have reported the following proforma amounts
for net loss and basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands, except per share amounts):

2004 2003 2002

Net loss applicable to common stock—as reported $ (142,864) §  (95,690) $  (73,302)
Net loss applicable to common stock—pro forma §  (150,045) $ +(101,099) §  (95,329)
Basic and diluted net loss per share~—as reported $ (2.52) % (1.73) $ (1.35)
Basic and diluted net loss per share—pro forma $ (2.65) $ (1.82) § (1.75)

For purposes of proforma disclosures, Isis estimated the fair value of each option grant and ESPP purchase rights on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

Stock Options ESPP
‘ 2004 2003 2002 2004 12003 2002
Risk free interest rate 4.2% 4.3% 3.8% 4.2% 4.3% 3.8%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Volatility ‘ h 624% = 695% 78.7% 57.2% 49.5% 80.9%
Expected Life 6.4 years 6.2 years 5.4 years 6 months 6 months 6 months

The weighted average fair value of options granted was $6.58 for 2004, $5.70 for 2003, and $11.34 for 2002. The weighted
average fair value of the ESPP purchase rights was $4.67, $4.46, and $5.60 for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Comprehensive income (loss)

SFAS 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income ("SFAS 130") requires Isis to display comprehensive income (loss) and its
components as part of Isis' full set of consolidated financial statements. The measurement and presentation of net income (loss) did not
change. Comprehensive income (loss) is comprised of net income (loss) and certain changes in equity that are excluded from net income
(loss). Specifically, SFAS 130 requires unrealized holding gains and losses on Isis' available-for-sale securities, which Isis reported
separately in stockholders' equity, to be included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Comprehensive income (loss) for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 has been reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity.

Segment Information

Isis operates in two separate segments; Drug Discovery and Development and its Ibis division. In accordance with SFAS
131, Disclosure about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, Isis provides segment financial information and results for
Drug Discovery and Development and its Ibis division based on the segregation of revenues and expenses used for management’s
assessment of operating performance and operating decisions. Expenses shared by the segments require the use of judgments and
estimates in determining the allocation of expenses to the two segments. Different assumptions or allocation methods could result in
materially different results by segment. Isis does not include asset or liability information by reportable segment since Isis does not
currently segregate this information by segment and it is not used for purposes of making decisions about allocating resources to the
segments and assessing their performance.
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Impact of recently issued accounting standards " .. Lo e, Lyt

On. December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS 123(R), Share-Based Payment
(“SFAS 123(R)”), which is a revision of SFAS 123. Generally, the approach in SFAS 123(R) is similar to the approach described in
SFAS 123. However, SFAS 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be
recognized in the income statement based on their fair values. Pro forma. disclosure. is no longer an alternative. This statement also
eliminates the ability to account for share-based compensation transactions using APB Opinion No. 25. The statement is effective at the
beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2005. Early adoption will be permitted in periods in which financial
statements have not yet been 1ssued Isis expects to adopt SFAS 123(R) on July 1, 2005

SFAS 123(R) perrmts pubhc companies to adopt its requirements using"one of two methods: 1) A “modified prospective”
method in which compensatlon cost is recognized begmmng with thé effective date (a) based on the requirements of SFAS 123(R) for all
share-based payments granted after the effective date and (b) baséd on the requirements of SFAS 123 for all awards granted to employees
prior to the' effective’ date 'of SFAS 123(R) that remain unvested on the effectlve date, 2) A “modified retrospective” method which
includes the requ1rements ‘of 'the modified prospective method described above, bt also permits entities to restate based on the amounts
previously recognized under SFAS 123 for purposes of pro forma disclosures either (a) all prior periods presented or (b) prior interim
periods of the year of adoption. Isis plans to adopt SFAS 123 no later than July 1, 2005, but has not yet determined what method it will
use. o ‘ et o B ' '

As permitted by, SFAS'123; Isis currently accounts for share-based payments to employees using Opinion 25’s intrinsic value
method and, as’ such, generally recognizes no compensation cost for employee stock options. Accordingly, the adoption of SFAS
123(R)’s fair value method may- have a significant impact on its results of operations, although it will have no impact on its overall
financial posttion. The impact of adoption of SFAS 123(R) cannot be predicted at this time because it will depend on levels of share-based
payments granted' in 'the future However, had Isis adopted SFAS 123(R) in prior periods, the impact of that standard would have
approximated the 1mpact of SFAS 123 as described in the disclosure of pro forma net income and earnings per share in Note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements SFAS 123(R) also requlres the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to
be reported as a ﬁnancmg ‘cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as required under current literature. This requirement will
reduce net operanng cash ﬂows and'increase net financing cash flows in periods after adoption. While Isis cannot estimate what those
amounts will b in the future as a result of its accumulated losses to date, Isis has not recognized a beneﬁt of tax deductions in excess
of recognlzed compensauon cost in operatmg cash ﬂows

In November 2004 the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs (“SFAS 151”), an.amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter
4. This statement amends the .guidance in ARB No. 43 Chapter 4, Inventory Pricing, to clarify the accounting for abnormal amounts
of idle facxhty expense, frelght ‘handling costs and wasted material (spoilage). Paragraph 5 of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, previously
stated that “ . . . under some circumstances, items such as idle facility expense, excessive spoilage, double freight, and rehandling
costs may be S0 abnormal 10 require treatment as current period charges . . .” This statement requires that those items.be recognized as
current-period charges regardless of whether they meet the criterion of so abnormal.” In addition, this statement requires that
allocation of fixed productlon overheads to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. The
provisions of thls statement will be effective for 1nventory costs, during the fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. Isis does not
believe that the adoptlon of th1s statement will have a material impact on its financial condmon or results of operations.

In March 2004, the FASB 1ssued EITF 03-1, The Meanzng of 0ther—T/1an Temporary Impairment and fts Application to Certain
Investments. EITF 03-1, which was originally effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2004 requires a
three-step model to determine other-than-temporary impairments for all current and future investments in marketable securities. In
September 2004, the FASB delayed the requirement to record impairment losses under EITF 03-1 until new guidance is issued. Isis does
not expect that the adoptlon of EITF 03-1 will have a material impact on its operating results and financial position.

2. Investm‘ents | o
R : L . . .

Isis invests;litslex‘ce'ss' cash in United'States Government securities and debt instruments of financial institutions and corporations
with strong credit ratings. Isis has established guidelines relative to diversification and maturities that maintain safety and liquidity. These
guidelines are penodlcally reviewed and modified to maximize trends in yiélds and interest rates without compromising safety and
liquidity. t '
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The following table summarizes the contract maturity of debt securities held by Isis as of December 31, 2004:

Less than 1 year 55%
1- 3 years _ 35%
3 -5 years ' . 6%
Total S 100%

Isis has an ownership interest of less than 20% each in three public and two private companies it conducts business with, and
accounts for them under the cost method of accounting according to APB 18. The companies include Alnylam, ATL and Hybridon, which
are publicly-traded, and Santaris Pharma A/S ("Santaris") and OncoGenex Technologies, Inc. ("OncoGenex"), which are privately-held.
In determining if and when decreases in market value of Isis’ equity positions below their cost are other-than-temporary, Isis examines
historical trends in stock prices, the financial condition and near term prospects of the issuers, and Isis' current need for cash. When Isis
determines that a decline in value is other-than-temporary, Isis recognizes an impairment loss in the current period operating results to the
extent of the decline. See Note J—Organzzatzon and . Significant Accounting Policies for a discussion of impairment losses incurred in
2004 and 2003.

The following is a summary of Isis' investments accounted for as available-for-sale securities (in thousands):

December 31,2004 . : Unrealized
Maturity Amortized . Estimated Fair
- . in Years Cost Gains Losses Value -
" U.S. corporate debt securities : lorless § 27,564 $ — $ (121 $ 27,443
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. :
government agencies 1 or less 14,715 — (98 14,617
Total short-term investments - 42,279 — (219) 42,060
U.S. corporate debt securities lto2 - 6,715 —_— 47 . 6,668
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. :
government agencies 1to3 28,169 — (264) 27,905
Equity securities — 8,367 3,282 (129) 11,520
‘ ' Total long-term investments 43,251 3282 - (440) 46,093

$ 85530 § 3282 $§ (659) § 88,153

December 31, 2003 R Unrealized
‘ ‘ E Maturity ~Amortized ' . Estimated Fair
: in Years Cost. . Gains Losses ~ Value
U.S. corporate debt securities ' lorless $§ 40,112 $§ 147 §$ (6) $ 40,253
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. : ' C ‘
government agencies 1 or less 26,286 116 — 26,402
' Total short-term investments ‘ 66,398 263 (6) 66,655
U.S. corporate debt securities ’ l1to2 50,793 487 - (16) 51,264
U.S. Treasury securities and obhgatlons of U.S. " : :
government agencies lto5 164,442 173 (147) 64,468
Equity securities; ‘ — 3,424 2,722 — 6,146
Total long-term investments 118,659 3,382 (163) 121,878

, $ 185,057 $§ 3,645 § (169) § 188,533
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Investments consxdered to. be' temporanly 1mpa1red at December 31, 2004 are.as follows

It

Less than 12 Months of Greater than 12 Months Total temporary

: temporary impairment  of temporary impairment impairment
‘Number of Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair  Unrealized
S Investments  Value Losses * . ' Value Losses Value  Losses

USS. corporate debt securities 29 T Tsang s (168) 8 — — 31922 (168)
U.S. Treasury secuntres and obhgatlons of 1 c . ‘ o

USs. government agencies | 2 267147 | (205) 14,408 - (157) 41,122~ (362)

o TotalDethecuntles 758 58636 (373) 14408~ (157) 73,044 (530)

Equity securitiés e . : R 474 L) — — 474 (129)

Total temporanly 1mpa1red securities 59 $ 59,110 $ ‘,(502‘) $ 14,408 (157) 73,518 (659)

Isis beheves that the dechne in value is temporary and primarily related to the change in market interest rates since purchase.
Isis antrcrpates full fecovery of amortized cost W1th respect to these securltres at matunty or-sooner in the event of a change in the
market interest fate env1ronment i : t
sl o I N ' P T s - i
3 Long-Term’"Obligations and Commitments e A
: R N T A N L ’ o
Long-term‘obligations consisted of the following (i thousands):

December 31, -
‘ o 2004 ,j 2003
ZVConvertrble pa}merdebt T , - , o ,_\."" S -
Eli Lilly h SR o L % 95000 3 73,750 4
Boehrmger[nglehezm . S o - . 6,376 ‘
Total convertible partner debt - .. . $. ¢ .95,000- - $ . 80,126
Standard operatmg debt , - R C e 32,18] . 38392
517,%. convertible subordlnated notes L B 125,000 - 125,000
Capital leases and other obligations S j ’ o 6,741 K 7,116. .
Total RIS I | 8 - 258922 8 250,634
Less: current portron - < o o (10546) (16,477) -
Less: Eli Lilly'debt classrﬁed as defeited tevenue - ' (IL765) _(20,760)
TotalLong-TermObhgatrons o 8 2366l § . 213,397
' : oty :
ConvertiblePartner Debt .
Lilly

Tn. August 2001, Lilly made available to Isis a $100.0 million loan facility to fuind joint research between the two companies. The
loan is interest-free: ahd! payable at Isis' option, in cash or common stock at $40 per share in August 2005. The loan facility provides for
quarterly draw-downs by Isisin’ varying amounts. As of December 31,- 2004 and 2003, Isis had drawn down $95.0 million and
$73.8 million, respectlvely Isrs accounts for this loan using an imputed interest rate of 20%, consistent with market conditions in'place at
the time the loan agreement wwas entered into. Isis carries the net present value of the draw-downs as a long-term obligation and records
interest expense over the term.of the loan: The difference between the cash:received and the present value of the loan represents value
Lilly gave Isis to help fundithe, research collaboration. Isis accounts for this difference as deferred revenue and recognizes it as research
and development revenue under collaborative agreements over the period of performance. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the balance in -
long-term obhgatrons related to this loan was $83.2 million and $53.0 million, respectively, and the balance in deferred revenue was
$11.8 million: and $20.8 mrlhon respectively. Isis can repay this loan at its optron in either cash or our common stock at a fixed
conversion pnce of $40 per share If Isis draws down the remarnmg amount availablé under the loan, it could repay the loan for 2.5
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million shares of Isis common stock. Accordingly, the outstanding balance on this loan has been.classified as a long-term obligation
on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

Elan

During 1999 and 2000, in conjunction with the HepaSense and Orasense joint ventures, Elan made available to Isis credit
facilities of up to $30.4 million, evidenced by convertible promissory notes. The terms of these notes provided for interest at 12%
annually, with maturities through January 2006. The notes were convertible into the common stock of Isis at any time by either party, as
defined by the underlying agreements. In July 2002, Isis prepaid $19.7 million of the then-outstanding debt with $14. 7 million in cash,
resulting in a gain of approximately $5.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. As of December 31, 2002, there was $7.2 million
outstanding under the Orasense credit facility. Isis paid these borrowings in full from the proceeds of the Company's term loan with
Silicon Valléy Bank in December 2003. Isis can no longer borrow funds against these credit facilities.

Boehringer Ingelheim

During 1997 and 1996, Isis borrowed a total of $22.6 million under a $40.0 million line of credit made available pursuant to the
terms of its collaborative agreement with Boehringer Ingelheim (“BI”). Borrowings under the line of credit bore interest at the seven year
United States interbanking rate plus 2.0%, determined at the time each advance was made, and ranged from 8.36% to 8.46%. Principal
borrowings were repayable in cash or Isis common stock, at the option of Isis. In October 2003, Isis repaid, in cash, the first installment of
$8.3 million, plus interest. Isis repaid the remaining principal installments of $7.9 million, plus interest, and $6.4 million, plus interest, in
December 2003 and January. 2004, respectively, using the proceeds of the Company's term loan with Silicon Valley Bank.

Standard Operating Debt

In December 2003, Isis obtained a $32.0 million term loan from Silicon Valley Bank. The term loan is secured by substantially
all of Isis' operating assets, excluding'intellectual property, real estate, and certain equity investments. The term loan bears interest at the
prime rate (5.25% at December 31, 2004), is payable in equal monthly payments of principal and interest, matures in December 2008, and
is convertible at the election of Isis to a fixed rate at the then-applicable prime rate plus 1.25%. The term loan is subject to certain'llquidity
and other covenants, mcludmg a requirement that Isis' maintain a minimum balance in an account at the lending bank at all times equal to
the outstanding balance of the loan. Isis was in compliance with these covenants as of December 31, 2004 and 2003. Isis used the
proceeds of the loan to pay off the Elan and BI partner debt in late 2003 and early 2004. The carrying value of this loan at December 31,
2004 and 2003 was $26.1 million and $32.0 million, respectlvely, which approximated fair value. :

In December 2002, Is1s obtained a credit fac1hty ev1denced by promissory notes of up to $6.7 million from a bank to refinance
two existing notes. The loan is secured by Isis' real property and bears interest at the prime rate plus 0.5% (5.75% at December 31, 2004),
is payable in monthly payments of principal and interest, with the final principal payment due on December 2006. Isis borrowed its final
installment of $998,000 on this loan in January 2003. The carrying value of this loan at December 31, 2004 and 2003 was $6.1 million
and $6.4 million respectively, which approximated fair value.

Convertible Subordinated Notes

In May 2002, Isis completed a $125.0 million convertible debt offering, which raised proceeds of approximately $120.9 million,
net of $4.1 million in issuance costs. Isis includes the issuance costs in the balance sheet under Deposits-and Other Assets and is
amortizing these issuance costs to interest expense over the life of the debt. The subordinated notes mature in 2009 and bear interest at
5.5%, which is payable semi-annually. The notes are convertible, at the option of the note holders, into approximately 7.5 million shares
of common stock at a conversion price of $16.625 per share. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the principal. and accrued interest
outstanding on the notes was $125.0 million and $1.1 million, respectively. The fair value of the subordinated. notes. was $104.9 million
and $101.2 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Isis did not include these convertible notes in the computatxon of
diluted net loss per share because the effect would be anti-dilutive..

F-16




‘ ISIS PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December-31, 2004

Isis used a portion of'the net proceeds from the convertible notes to prepay amounts outstanding on its 14% Senior Subordinated
Notes, and certain obligations under its credit facilities with Elan. These early debt retirements resulted in a $2.3 million loss on
prepayment of 14% Notes and a $5.0 million gain on prepayment of 12% Notes, and are included as such on the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of'Operations for the year ended December 31, 2002.
: f N : '

Capital Leases and Other Oblngatlons

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, Isis had approx1mately $5 8 million and $6.3 million outstanding, respectively, under various
capital equipment leases which bear interest at rates ranging from 5.64% to 9. 82% and mature at various dates through 2008. At
December 31, 2004:and 2003, Isis had approximately $900,000 and $860,000, respectlvely, under various contractual obligations, of
which $700,000 represented. amounts due to Integrated DNA Technologies, Inc. (”IDT”) as part of the supply agreement entered into in
December 2001 (Note 6—Collaboratzve Arrangements and. chenszng Agreements)

Annual debt and other ob11gat1on maturities at December 31,2004 are as follows (m thousands):

2005 . $ 105‘,546

2006 t 13,533
2007 | 7,555
2008 7,288
2000 oo . 125,000
Tow 08 258922

 TIsis leases equlpment and certain office and lab space under non cancelable operatmg and capital leases with terms through
May 2010. Two of the bu11d1ng leases have two extension options for five years, each Annual future minimum payments under capital
and operating leases as of December 31, 2004 are as follows (in théusands):.

T i I
B

“‘;3 i T . Operatmg ‘ Capltalj
- S Leases - Leases
2005 . %8 27598 3,735
2006 D : 2,802 1,571
2007 1,705 869
2008 - SR L | . o993 190
2009 SIS o + 920 T
Thereafter . - 391 —
Total m1mmurn payments -8~ 9570 g 6,365 -
Less amount: representing interest (524)
Present value of future minimum payments $ 5,841
Less current pomon‘ ' < , (3,408)
L Long-termpomon ' ‘ o8 l2 A33

Rent: expense for the years ended December 31 2004 :2003, and 2002 ‘was $3.1 million, $3.2 million, and $2. 9rrulhon
respectively. Cost of equlpment ‘under capital leases at December 31, 2004 and 2003 was $23.9 million and $20.7 million, respectively.
Accumulated deprecxatlon of equlpment under capital leases at December 31, 2004 and 2003 was apprommately $16.9 million and
$13.6 million, respectwely '
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4, . Stockholders Equlty

Preferred Sfock

Isis is authorized to issue up to 15,000,000 shares of "blank check” Preferred Stock. As of December 31, 2004, there were no
Series A Convertible Exchangeable 5% Preferred Stock or Series B Convertible Exchangeable 5% Preferred Stock shares issued or
outstanding. Series C Junior Part1c1pat1ng Preferred Stock 1s des1gnated but not outstandmg

Series B Convertzble Exchangeable 5 % Preferred Stock

In June 2004, the holder of the Cornpany s Series B Convertible Exchangeable Preferred Stock transferred its shares to a third
party. Immediately upon transfer, these shares converted into 1,055,502 shares of Isis common stock, eliminating the 5% in-kind
dividend, thereby reducing future dilution of approximately 86,000 shares of Isis common stock. Isis also cancelled a warrant the holder
of the Company’s Series B Convertible Exchangedble Preferred Stock held to purchase 14,881 shares of Isis common stock. In
addition, a warrant the holder of the Company’s Series B Convertible Exchangeable Preferred Stock held to purchase 215,000 shares of
Isis common stock expired unexercised in April 2004. ‘

Series C Junior Participating Preferred Stock

In December 2000, Isis adopted a Preferred Share Purchase Rights Plan (the "Plan"). The Plan provides for a dividend
distribution of one preferred stock purchase right (a "Right") for each outstanding share of Isis common stock, par value $0.001 per share
(the "Common Shares™"), held of record at the close of business on January 10, 2001, and on each subsequently issued share of Isis
common stock. The Rights are not currently exereisable. Under certain conditions involving an acquisition or proposed acquisition by any
person or group holding 20% or more of Isis' common stock, the Rights permit the holders (other than the 20 percent holder) to purchase
one one-hundredth of a share of Series C Junior Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share (the "Preferred Shares"), at a price of $85 per
one one-hundredth of a Preferred Share (the "Purchase Price"), subject to adjustment. Each one one-hundredth of a share of Preferred
Shares has designations and powers, preferences and rights, and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions which make its value
approximately equal to the value of a Common Share. Under certain conditions, Isis' Board of Directors may redeem the Rights in whole,
but not in part, at a price of $0.001 per Right.

Common Stock

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, Tsis had 100,000,000 shares of common stock authorized, of which 57,451,671 and 55,557,253
were issued and outstanding, respectively. As of December 31, 2004, total common shares reserved for future issuance was approximately

14,573,000.
Stock Option Plans
1989 Stock Option Plan and Other Employee Option Grants

In June 1989 and as amended, Isis' Board of Directors adopted, and the stockholders subsequently approved, a stock option
plan that provides for the issuance of non-qualified and incentive stock options for the purchase of up to 13,200,000 shares of
common stock to its employees, directors, and consultants. The term of the plan is scheduled to end in January 2014. The 1989 Plan
does not allow Isis to grant stock bonuses or restricted stock awards and prohibits Isis from repricing any options outstanding under
the plan unless the Company’s stockholders approve the repricing. Options granted after December 31, 1995 vest over a four-year
period, with 25% exercisable at the end of one year from the date of the grant and the balance vesting ratably thereafter. Options
granted before January 1, 1996 generally vested over a five-year period. Options granted after May 26, 2004 have a term of seven
years while options granted before May 26, 2004 have a term of ten years. At December 31, 2004, a total of 3,514,000 options were
outstanding, options to purchase 2,007,000 shares were exercisable, and 4,640,000 shares were available for future grant.
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2000 Broadeased ‘Eqguity Incéntive Plan

In January 2000, 151s adopted the 2000 Broad- Based Equity Incentive Plan (the "2000 Plan"), Wthh prov1des for the issuance of
non-qualified stock options for the purchase of up to 3,990,000 shares of common stock to its employees, directors, and consultants. In
May 2002, the Boar_d of Directors increased the 2000 Plan by 2,000,000-shares, authorizing up to 5,990,000 shares of common stock
under the 2000 Plan for issuance to employees, directors, and cohsultants. Typically options expire 10 years from the date of grant.
Options granted under this plan generally vest over a four-year period, with 25% exercisable at the end of one year from the date of the
grant and the balance vesting ratably thereafter. Options granted under this plan, pursuant to the April 2003 stock option exchange
program expire on December 31, 2008 and vested 33.34% on January 1,-2004 and then at the rate of 2.78% per month during the
optionee's employment or service as a consultant, employee or director. At December 31, 2004, a total of 4,804,000 options were
outstanding, 3,086,000 shares were exercisable, and 792,000 shares were available for future grant.

In the event of:
e asale, lease of other disposition of all or substantially all of our assets;,
e amerger or consolidation in which we are not the surviving corporation, or

¢ reverse merger in which we are the surviving corporation but the shares of common stock outstanding immediately
' precedmg the merger are converted by virtue of the merger mto other property, whether in the form of securities, cash or
otherwise, ‘

then any surviving corporatlon or acqumng corporation will assume any stock awards outstandrng under the 2000 Plan or will substitute
similar stock awards (mcludmg an award to acquire the same consideration paid to the shareholders in the transaction for those
outstanding under the 2000 Plan) In'the event any surviving corporation or acquiring corporation refuses to assume such stock awards or
to substitute similar stock awards for. those outstanding under the 2000 Plan, then with respect to stock awards held by participants whose
continuous service has not terminated, such stock awards automatically vest in full (and, if applicable, the time during which such stock
awards may be exerelsed) and the stock awards will terminate if not exercised (if applicable) at or prior to such event. With respect to any
other stock awards outstandmg under the 2000 Plan, such stock awards will terminate if not exercised (if applicable) prior to such event.
In addition, as of Decernber'31, 2004, approximately 4,804,000 stock awards granted under the 2000 plan will be accelerated in full if a
transaction deéscribed above occurs, even if the surv1vmg corporation assumes such award.

e

2002 Non-Employee Dzrectors Stock Opnon Plan

In September 2001 ‘Is1s Board of Du‘eetors adopted, and the stockholders subsequently approved an amendment and
restatement of the 1992 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan, which provides for the issuance of non-qualified stock options to
- Isig’ non-employee dlrectors The name of the resulting new plan is the 2002 Non-Employee Directors' Stock Option Plan, and it has an
aggregate of 803,000 shares of common stock reserved for issuance. Options under this plan expire 10 years from the date of grant.
Options granted become exercisable in four equal annual installments beginning one year after the date of grant. At December 31, 2004, a
total of 349,000 optlons were ‘outstanding, 166,000 of the shares issued under this plan were exercisable and 395,000 shares were
avarlable for future grant
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The following table summarizes stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2002 through December 31, 2004 (in
thousands, except per share data):

A ‘ : Number of - - Weighted Average

: ‘ e .Shares " Price Per Share . Price Per Share
Outstanding at December 31, 2001 8220 $3.75t0$26.65 ~ $ 9.88
~ Granted ‘ ' - 2,197 "$6.87t0522.19

Exercised . - (505) $4.00 to $17.88

Terminated L _(656) $5.38t0$24.17 ,
Outstanding at December 31, 2002 9,256 - $3.75 t0 $26.65 $11.34

Granted 2,724 $3.12t0 $7.85

Exercised ‘ (3%) $4.00to $6.81

Terminated (3,734) $3.75 to $26.65 .
Outstanding at December 31, 2003 8211  $3.1210$26.65 $ 8.66

Granted : 2,163 , $4.30t0 $9.50

Exercised (508) $3.12to $8.15

Terminated . (1,199) - $3.7510 $22.19 ‘ ,
Outstanding at December 31,2004 & 8,667 $3.12 to $26.65 $ 834 -

The following table summarizes information concerning currently outstanding and exercisable options (in thousands, except
contractual life and exercise price data): : '

Options Oﬁtstan@g . Options Exercisable

A Weighted v
Number Average Weighted Number Weighted
; ~ Outstanding Remaining Average Exercisable As  Average Exercise
Range of Exercise Price Asof 12/31/04 = Contractual Life Exercise Price of 12/31/04 Price
$3.12 - $4.98 234 7.73 . $4.18 68 $4.05-
$4.76 - $7.52 5,280 6.65 $6.32 2,594 $6.38
$7.22 -$10.82 1,550 6.47 ©$9.31 1,194 $9.55
$10.88 - $16.30 1,148 4.39 $12.86 1,065 $12.85
. $16.35-818.70 228+ .. . 6.10 $17.36 169 $17.43
$21.05 - $26.65 : ‘ 227 : 6.97 $21.19 169 $21.19
‘ ' 8,667 ‘ K 5,259

‘ . i
Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In 2000, Isis' Board of Directors adopted, and the stockholders subsequently approved, the 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
and Isis reserved 200,000 shares of common stock for issuance thereunder. In each of the subsequent years, an additional 200,000 shares
of common stock were reserved for the 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, resulting in a total of 800,000 shares authorized in the plan.
The plan permits full-time employees to purchase common stock through payroll deductions (which cannot exceed 10% of each
employee's compensation) at the lower of 85% of fair market value at the beginning of the offering period or the end of each six-month
purchase period. During 2004, 327,145 shares were issued under this plan to employees at prices ranging from $4.47 to $4.86 per share.
At December 31, 2004, 72,993 shares were available for purchase under this plan.

Warrants

In June 2004, Isis entered into an agreement with a subsidiary of Elan to acquire Elan’s minority interest in Orasense and
HepaSense. In connection with this agreement, Isis cancelled a warrant Elan held to purchase 14,881 shares of Isis common stock that
was issued in 2000 as part of the joint venture collaboration between Isis and Elan to form HepaSense.
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In 2002 Isis issued a warrant to purchase 6,304 shares of common stock to Elan for the achievement of a development milestone
related to the HepaSense joint venture between Isis and Elan. As of December 31 2004, this warrant remained outstanding at an exercrse
price of $59.48 per share. The warrant expires April 23, 2007.

In 1999 Isis issued a warrant to purchase 215,000 shares of common stock to Elan as part of the joint venture collaboratron
between Isis and Elan to form Orasense. The warrant exprred unexerc1sed on April 19, 2004
In 1997 and, 1998 ‘Isrs issued warrants to purchase 500 OOO and 300 000 shares of common stock, respectively, in conjunction
with a private debt ﬁnancrng agreement The warrants expired unexercised on November 1, 2004 (Note 3 - Long-Term Obligations and
Commitments). |, ‘. TR . .
‘\ ey . . )

5, Incorne Taxes .

Signiﬁcant‘ components ‘of Isis' deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 are shown below (in thousands). Isis |
recognized valuation allowances of $283.7:million and $235 0 million for 2004 and 2003, respectrvely, to offset the net deferred tax assets
as realization of such assets is- uncertam ‘ ; ‘ ;

- 2004 2003
Deferred tax assets: \ S
- Capitalized research expense 8 43,132 § 86,827
Net operating loss: carryforwards . 189,148 110,652
" Research and development credrts - o 33,966 30,095
‘Deferred revenue f - - 5998 - 9,573 |
i Accrued restructunng v L ' 13,335 ‘ = :
Other het : | L 7:525 5,180 ‘
Total deferred tai: assets - - 293 104 242,327
Deferredtaxhabdmes Lol ‘ -
Intangible Assets R S (9,393) . (7,361). .
Total deferred tax’ h‘abilities o (9,393) (7,361
Total net deferred tax assets ‘ : 283,711 * 234,966
Valuation allowanpe for. deferred tax assets (283,711) (234,966)
Net deferred tax assets - . .. 8 —§ -

N . 4(,‘ [ o

At December 31 20021‘ approximately $7.1 million of the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets related to stock option
deductions Whrch when recogmzed will be allocated dlrectly to additional pald-m capltal

At December 31 2004 1315 had federal forelgn and Cahforma tax net operatmg loss carryforwards of approximately $517.1
million, $530,000 and $140.4 million, respectively. Isis also had federal and California research credit carryforwards of approximately
$23.5 million and $10.0 million, respectively. The difference between the tax loss carryforwards for federal and California purposes was
attributable to the capltahzatlon of research and development expenses for California tax purposes and a required 50% to 60% limitation
on the utilization of California‘loss carryforwards The federal tax loss carryforwards and the research credit carryforwards will begm
expiring in 2007 and 2003, respectively; unless previously utilized. The foreign tax losses.may be carried forward indefinitely and used to
offset future taxable -profits, provrded there is no substantral change n ownershlp eThe Cahforma tax loss carryforwards will begrn
explmng in 2003, unless utlhzed ‘ : .

Pursuant to Sectlons 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code annual use of Isrs net operatmg loss and credit carryforwards

may be limited due to cumulatrve changes in ownership of more than 50%. Isis believés that changes in ownership have occurred, but
believes that such hmrtatrons will not have a material 1mpact upon the utilization of the carryforwards.
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6. - Collaborative Arrangements and Licensing Agreements

Eli Lilly and Company
In August 2001, Isis entered into a broad strategic relationship with Lilly, including four key components:
First, Lilly purchased $75.0 million of Isis common stock at$18 per share.

. Second, Isis licensed to Lilly rights to Affinitak, which was being tested in a Phase Il trial for the treatment of non-small cell
lung cancer, and which Lilly has decided to discontinue funding. Lilly paid Isis $25.0 million in up-front fees for Affinitak and
reimbursed Isis for Isis' Affinitak development costs. During 2003 and 2002, Isis earned revenue of $11.1 million and $31.9 million,
respectively, related to the reimbursement of Affinitak costs. Isis earned no revenue related to Affinitak during 2004.

Third, [sis initiated with Lilly a four-year antisense drug discovery collaboration in the areas of metabolic and inflammatory
diseases and a related gene functionalization and target validation collaboration to determine the function of up to 1,000 genes. Key

achievements and developments under this collaboration include:

In 2002, Lilly and Isis expanded this collaboration to include oncology and the license of LY2181308, our antisense
inhibitor of survivin for which we earned a $1.1 million license fee.

s In April 2003, Isis earned a $1.5 million milestone from Lilly in the development of LY2181308, the antisense inhibitor of
survivin, as part of the research collaboration oncology expansion. LY2181308 is the first compound from the partnership
selected by Lilly for clinical development. In November 2004, Lilly initiated Phase I clinical trials of LY218308 in cancer
patients, marking a significant milestone in the partnership and triggering a $1.5 million milestone payment from Lilly to
Isis. Isis® collaboration with Lilly also may generate additional milestone payments aggregating up to $25.0 million
based on LY2181308 achieving specified regulatory and commercial miiestones. ‘

= In July 2003, Isis expanded the cancer research component of its antisense drug discovery collaboration with Lilly to
include multiple antisense mechanisms, such as RNAi and alternative splicing, as well as third generation antisense
chemistries. We are currently jointly developing antisense drugs with Lilly that work through an RNAi mechanism or use
our chemistries as potential follow-on drugs to LY2181308.

= In May 2004, Lilly and Isis announced the extension of our antisense drug discovery collaboration in cancer. During this
extension, Isis and Lilly will continue to characterize and develop RNase H, siRNA, and splicing modulating inhibitors
for the treatment of cancer using second and third generation chemistries. An important component of this extension will
be the expioration of potential new anti-cancer drug targets using RNA-directed technologies.

e In September 2004, Lilly licensed from Isis L Y2275796. This second-generation antisense anti-cancer drug candidate -
targets eIF-4E.: Isis earned a $750,000 payment from Lilly for the license. LY2275796 is the second compound from the
partnership to be selected by Lilly for clinical development. Isis’ collaboration with Lilly also may generate additional
milestone payments aggregating up to -$20.3 million based on LY2275796. ach1evmg spemﬁed regulatory and
commerc:lal milestones. : .

Fourth, Lilly committed to lend Isis, interest-free, up to $100.0 million over a four-year period to fund it$ obligations under the
drug discovery collaboration. Isis can repay this loan at its option in either cash or Isis common stock, at a fixed conversion price of $40
per share. During 2004, 2003 and 2002, Isis recorded revenue related to the research coliaboration loan of $13.0 million, $7.5 million, and
$3.2 million, respectively and corresponding interest expense dunng 2004, 2003, and 2002, of $13.0 million, $7.5 million, and $3.2
million, respectively. . ‘ .
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Subsequent to Au‘gust ‘2001 [sis and Lilly entered into additional agréements under the collaboration, as follows:

o “In September a2002 Tsis and Lilly entered into a supply agreement under which Isis agreed to manufacture ‘Affinitak
actlve pharmaceutrcal ingredient (“API”) for Lilly. The agreement called for Lilly to pay Isis $8.75 million.in cash for
Afﬁmtak rawimaterials that.Isis. would need to manufacture the API. Isis accounted for the $8.75 million as deferred

: revenue sand expected to recognize this.balance into revenue as it shipped Affinitak API to Lilly. Neither Isis nor Lilly
Aexpected to. reahze a margin from this transaction. S :
. In addmon in: September 2002, Is1s entered into a manufacturlng loan agreement with Lilly. Under the terms of the loan
| agreement, L1lly loaned to Isis $21.2 million to build a new commercial scale manufacturing facility for Affinitak.
During the: period of May 2002 through March 2003, Isis completed construction of the manufacturing suite and, as a
result ‘incurred $21.2 million in construction costs which Isis reflected as property, plant and equipment on its balance
‘ sheet as of December 31 2002 Neither lsrs nor Lilly, expected to.realize a margin from thrs transactlon

. In March 2003 after 151s announced d1sappomt1ng results from 1ts Phase IIL. tr1al of Afﬁmtak Isis and Lilly reached a
: ‘mutually beneﬁc1a1 renegotiation of their manufacturing. relatronsh1p, pursuant to which, Lilly allowed Isis to keep the
,»$8 75\mrlllon of raw materials. Lilly also waived repayment of the $21 2 million manufactunng loan.it provided to Isis

to build the manufactunng fac1hty ‘ »

Isis determmed the estimated net realrzable value of the Affinitak APl should be written down to zero because: (i) Isis

was$ moving away from first- generatron drugs like Affinitak i in favor of second- -generation drugs, rendering most of the

raw, materials. obsolete; and, (ii). Isis already had: sufficient inventory of raw materials to manufacture its second-

generation drugs for the then foreseeablé future. Isis also determined there was no anticipated use of the manufacturing

facility  in :the, then-foreseeable future because Isis did not have’a.drug that required a large-scale commercial
~manufacturing facility and. the.long term-prospects.for utilization of the facility were unknown. Since these write-offs

were triggered 'by-one event and there was no impact to the statement of operations, Isis wrote-off the $8.75 million of

deferred revenue against the related raw material 1nventory and the $21.2 mlllront of long term debt against the related

fixed dssets.” ;‘ff R . . : AT

Antisense Drug Dlscovery Collaboratwns - RE N

PR

Smgapore Economzc DevelopmentBoard e PR : B

In November 2003; 1sis received a grant of up-to $8.0 million over three years from the Singapore Economic Development
Board ("Smgapore "EDB"), which was intended to fund, in part, the broademng 'of two of Isis" RNA-based drug discovery and
development programs micro-RNA drug discovery and antisense drug discovery targetmg the coronavirus associated with Severe Acute
Respiratory Syndrome or SARS. In connection with this grant, Isis establishied Isis Pharmaceuticals Singapore Pte Ltd, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Isis Pharmaceutrcals Inc. Dunng 2004, 151s earned revenue of $1 5 Irull1on from this grant. Isis earned no revenue from the
grantin2003. s, Lo . i : S R

As part ofifa strategrc dec1s1on toireorganize and refocus the Company $ resources to: advance its most promrsmg second-
generation drugs:¢ and to continue- the development of antisense technology, Isis decided to close its research and development laboratory
in Singapore dunng the first quarter of 2005 and terminate its agreerient with the Singapore EDB. To date, Isis has received $1.5 miltion
in cash payments under this-$8.0 million grant from the Smgapore EDB and does not ant1c1pate any addmonal payments or additional
revenue, under the' agreement ol o Lo R R :

LRI
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Industrial and Technology Research Institutes of Taiwan

In June 2003, Isis initiated a collaboration with the Industrial and Technology Research Institutes of Taiwan'("ITRI") to identify
antisense candidates targeting the coronavirus associated with- SARS. The collaboration entitled Isis to an upfront payment, milestone
payments, and the potential for future funding. During 2003, Isis eamed revenue under this collaboration of $2.0 million, comprised of
$1.0 million for.an up-front' payment .and $1.0 million related to the achievement of certain milestones.' The milestones related to the
identification of second-generation antisense drugs that inhibit SARS virus replication and the successful completion of preclinical studies
evaluating aerosol and parenteral delivery of antisense drugs as specified under the agreement. Is1s eamed no revenue dunng 2004 under
this collaboration. This collaboration has ended in accordance with its terms. S oo :

’Amgen_

In December 2001, Isis entered into a three~year collaboration with Amgen, Inc. ("Amgen") to discover new antisense drugs.
Amgen has the right to develop and commercialize antisense drugs resulting from the collaboration. Under the terms of the agreement,
Isis is entitled to receive milestone payments upon key clinical, research and commercial achievements, as well as royalties on sales of any
products resulting from the collaboration.. During 2004 and. 2003, Isis earned revenue of $783,000 and $1.9 million, respectively, related
to quarterly research support and progress research milestones under this drug discovery collaboration. In December 2004, Isis’
collaboration with Amgen ended in accordance with its terms.

Merck & Co.; Inc. -

In May 2001, Isis licensed to Merck & Co, Inc. ("Merck"), Isis' preclinical Type 2 diabetes antisense drug candidate, ISIS
113715. In exchange for the license, Isis' received an-upfront payment. In addition, Isis received development funding and earned a
development milestone. During 2002, Isis earned-revenue of $840,000 under this. agreement. Isis reacquired. full product rights to ISIS
113715 from Merck in December 2002. As,a result; no revenue was earned for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003.

In June 1998, Isis entered into a research collaboration with Merck to discover small molecule drug candidates to treat patients
infected with HCV. The collaboration, which concluded in May 2003 in accordance with its terms, provided that Merck would pay Isis'
annual research support and: milestone payments. Within the collaboration, Isis and Merck designed, synthesized, and evaluated novel
compounds that Merck screened in its proprietary assays for identifying HCV replication inhibitors. Merck had the right to commercialize
any drugs from the collaboration, and Isis retains the right to use technology developed in the collaboration in its antisense program.
During 2003, and 2002, Isis earned revenue of $900,000 and $2.2 million, respectively, from Merck under the terms of this agreement.
Isis earned no revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Satellite Company Collaborations
Sarissa, Inc.

In February 2005, Isis licensed an anti-cancer antisense drug to Sarissa, Inc., a biotechnology company emerging from the
University of Western Ontario.  The*drug.is an antisense inhibitor of thymidylate. synthase,. “TS”, a well-known drug target that
protects cancer cells from the effects of several chemotherapy treatments. In preclinical studies, antisense 1nh1b1t10n of TS suppressed
human tumor cell growth and overcame tumor cell res1stance to marketed TS targeted drugs.

Under the terms of the agreement in exchange for the excluswe worldw1de llcense to the TS antisense drug, Sarissa issued
to Isis a $1.0 million debt instrument (the “Sarissa Note™), which will convert into Sarissa’s common stock upon its successful
completion of a venture capital financing. Isis has not yet determined a value for the Sarissa Note. Under the agreement, Sarissa
agreed to pay Isis milestone payments totaling up to $5.5 million for key clinical and regulatory achievements and royalties on any
product sales. Sarissa is solely responsible for preclinical and clinical development of the drug.
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Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

In March 2004, Isis entered into a strategic alliance with Alnylam to develop and commercialize RNAi therapeutics. Under the
terms of the agreement lsrs exclustvely licensed to Alnylam its patent estate relating to antisense motifs and meehamsms and
ohgonucleot1de chemlstry for double-stranded RNAi therapeutlcs in exchange for. a '$5.0 million technology access fee, participation in
fees for Alnylam s partnenng programs, as well as future rmlestone and Toyalty payments For each of these drugs, the potential milestone
payments total $3.4 rmllron and are payable upon the occurrence of specified development and regulatory events. Isis will retain rights to
a limited number of RNAi therapeutre targets and all nghts to single-stranded RNAi therapeutics. In addition, Alnylam and Isis will share
the proceeds of any llcenses Alnylam grants | under its prev10usly announced InterfeRx program that include sublicenses to Isis’ patents.
Isis agreed to prov1de Alnylam with access to its resources for development and commercialization of RNAi thérapeutics, including
process development bloanalync methods, quality control and manufacturing. Isis also made a $10 million equity investment in Alnylam

In turn Alnylam nonexclusively licensed Isis its patent estate relating to antisense motifs and mechanisms and oligonucleotide
chemistry to research, develop and commercialize single-stranded RNAI therapeutics and to research double-stranded RNAi compounds.
Isis also received a:license to develop and commercialize double-stranded RNAi drugs targeting a limited number of therapeutic targets
on either an- excluswe or co-exclusive basis depending on the target. If Isis develops or commercializes an RNAi-based drug using
Alnylam's technology, Lsis will pay Alnylam milestones and royalties. For each of these drugs, the potential milestone payments total $3.4
million and are payable 1 upon the occurrence of specified development and regulatory events. As of December 31, 2004, Isis did not have
an RNAi-based drug in clinical development. As part of the collaboration, each party granted the other party a nonexclusive cross license
to its respectlve patent estate relatrng to antisense motifs and mechanisms and ollgonucleonde chemistry for microRNA therapeutics.

In September 2004 Isis recorded a non-cash loss on investment of $5.0 million related to the impairment of its equity
investment .in Alnylam The loss on investment reflected a decrease in the market value of Alnylam’s stock in 2004, which Isis believes
was primarily a result of ﬁnancral market conditions related to b1otechnology eompames Isis’ balance sheet at December 31, 2004
includes a short-term mvestment at fair market value of approximately $2.0 rmlhon and a long-term mvestment at fair market value of
$3.9 million.

During 2004, Isis generated revenue from its relationship with Alnylam totaling $5.5 million, or 13%, of total revenue.

Ercole Bzotech Inc.

In May 2003 131s and Ereole initiated a multt—year collaboration to dlscover antisense drugs that regulate alternative RNA
splicing. As part of the collaboratron the two.parties cross-licensed their respect1ve splicing-related intellectual property. As part of this
collaboration, sts granted Ercole a license to its Bel-x molecule and certain of its chermstry patents. In addition, Isis took an equity
ownership p051t10n in Ercole, with the initial funding in the form' of convertible debt, which the companies anticipate will convert into
securities that Ercole issues in its next venture capital financing. Isis also has the option to make an additional equity investment in Ercole.
Pursuant to the terms ofa Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement, during 2003 and early 2004, Isis made cash payments to Ercole of
$500,000. and $250, 000 respectlvely in exchange for a convertible promissory note (“the Note”). Isis expensed the payments when
made. The Note 1s secured by all.of Ercole’s assets, mcludmg 1ntelleetual property and licenses. The Note w1ll convert mto securities
that Ercole i issues m a quahﬁed financing, as defined by the agreement

Antisense Therapeutzcs Ltd., Inc.

In December 2001, Isrs lrcensed its compound ATL 1102 formerly Is1s 107248 to ATL, a publicly- traded company l1sted on
the Australian Stock Exchange Isis and ATL are participating in a five-year antisense drug discovery and development collaboration,
under which ATL pays Isis research fees and reimbursed Isis for costs related to preclinical work on ATL 1102. ATL has the option to
license additional drugs from [sis. In connection with this collaboration, Isis recejved 30.0 million shares of ATL common stock upon
completion of ATL's initial public offering ("IPO"), representing an initial ownership percentage of approximately 14%, and options to
purchase an additional 20.0 million shares of ATL common stock, which expire in 2008. Isis valued its initial ownership at $2.8 million,
and is recognizing revenue based on this amount over the term of the agreement. For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
Isis recorded revenue of $1.4 mllllon $811,000 and $3.7 million respectlvely, related to this collaboration. As of December 31, 2004, Isis'
ownership percentage in ATL including 10.3 million shares Isis purchased subsequent to shares it acquired in the IPO, was
approximately 11%. Tsis' balance sheets at December 31, 2004 and 2003 mclude a short-term investment at fair market value of $3.8
million and $3 6 mﬂhon respect1vely, related to this equ1ty investment.
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OncoGenex Technologies, Inc.

Pursuant to a November 2001 drug development collaboration, Isis agreed fo co-develop and commercialize the anti-cancer
antisense drug candidate, OGX-011, or ISIS 112989, with OncoGenex, a privately-held Canadian oncology-focused research and
development company. Pursuant to the agreement, Isis shares in the costs of developing OGX-011. In exchange, Isis shares in any
revenue generated by OncoGenex for OGX-011. In a September 2003 drug development collaboration, Isis also agreed to license certain
technology and collaborate on the initial development of a second anti-cancer antisense drug candidate, OGX-225, a second-generation
drug, with OncoGenex. Under the terms of the collaboration, during 2003 OncoGenex paid Isis an up-front fee and Isis acquired an
ownership interest in OncoGenex of less than 10%. In addition, OncoGenex agreed to provide to Isis milestone payments totaling up to
$3.5 million for key clinical and regulatory achievemeénts and royaltles on product sales As of December 31, 2004, OncoGenex had not
triggered any of these milestone payments related to OGX-225.

For the years ended: December 31, 2004 and 2003, Isis earned revenue of $669,000 and $750,000, respectively, related to its
collaboration with OncoGenex. Isis earned no revenue from OncoGenex during 2002. Isis' balance sheets at December 31, 2004 and
2003 include a long-term investment of $750,000 related to this equity investment, reflecting the value of Isis’ initial investment. While
there is no readily determinable market value for these securities, there has been no indication that Isis” investment in OncoGenex has
been impaired; accordingly, Isis believes that the carrying value of this investment is equal to or below its current fair market value. As of
December 31, 2004, Isis’ balance sheet included deferred revenue of $1.6 million with corresponding finished goods inventory of $1.4
million on its balance sheet related to an agreement to supply clinical trial material to OncoGenex for which Isis has continuing
obligations. Isis expects to recognize the $1.6 million in revenue and related costs of $1.4 million during the first quarter of 2005.

In January 2005, Isis broadened its antisense drug development partnership with OncoGenex to allow for the development of
‘two additional second-generation antisense anti-cancer drug candidates. Under the terms of the agreement, OncoGenex is responsible
for the preclinical and clinical development of the drug. OncoGenex agreed to pay Isis an upfront fee, milestone payments for key
clinical and reguiatory achievements, and royalties on future product sales.

Santaris Pharma A/S

In November 1998 and September 2000, Isis entered into license agreements with Santaris, a privately-held company, formerly
Pantheco A/S, a privately-held company. The agreemient was amended int May 2003. Under the terms of the amended and restated license
agreements, Isis licensed its novel antisense chemistry, Peptide Nucleic Acid, or PNA, to Santaris on a limited exclusive basis to develop
products. The license is restricted to a limited number of molecular targets that are subject to Isis' approval. Santaris has agreed to pay Isis
royalties on any products developed under the license.

As part of its original license agreerrients with Pantheco, Isis received shares of Pantheco common stock. In May 2003, Pantheco
A/S and Cureon A/S merged to form Santaris Pharma A/S. Prior to the merger, Isis purchased additional shares of Pantheco for $55,000
as a result of antidilution provisions related to Pantheco's stock. After the merger and as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, Isis' ownership
interest in Santaris was less than 10%. Isis' balance sheets at December 31, 2004 and 2003 included a long term investment of $625,000,
respectively, related to this equity investment, reflecting the value of Isis’ initial investment. While there is no readily determinable
market value for these securities, there has been no indication that Isis’ investment in Santaris has been impaired; accordingly, Isis
believes that the carrying value of this investment is equ_al' to or below its current fair market value.

t

Antisense Commercialization Collaboration
Novartis Ophthalmics AG

In July 1997, Isis and Novartis Ophthalmics AG; ("Novartis"), formerly CIBA Vision Corporation, entered into an agreement
granting Novartis exclusive worldwide distribution rights for Vitravene. Under the terms of the agreement, Isis is responsible for
manufacturing Vitravene and Novartis is responsible for worldwide sales and marketing. Due to the low incidence of CMV retinitis
among patients with AIDS, Novartis AG currently offers Vitravene on a limited basis. During 2002, Isis earned revenue of $2.5 million
related to a milestone payment from Novartis, and $293,000 in revenue related to the shipment of Vitravene. Isis earned no revenue
related to Vitravene during 2004 and 2003.
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Ibis Collaborations ' . !

To develop the TIGER technology and applications, our Ibis division has received contracts from a number of government
agencies, including; DARPA), the NIAID, pait of the NIH, the CDC and the FBI. Each of these agencies represents a significant source
of funding for its TIGER program..To date, the Ibis division has earned $40.1 million in revenue under its government contracts and
grants. Also, it has approval to invoice its government partners an additional $8.6. million under its existing contracts and grants. The
Ibis division may receive continued approval to invoice its government partners under these contracts based upon a variety of factors,
including the accomplishment of program objectives and the exercise of additional contract options by the contracting agencies. In
addition, these agencies may terminate these awards. The Ibis division has received contracts and grants from numerous government
agencies Valued at up to $63.2 million.

In‘October 2004; Isis was granted three government contracts valued at up to $10.0 million from the NIAID, the FBI and an
undisclosed government; agency, for the continued development of our TIGER system. Under the NIAID award, Isis intends to
develop an application to use its TIGER technology to assess-the safety of investigational vaccines and the components used for the
manufacturmg of biological products by identifying foreign infectious orgamsms that may be present Under the FBI award, Isis. will
continue ongomg development of a microbial agent database

Isis Teceives fundmg from DARPA through a subcontract with SAIC on a. multr-year project for the ongoing development of
TIGER. This project. combines-Isis’ expertise in microbial genome sequence analysis and advanced mass spectrometry technology with
SAIC's advanced:signal processing capabilities. In March 2004, Isis entered into a two-year contract with SAIC that provides forup to
$19.5 million in fundmg by DARPA Durrng 2004 and 2003, revenue from SAIC comprrsed 18% and 16%, respectively, of Isis’ total
revenue. ¢ .. N t : ,

In September 2003 Isrs received a three -year grant for up to $6 0 mllhon from the CDC to develop and apply the TIGER
technology to the surveillance of human infectious disease in the United States. Using the grant from the CDC, Tsis expects to develop and
provide TIGER technology for CDC projects focused on emerging human infectious disease.

Licensing Agreenients .

Eyetech Pharmaceutlcals nc.
Lo 2
In December 2001 [sis licensed to Eyetech a publicly-held company, certam of its patents necessary for Eyetech to develop,
make and commercialize Macugen a non-antisense compound intended for use in the treatment of ophthalmic diseases. Eyetech paid Isis
a $2.0 million. upfront fée and ‘agreed to pay milestone and royalty payments in exchange for non-exclusive, worldwide rights to the
intellectual property l1censed from Isis. In December 2002, Eyetech entered into an agreement with Pfizer to develop and commercralrze
Macugen S R g :

During 2004, Isis earned from Eyetech $4.0 million in milestones associated with the filing of an NDA and FDA approval
for Macugen for the treatment of wet age-related macular degeneration. Isis’ license with Eyetech also may generate additional
milestone payments aggregating up to $2.8 million based on achieving specrﬁed regulatory milestones with respect to the use of
Macugen for each add1t1onal therapeutic indication.

Drug Royally Corporatzon

In December 2004 Isis sold a pOI’thI‘l of its royalty rlghts in Macugen to Drug Royalty USA, Inc. (“DRC) in exchange for
aggregate paymerits.of $24.0 million over the next three years. Under the terms of the agreement, Isis and DRC will share the royalty
rights on Macugen through 2009. After 2009, Isis retains all royalties for Macugen under its Eyetech agreement. Under the
agreement, through 2009 DRC will receive royalties on the first $500.0 million of annual sales of Macugen. Isis and DRC will each
receive 50 percerit of royalties on annual sales between $500.0 million and $1.0 billion. Isis retains 90% of all royalties on annual
sales in excess of $1.0 billion' and 100% of all royalties-after 2009. Isis has retained all milestones payable to Isis by Eyetech under
the companies’ original: hcense agreement. - L 3 : Voo
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As part of the sale, Isis agreed to pay DRC liquidated damages if any one of a defined set of defaults occurs. The amount of
liquidated damages will be calculated such that DRC will receive a ten per cent per annum return, compounded quarterly on the total
of all purchase price payments made by DRC to us through the default date minus the total of any royalties received by DRC through
the default date. In addition, DRC may withhold any installment of the purchase price if immediately prior to such payment, Isis fails
to meet a minimum lquidity requirement equal to the then outstanding balance on its loan with Silicon Valley Bank; plus the potential
amount of liquidated  damages, assuming that DRC has paid the impending purchase price installment; plus its cash burn over the
most recent three months. As collateral for its obligations under the sale agreement, Isis granted DRC a first priority security interest
in the patents licensed by Isis:to Eyetech under the license agreement and in the license agreement itself.

Hybridon, Inc.

In May 2001, Isis entered into an agreement with Hybridon under which Isis acquired an exclusive license to all of Hybridon's
antisense chemistry and delivery patents and technology. Hybridon retained the right to practice its licensed antisense patent technologies
and to sublicense it to collaborators under certain circumstances. In addition, Hybridon received a non-exclusive license to Isis’ suite of
RNase H patents. In exchange for the license to Hybridon's antisense patents, Isis paid $15.0 million in cash and agreed to pay Hybridon
$19.5 million in Isis common stock before May 2003. In return for access to Isis’ patents, Hybridon agreed to pay Isis $6.0 million in
Hybridon common stock before May 2004. In September 2001 and October 2001, Isis issued to Hybridon 357,143 shares of its common
stock valued at $5.0 million and 500,000 shares of its common stock valued at $10.0 million, respectively. In May 2002, Hybridon issued
to Isis 1,005,499 shares of its common stock valued at $1.3 million and paid Isis $700,000 in cash. In August 2002, Hybridon and Isis
cancelled the remaining reciprocal financial obligations related to this agreement. The cancellation of the obligations resulted in a decrease
to Isis’ carrying .value for the license in the amount of $500,000. Isis' balance sheet at December 31, 2004 and 2003 reflected a licensing
asset, net of amortization, of $21.3 million and $23.2 million, respectively, and a short-term investment at fair market value of $474,000
and $1.1 million, respectively, related to this agreement. Early in 2005, Isis liquidated its short term investment for cash proceeds of
$655,000.

Integrated DNA Technologies, Inc.

In March 1999, Isis licensed certain antisense patents from Integrated DNA Technologies, Inc. ("IDT”), a leading supplier of
antisense inhibitors for research. These patents are useful in functional genomics and in making certain antisense drugs. In December
2001, Isis expanded this license agreement to allow Isis to exclusively sublicense this intellectual property for functional genomics
purposes. Under the license, Isis paid IDT $4.2 million through December 31, 2004 and expects to pay IDT an aggregate of $700,000
in 2005. : .

In addition, in December 2001 Isis established a long-term research-scale antisense inhibitor supply agreement with IDT. In
this supply agreement IDT agreed to manufacture research-scale antisense inhibitors and research reagents to Isis’ specifications. Isis
paid IDT $5.0 million toward the future purchase of antisense inhibitors. During the fourth quarter of 2004, Isis recorded a non-cash
charge of $4.2 million to write off this unused portion as part of its restructuring activities (Note 8, “Restructuring Activities”).

Joint Ventures
Elan Corporation

Isis and Elan formed Orasense, a joint venture to develop technology for the formulation of oral drugs, and HepaSense, a joint
venture to develop an antisense drug to treat patients chronically infected with the Hepatitis C virus, or HCV, during 1999 and 2000,
respectively. In late 2002, Elan concluded its participation in both of the related collaborations. Pursuant to a June 2004 agreement, Isis
acquired Elan’s minority interest in Orasense and HepaSense. As part of the agreement, Isis eliminated all future royalties to Elan related
to these joint ventures.

During 2002, Isis earned revenue of $3.0 million from HepaSense, and $8.9 million from Orasense, which Isis included in its
consolidated statements of operations as research and development revenue from affilidtes. During 2002, Isis recorded $6.5 million as
equity in the loss of HepaSense, and $9.5 million as equity in the loss of Orasense. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, Isis had no
receivable or funding obligation related to Orasense or HepaSense.
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7. Segment Information and Concentration of Business Risk
Segment Information .

Prior to 2004, the Company managed itself on a fully integrated basis in one operating segment. As a result of the technological
and orgamzanona advanices: that Tsis* Ibis division made during 2004, combined with the future commercialization plans for its TIGER
program and the significant conmbunon that it made to Isis” 2004 revenue, Isis believes it is appropriate to discuss the financial results of
its Ibis division as a separate 'operating segment. In addition, based upon the distinct nature of the products and services each segment
provides, Isis determined that it operates in two reportable segments, Drug Discovery and Development, and Ibis. Segment operating loss
includes research and. development general and administrative expenses, and othér charges attributable to the segment. Costs excluded
from the segments consist of compensatron expense (benefit) related to stock 0pt1ons and restructunng activities.

The Drug D1scovery and Development segment generates revenue from collaborations with corporate partners and from
licensing proprietary patent rights. Revenue from collaborations with corporate partners may consist of upfront payments, funding for
research and development activities, milestones and royalties. This segment’s proprietary technology to discover and characterize novel
antisense inhibitors" has enabled its scientists to modify the properties of its antisense drug candidates for optimal use with particular
targets and thus, to produce a broad proprietary portfolro of compounds applicable to many disease targets.

The Ibrs segment generates revenue from grants and contracts from United States government agencies, including DARPA, the
CDC, the FBI: and the NIAID, a part of the NIH. Within the Ibis division, the Company has invented a technology that has the
potential to. ‘revolutionize the identification of infectious diseases. This technology is called TIGER, which is the product of core
technology development and small molecule drug discovery research conducted within the Ibis division during its early years. Prior to
the development of TIGER the lbls division focused on d1scover1ng novel small molecule antlmlcrobral drugs.

Prior to 2004, Isis’, did not allocate R&D support or general and administrative costs to its operating segments. Isis believes
that it would be impractical to obtain comparative information for prior periods, and that such comparisons between any period in
2004 and the comparable periods in prior years for R&D support costs and general and administrative expenses by segment would be
meaningless; therefore, Isis has not presented segment financial information for periods prior to 2004. Isis does not include asset or
liability information by reportable segment since Isis does not currently segregate this information by segment and it is not used for
purposes of making decisions about allocating resources to the segments and assessing their performance.

The follovving is information for net sales and operating income by segment for the year ended December 31, 2004.

‘ Drug Discovery
Revenue: . : : and Development Tbis | Corporate Total
Research and development ‘ $- 21,684 $ 10,933 § — % 32,617
Licensing and royalty * : ‘ 10,007 — — 10,007
Total segment revenue $ 31,691 § 10933 ' $ — $ 42624
Loss from operations $ (82,135) $ - (3297) % (32,421) § (117,853)

Geographic Information
Revenue by geographic area for the year ended December 31, 2004 is as follows: -

us _ 5 . $ 41,124

‘Singapore. © - : ‘ coo : 1,500

Total BT | - o $ 42,624
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Long-lived assets by geographic area as of December 31, 2004 are as follows: .

Us $ 82515
Singapore 301
Total ' o - ' $ 82816

Concentrations of Business Risk

Isis does not generate sales from products but has historically funded its operations in part from collaborations with corporate
partners and various government agencies. A re]atlvely small number of partners historically have accounted for a s1gn1ﬁcant percentage
of Isis' revenue. Revenue from significant partners as a percentage of total revenue was as follows:

2004 2003 2002

Partner A - ‘ 37% = . 62% 57% .
Partner B . 18% . 16% - 0%
Partner C 13% : 0% 0%

Partner D ‘ 0% 0% 11%

During 2004, 2003 and 2002, Isis derived approximately 28%, 20% and 7%, respectively, of its revenue from.agencies of the
United States Government, including approximately 18%, 16% and zero, respectively, of revenue from one significant customer. -

Contract receivables from four signiﬁcaht partners comprised approximately 30%, 20%, 17% and 10% of contract receivables at
December 31, 2004. Contract receivables from three significant partners comprised approximately 49%, 17% and 15% of contract
receivables at December 31, 2003.

8. * . Restructuring Activities

During the fourth quarter of 2004, Isis recorded a $32.4 million non-cash charge for restructuring activities resulting from
management’s strategic decision to reorganize and refocus the Company’s resources to advance its most promising second-generation
drugs and to continue its development of antisense technology. As a result, in 2004 Isis recorded write-downs which approximated the
carrying value of tangible and intangible assets considered non-essential to the Company’s current focus. These charges are summarized
below:

Year Ended
December 31,
2004
(in thousands)

Excess or idle equipment costs ' $ 1,161
Write-down of inventories to estimated net realizable value 20,972
Write-down of prepaid expenses to estimated net realizable value 4,149
Write-down of patent costs to estimated net realizable value 6.145

Total § 32427

In connection with the decision to reorganize and refocus the Company’s resources, in January 2005 Isis commenced several
cost containment measures, including a reduction in workforce of approximately 160 employees, the consolidation of its facilities in the
United States, and the closure of the Company’s research and development laboratory in Singapore. Isis expects to complete these
restructuring efforts by the end of the second quarter 2005. Pursuant to SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or
Disposal Activities, ” Isis expects to record the majority of these charges during the first quarter of 2005.
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" In April 2003; Isis' initiated a restructuiing in-response to.disappointing results from the first Phase III trial of Affinitak. As a
result, Isis had a small ‘reddoﬁon in its workforce, which primarily represented positions that Isis used to support the commercialization
and manufacture of Afﬁnltak Consequently, Isis incurred a restructuring charge of approxrmately $1.8 million during the second quarter
of 2003. Isis completed the ut1hzat1on of the reserve related to this restructuring in the fourth quarter of 2003.

In November 2002 Isis announced the termination of the GeneTrove database product offering and the resulting reorganization
of the GeneTrove program. As a result, Isis had a small reduction in workforce. The restructurmg plan also provided for the write-down
of certain intellectual property. As a result of this plan, Isis recognized restructunng related charges of approximately $1.4 million as
operating expenses in the foutth quarter of 2002. Is1s fully utilized the reserve related to this restructuring in the fourth quarter of 2003.

9. Employee Postemployment Benefits - T PR

Isis has ian, employee 401(k) salary deferral plan, covering all domest1c employees Employees may make contributions by
withholding a percentage- of their salary up to the IRS annual limit ($13,000 and $16,000 in 2004 for employees under 50 years old and
over 50 years old, respecnvely) Isis made approx1mately $478,000 and $463, OOO in matehmg contributions for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003 respectwely

10. Afﬁhate Supplementary Disclosure

Orasense

Due to the significant minority investor rights retained by Elan and its subsidiaries, Isis accounted for its investment in Orasense
under the equity method of accounnng through 2002. At inception, Elan granted Orasense a license to its intellectual property for
$15.0 million. The.tetm of the license was three years and amortization expense related to this license was $1.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002. ‘Through December 2002, Orasense incurred research and development expenses, performed by Elan and Isis on
Orasense's behalf, in the course of its product development. In conjunction with its restructuring efforts, Elan concluded its participation
in the Orasense collaboranon effective December .31, 2002 Asa result Isis regained all nghts to ISIS 104838 the compound that Elan
and Isis were developmg w1th1n Orasense - e S

: i ! . . I N i . .

In June 2004; 151s;acqu1red~Elan s minority-interest in Orasense. Through the agreement, Isis eliminated all future royalties to

Elan related to the‘technolo‘gy for the formulation‘of oral drugs developed within the Orasense collaboration.

In 2004, Orasense mcurred approxrmately $8ll 000 in research and development expenses through the date of Isis’ acquisition
of Elan’s mmorrty mterest 1n Orasense : i R
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The following table presents summary financial information for Orasense as of and for the year ended December 31, 2003 (in
thousands, except per share amounts) :

Balance Sheet:
Assets

Cash and cash eqﬁivalents $
‘ Total assets ‘ $
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Amounts due to affiliates $ —
Common stock, $1.00 par value; 12,000 authorized,
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2003 12
Additional paid-in capital " 50,129
Accumulated deficit C (50,135)
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity : $ 6
Results of Operations:
Revenue $ _
Research and development expenses 4,207
Total operating expenses 4,207
Net loss $  (4207)
HepaSense

Due to the significant minority investor rights retained by Elan and its subsidiaries, Isis accounted for its investment in
HepaSense under the equity method of accounting through 2002. At inception, Elan granted HepaSense a license to its intellectual
property for $15.0 million. The term of the license was three years and amortization expense related to this license totaled $5.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2002. HepaSense incurred research and development expenses, performed by Elan and Isis on Hepasense's
behalf, in the course of its product development. In conjunction with its restructuring. efforts, Elan concluded its participation in the
HepaSense collaboration in 2002 and Isis regained all rights to ISIS 14803. As a result of the collaboration termination, there was no
activity during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003.-

In June 2004, Isis acquired Elan’s minority interest in HepaSense. Through the agreemént, Isis eliminated all future royalties to
Elan related to ISIS 14803.

The following table presents summary financial information for HepaSense as of and for the year ended December 31, 2003 (in
thousands, except per share amounts): :

Balance Sheet:
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Common stock, $1.00 par value; 6,001 shares authorized,

issued and outstanding at December 31, 2003 $ 6
Series A Preferred stock, $1.00 par value; 6,000 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2003 6
Additional paid-in capital 26,221
Accumulated deficit (26,229)
Total Habilities and stockholders’ equity $ 4
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,‘H.‘. .‘

11. Quarterly Fmanclal Data (Unaudlted)

The followmg ﬁnanc1a1 mformanon reﬂects all normal recurring ad_]ustments whrch are, in the opinion of management,
necessary for a fair statement of the results of the interim-periods. Summarized quarterly data for the years ended December 31, 2004,
and 2003 are as follows (in:thousands, except per share data). - pono ‘ i ‘

[ TIR IR AR IRV T I . .+ First. .. .. Second- .. Third " Fourth

i o . ‘ "Quarter " Quarter. ' Quarter - Quarter
2004 Quarters TR . ‘ ‘
Revenue : e a $ 12303 $ 9,843 $ 9,093 § 11,385
Operatmg expenses (1) : 34,638 - 31,183 31,473 63,183
Loss from operatrons O o (22,335) (21,340)- (22,380)  (51,798)
Netloss(l) . : © (26,306) (25,949) (32,708) (57,540)
Accretion of d1v1dends on preferred stock ' (181) (180) — —
Net loss apphcable tocommonstock (1) - $§ (26487) § (26,129) § (32,708) $ (57,540)
Basic and d11uted net loss per share(3) $ 047) $ ‘ (0.47) $ 0.57) $ (1.00)
First Second - Third Fourth
o Quarter Quarter . Quarter Quarter
2003 Quarters - : . : “
Revenue. T , $ 13,980 $ 15,017 $ 11,294 § 9,699
Operatmg expenses (2) o 32,892 34,536 . 30,361 31,179
Loss from operatlons (2) (18,912) = (19,519) (19,067) (21,480)
Net loss @y R (24,321) ~ (23,097). (22,203) (25,375)
Accretion of dividends on preferred stock ’ (171) (172) (175) (176)
Net loss apphcable to common stock (2) $ (24492) $  (23269) § (22,378) $ (25551
Basic and diluted net loss per share(3) $ 044) $ (042) $ 040) $° (0.46)
(1) Loss includés charges related to restructuring activities of $32.4 million incurred during quarter ended December 31, 2004.
(2) Includes charges related‘to ‘r‘estructuring activities of $1.8 million incurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2003.
3) Net loss per share 18 computed mdependently for each of the quarters presented Therefore the sum of the quarterly net loss per

share will not necessanly equal the total for the year.
12. Subsequent Events

Legal Matters

On or about January 27, 2005, Ajmomoto Co., Inc. ("Ajmomoto '} filed a Demand for Arbitration against Isis with the American
Arbitration Assomatlon in San Diego, California. The Demand relates to a 1994 license agreement between Ajinomoto and Isis, which
purports to license certain mtellectual property in exchange for initial payments, royalties and certain milestone payments relating to the -
development of ‘products covered by the license. Ajinomoto alleges that several products developed by Isis are covered by the license and
seeks a determmatlon of products covered by the license, along with an accounting of any sums due as a result. Ajinomoto alleges these
sums amount o no less than $3 9 rmlhon Ajinomoto also seeks a determination that the license is still in force. Isis strongly believes that

- it has not developed any products covered by the license, and intends to vigorously defend the claim. A hearing on this matter has not yet
been set. Isis estlmates that the potential range of loss on this claim is zero to $2.1 million, and believes it is reasonably possible, but not
probable, that it will ultlmately pay any amounts to Ajinomoto related to this claim. As such, Isis has not recorded a loss related to this
claim as of December 31, 2004 '
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-3 Nos. 33-55790, 33-72124 33-75068, 33-
96138, 333-71911, 333-90811, 333-38844, 333-71116, 333-71176, 333-89066, 333-89626 and Form S-8 Nos. 333-116962, 33-42356,
33-42970, 33-51236, 33-54840, 33-58450, 33-43330, 33-75150, 33-90780, 333-05825, 333-55683, 333-40336, 333-59296, 333-91572,
333-106859) of Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and in the related Prospectuses of our reports dated March 3, 2005, with respect to: (1) the
consolidated financial statements of Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and (2) management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc., included in this
Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2004.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 10, 2005

F-34




EXHIBIT 31.1

" CERTIFICATION
I, Stanley T. Crooke, certify that:
1. 1 have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;
2. ¢ ‘Based on.my knovvledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or.omit'to state a

material| fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;
J ,

.3.. . . Based on my knowledge, the consolidated financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual
' report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, consolidated results of operations and consolidated
" "cash flows.of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;
4, v The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
- procedures (as deﬁned‘ in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) De‘sig‘ned‘such disclosure controls and procedurés, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

‘ ‘ designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its

oy consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
o * which this report is being prepared;

- b)Y fDesigned such :internal control over. financial reporting, or caused, such internal control over financial
R teporting to be designed under our supervision, to. provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
.+, | financial reporting and. the, preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
‘ generally accepted accountmg principles;
ST . . .
coe)i : Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant‘s disclosure -controls and procedures and presented in this report
" our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures,-as of the end of the period

. overed by this report based on'such evaluation; and

cod) o Dlsclosed in. th1s report any change in-the reglstrants mternal control over financial reporting that occurred
", . during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
- report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably’ likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control
- over financial reportmg, and
. RIS "uxn R ‘ : ' ’ ' ' :
Soe %fThe reglstrants other certlfymg ofﬁcer and I have drsclosed based on our most recent evaluatlon of internal control ”
~over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons
‘ performmg the equ1va1ent functions):
a) ‘All 51gmﬁcant deﬁ01enc1es and materral weaknesses in the design or operanon of internal control over
‘ﬁnanmal reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's abrhty to record, process,
Mrsummanze and report financial information; and

. “ = i
Lo Lot H

b) Any fraud, whether or not matenal that 1nvolves management or other employees who have a 51gn1ﬁcant role
in the regrstrant s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated March 15, 2005
/s/ STANLEY T.CROOKE "
~Stanley T. Crooke, M.D., Ph.D.
 Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, B. Lynne Parshall, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

- Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material

fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

Based on my knoWledge, the consolidated financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report,

' fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, consolidated results of operations and consolidated cash flows of the

registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
: under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, partlcularly during the period in which this report is

being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting;
and : ‘ : )

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and-the audit committee of registrant's board of dlrectors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions): ‘

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report
* financial-information; and :

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
- registrant's mtemal control over financial reportmg ‘

Dated: Match 15, 2005

/s/ B. LYNNE PARSHALL

B. Lynne Parshall, J.D.
Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to the’ requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b). of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange
Act"), and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), Stanley T. Crooke, the Chief Executive
Officer of Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc., (the "Company"), and B. Lynne Parshall, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby
certifies that, to the best of his or her knowledge:
1. The Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2004, to which this Certification is
~- attached as Exhibit 32.1 (the "Annual Report"), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d)
of the Secuntles Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respecfs the financial condition of the
Company at the end of the period covered by the Annual Report and the results of operations of the Company for the
perlod covered by the Annual Report

Dated: March 15, 2005

/S/ STANLEY T. CROOKE | - ~ /s/ B. LYNNE PARSHALL

Stanley T. Crooke, M.D., Ph.D. \ B. Lynne Parshall, J.D.
Chief Executive Officer - . ‘ Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and will be
retained by Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

This® certiﬁeatioﬁ accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and i$ not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Isis. Pharmaceuticals, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (wWhether made before or after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of
any general incorporation language contained in such ﬁlmg
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DEAR STOCKHOLDERS,

Stanley T. Crooke; M.D., Ph.D.

CHAIRMAN AND CEO

CHAIRMAN'S LETTER

Isis and our growing list\\&?’/bartners have led

in the advancement of all areas of antisense

drug development, from basic research to drug
discovery to clinical development to commercial-
scale manufacturing.

THESE ADVANCES ARE EVIDENCED BY THE:
* Number of antisense drugs in development;

* Number of companies participating in development of
these drugs;

* Range of diseases in which we are studying antisense drugs;
* Significant reductions in the cost to deliver antisense drugs;
* Invention of improved second-generation chemistries, and

* Development of many routes of administration for antisense
drugs, including the potential for oral and aerosol delivery.

Through our investment, innovation and passion, we have
created antisense technology; a technology that allows us to
efficiently generate drugs for ourselves and our partners. Our
second-generation drugs represent the future of Isis and the
technology. We are committed to broadening the applications
for antisense, while taking advantage of the technology’s
productivity and capitalizing on the drug assets that arise from
our drug discovery and development programs.

Our business strategy is designed to take advantage of our
knowledge and expertise in RNA-based drug development
and the strengths of our technology, patent position,
employees and management team to advance multiple

drug candidates toward the market. We plan to execute
this strategy by licensing our drugs as early in the clinical
development process as we can on the best terms possible,
This strategy allows us to participate in the progress of many
drugs as they move through the clinic, while decreasing our
investment in any one product. Further, by increasing the
number of antisense drugs in developmenct, we significantly
increase the probability of multiple commercial successes.

As we enter 2004, we have all the elements in place to
continue to implement this strategy. We have an exciting
pipeline, excellent partners, and more than 1,500 issued

or exclusively licensed patents, all of which provide us

with a sound leadership position in oligonucleotide-based
therapeutics. We have built the infrastructure necessary to
efficiently and effectively discover and develop antisense
drugs. And, along the way, we have advanced our TIGER
biosensor system to an important stage in its development.
We are optimistic about the prospects of the Company and
the therapeutic and commercial potential of each one of our
products in development. What remains is for us to execute
our 2005-2006 plan by achieving the following objectives:

FIRST, WE MUST FIND A STRONG PARTNER FOR ALICAFORSEN
ENEMA, AND AGGRESSIVELY MOVE THIS NEAR-TERM PRODUCT
OPPORTUNITY TOWARDS THE MARKET.

In late 2004, we announced data from three Phase 2 clinical
trials of alicaforsen enema involving more than 300 patients
with ulcerative colitis (UC). These trials demonstrate the drug
improves signs and symptoms of UC and is well-tolerated. In
the Phase 2 studies, alicaforsen enema outperformed both
placebo and the enema standard-of-care. As a result, we now
have the information we need to plan a Phase 3 development
program. We believe alicaforsen enema represents an attractive
commercial opportunity for Isis. If the activity, durability and
safety results demonstrated in the Phase 2 trials are replicated
in late-stage trials, we believe alicaforsen enema will be an
important new drug for patients with this disease.

Our goal in 2005 is to meet with the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration to discuss Phase 3 clinical trial plans for
alicaforsen enema, identify the best marketing partner with
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late-stage development and commercial expertise, and work
with that partner to develop and implement a successful
Phase 3 program. This strategy should allow us to benefit
from a partner’s clinical trial experience and knowledge,

and avoid the significant costs associated with late-stage
development. In turn, we will focus our resources and unique
strengths on advancing our second-generation drugs.

SECOND, WE PLAN TO ADVANCE OUR TWO KEY SECOND-
GENERATION DRUGS, ISIS 301012 AND ISIS 113715, TO CLINICAL
PROOF-OF-VALUE.,

ISIS 301012, a drug that inhibits apoB-100 for the treatment
of high cholesterol, is an important asset. ISIS 301012
administered subcutaneously is completing Phase 1 studies.
Last year, we reported data from this Phase 1 trial that
showed ISIS 301012 produces dose-dependent, rapid and
prolonged reductions of its target, and in LDL, VLDL and
total cholesterol levels in volunteers with borderline elevated
cholesterol. Further, these data demonstrate that ISIS 301012
is working as designed; it inhibits and reduces its intended
target, resulting in the predicted therapeutic pharmacological
outcome, the lowering of cholesterol. Importantly, we have
also demonstrated that an oral form of the drug reduces
cholesterol in animals. These results gave us the confidence
to initiate a Phase 1 trial of the oral formulation of ISIS
3oro12 in March 2005.

In 2005-20086, through our development of both the
subcutaneous injection and oral formulations of ISIS 301012,
we plan to:

* define the optimal dose and schedule for ISIS 301012 as a
single agent;

» prepare for the initiation of combination studies with oral
lipid-lowering drugs;

* define the oral bioavailability of ISIS 301012 and demon-

strate reduction of apoB-100 and cholesterol in man;

*» advance ISIS 301012 into additional clinical trials to
evaluate longer-term dosing, and

* explore other indications, such as therapeutic apheresis,
that may offer shortened routes to commercialization.

Consistent with these goals, we plan to:

* report final results from the ongoing Phase 1 single agent
study in normal volunteers with borderline elevated cholesterol;

* initiate a Phase 2 trial to evaluate dose and dose schedule
in patients with high cholesterol;

» initiate a pharmacokinetic study to evaluate the addition
of ISIS 301012 to statin therapy, and

* initiate a Phase 2 study in patients with high cholesterol
who are also taking statins.

ISIS 113715, a drug that inhibits PTP-1B for the treatment

of type 2 diabetes represents another significant product
opportunity. This drug is in Phase 2 clinical trials. In a Phase 1
study, ISIS 113715 increased insulin sensitivity in normal
volunteers. Subjects treated with ISIS 113715 did not experience
hypoglycemia, or excessively low blood sugar, which is an
adverse effect observed with many currently available type 2
diabetes treatments.

The goals of our ISIS 113715 development program in
20045-2006 are to:

* demonstrate the safety of the drug as a single agent in
patients with type 2 diabetes to support longer-term dosing;

* define the optimal dose and schedule to support future
clinical trials;

» advance ISIS 113715 into additional clinical trials to evaluate
longer-term dosing, and

+ explore the drug in patients who are also taking oral
anti-diabetic therapies.

In line with these goals, we plan to:

* report results from the ongoing Phase 2 single agent trial in
patients with type 2 diabetes;

* report results following 12 weeks of dosing in patients with
this disease, and

* initiate dosing in patients with type 2 diabetes who are also
taking oral anti-diabetic therapy.
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CHAIRMAN'S LETTER

THIRD, WE INTEND TO CAPTURE VALUE FROM OUR PORTFOLIO OF
SECOND-GENERATION ANTISENSE PRODUCT OPPORTUNITIES AND
CONTINUE OUR ADVANCEMENT OF THE TECHNOLOGY.

In our internal development initiatives, we plan to focus our
drug discovery efforts on molecular targets that give us early
clinical proof-of-value and have the potential to be exciting
new drugs that address numerous therapeutic areas with
major market potential. Specific areas we are concentrating
on include inflammatory, metabolic and cardiovascular
diseases, and cancer. In 2005-2006, we intend to advance

at least two new drug candidates from our drug discovery
programs into development.

FOURTH, WE PLAN TO EXPAND OUR PARTNERS' DEVELOPMENT
PIPELINES AND SUPPORT THE CONTINUED ADVANCEMENT OF
CURRENTLY PARTNERED SECOND-GENERATION DRUGS.

We are pleased with the progress made within our cur-
rent collaborations and our achievements in establishing
new ones. Our overall goal in working with partners is to
participate in advancing their products through the clinical
development process and toward the market.

In 2004, we extended our anti-cancer drug discovery
collaboration with Eli Lilly and Company and reported
continued progress within our alliance throughout the year.
Lilly initiated a Phase 1 trial of LY2181308 in patients with
cancer. LY2181308 is the first drug from our alliance to enter
the clinic. This second-generation antisense drug targets
survivin, a molecule that allows cells that would normally
undergo programnmed cell death to survive. We also licensed
LY2275796 to Lilly in September 2004, the second antisense
anti-cancer drug to emerge from the Isis-Lilly collaboration.
LY2275796 targets eukaryotic initiation factor-4E, a protein
involved in the growth and progression of tumors. This drug
is in preclinical development. For these accomplishments we
earned $2.25 million in milestone payments from Lilly.

In 2005-2006, our goal is to support the continuation of
Lilly’s anti-cancer antisense research and development pro-
grams. Further, we are optimistic we will add new antisense
drug candidates to Lilly’s oncology franchise, and plan to
continue to discover and advance additional compounds for
licensing consideration by Lilly.

We have also successfully engaged in other strategic drug
discovery and development collaborations, which we call our

satellite company partnerships. Satellite companies allow us

to benefit from our partners’ expertise and highly focused

research efforts. In turn, partners gain from our experience
and expertise in RNA-based drug discovery and develop-
ment and access to our proprietary antisense chemistries
and leading intellectual property. We currently work with
high-quality life sciences companies such as OncoGenex
Technologies, Inc., Antisense Therapeutics Limited (ATL),
Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Santaris Pharma A/S and
Sarissa, Inc.

OncoGenex has been a partner since 2001. This collabora-
tion combines OncoGenex’s proprietary antisense position in
inhibitors to the cancer target clusterin, with our proprietary
second-generation antisense chemistry. The lead drug in

this collaboration is OGX-or1 which targets clusterin, a cell
survival protein that when overproduced, prevents cancer cell
death and counters the effectiveness of standard anti-tumor
treatments. Currently, we are supporting OncoGenex’s
OGX-orr development initiatives. In June 2004, the partner-
ship reported that OGX-orxr was well-tolerated, achieved
excellent drug concentration in its target tissue, the prostate,
and produced up to a 91% dose-dependent reduction of its
target in a Phase 1 trial.

In 2003, we expanded our partnership with OncoGenex to
include the development of OGX-225, the first bi-specific
antisense inhibitor to enter development. A bi-specific
inhibitor is a single-stranded antisense drug designed to
inhibit the production of two proteins simuitaneously.
OGX-225 targets both insulin-like growth factor binding
protein-§ and insulin-like growth factor binding protein-2,
two molecules involved in the development of metastatic
disease in hormone-regulated tumors. OGX-225 is in the
research phase of development. Recently, we again expanded
our collaboration with OncoGenex to allow for the develop-
ment of two additional second-generation antisense drug
candidates for cancer.

In 200§-2006, we will support OncoGenex’s expansion of
OGX-o11 development into additional cancer therapeutic
areas through the completion of a second Phase 1 trial
evaluating OGX-orr in combination with TAXOTERE® in
solid tumors, and the initiation of Phase 2 clinical trials of
the drug in patients with lung, breast and prostate cancers.
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ATL is an Australian-based antisense company we helped
found in 2001. We are supporting ATL’s development efforts
to determine the potential of ATL 1102 as an effective treat-
ment for multiple sclerosis (MS). ATL 1102 is an antisense
inhibitor of VLA-4, ATL 1102 entered a Phase 2a clinical
trial in patients with MS after positive findings from an
earlier trial. In March 2005, ATL announced that, although
it and the trial investigators are confident that the current
ATL 1xo2 Phase 2a trial is safe, in light of recently announced
safety issues associated with another VLA-4 inhibitor that
works through a different mechanism, ATL decided to halt
the current trial. ATL plans to convene an advisory group to
consider the potential development path for ATL 1ro02.

In 2004, ATL also initiated a proof-of-concept study to
explore the activity of ATL r1o1 in patients with psoriasis.
ATL 1ro1 is a second-generation antisense drug designed to
block the synthesis of the insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor,
a protein involved in the regulation of cell growth in psoriasis.

In 2005-2006, we will support ATL’s ongoing development
efforts to determine the potential of ATL 1102 for MS and
to explore the activity of ATL 1101 in psoriasis.

Alnylam is a partnership focused on a particular antisense
mechanism of action called RNAI or siRNA. Alnylam is
widely considered to be the center of excellence for RNAI
research and therapeutic development. In 2004, we formed
a strategic alliance with Alnylam to accelerate the develop-
ment and commercialization of RNA1 therapeutics. This
alliance combines our expertise in antisense drug develop-
ment, antisense mechanisms of action and oligonucleotide
chemistry with Alnylam’s expertise in RNAI therapeutics.

In this transaction, we licensed to Alnylam our patent estate
relating to antisense mechanisms and oligonucleotide chem-
istry for double-stranded RINAi therapeutics in exchange for
a §5 million technology access fee, participation in fees from
Alnylam’s partnering programs and downstream milestone
and royalty payments. We have already realized value from
this alliance through the receipt of a $500,000 license fee
from Alnylam related to Alnylam’s partnership with Merck
to develop and commercialize RNAi therapeutics for ocular
diseases. Recently, we and Alnylam expanded our strong
patent positions in RNA-based drug discovery by licensing

core intellectual property regarding all therapeutic uses
of microRNA.

Sarissa, a Canadian biotechnology company emerging from
the University of Western Ontario, is our most recent
satellite company relationship. In February 2005, we licensed
an anti-cancer antisense drug to Sarissa. The licensed drug is
an antisense inhibitor of thymidylate synthase, a well-known
drug target that protects cancer cells from the effects of
several chemotherapy treatments. In preclinical scudies,
antisense inhibition of thymidylate synthase suppressed
human tumor cell growth and overcame tumor cell resistance
to marketed thymidylate synthase-targeted drugs. This drug
is in the research phase of development.

We will support Sarissa’s development efforts by providing
them with access to our RNA-based drug discovery and
development expertise. This partnership, similar to the one
we have with OncoGenex, combines our second-generation
chemistry and experience in antisense discovery and develop-
ment with Sarissa’s deep understanding of the biological role
of thymidylate synthase and oncology expertise.

FIFTH, OUR GOAL IS TO CONTINUE THE DEVELOPMENT OF OUR
TIGER BIOSENSOR SYSTEM, AND IMPLEMENT A BUSINESS PLAN
TO TAKE ADVANTAGE OF THE MANY COMMERCIAL PRODUCT
OPPORTUNITIES AVAILABLE FOR TIGER.

We have continued to make excellent progress in advancing
core TIGER (Triangulation Identification Genetic Evaluation
of Risks) technology, and in creating new applications for the
TIGER biosensor system.

During 2004, the TIGER team made remarkable technology
and system engineering advances that strengthened the
potential commercial opportunities for this system. Our
scientists added application development for epidemiological
surveillance and biological products screening, and continued
to expand our microbial agent database to support broader
uses of the TIGER biosensor system. The bioweapons
defense, epidemiological surveillance and biological products
screening applications of our TIGER technology represent
the first of many we plan to develop for the TIGER system
to enhance its commercial value and opportunity in the
government, research, and medical and diagnostic markets.
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Our goals for the TIGER program in 2005—2006 are to
continue to:

* secure government COﬂtX‘aCtS;

* deploy TIGER biosensor systems to our government
partners, and

* execute a business plan to successfully market TIGER's
products and services to both government and non-govern-
ment commercial customers.

SIXTH, WE PLAN TO CONTINUE TO CAPITALIZE ON QUR
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY ESTATE.

The most important aspect of our patent estate is that it
protects our drugs in development, while supporting substan-
tial long-term control of oligonucleotide-based therapeutics.
We have been very successful in licensing our patent estate
and have used it wisely to enter into a number of strategic
relationships. To date, we have generated nearly $70 million
from licensings, which helps fund our drug discovery and
clinical development programs. Our highly productive
oligonucleotide chemistry program and patents arising from
it should continue to provide significant licensing opportuni-
ties in the future.

In conclusion, we have created the right chemistry for
success. The ideal mix of:

+ exciting drugs in various stages of development with
significant commercial potential;

* a sustainable portfolio of new product opportunities
waiting to be developed;

« a strong blend of partnerships that encompass all areas of
our business and are dedicated to increasing the use of our
technologies in the marketplace;

* deep antisense drug discovery and development expertise;
» a strong management team, and

+ a leadership pbsition in RNA-based technology develop-
ment that is unmatched.

The ongoing advancement of a technology that could
significantly improve the efficiency of drug discovery and
development and yield fundamentally different, improved drugs
for patients is a substantial challenge. We have made great

progress, but we have more to do. As we achieve our goals

in the coming year, we will be significantly closer to bringing
RNA-based products to market. We thank you for your
continued interest in Isis and your support of our endeavors.

In an additional effort to contain costs, we are providing

this letter along with our Annual Report on Form 10-K as

a simplified version of our 2004 Annual Report. An on-line
version of the Isis 2004 Annual Report is available on our
web site at www.isispharm,com. The online version of our
Annual Report is an interactive, multimedia discussion of the
Company and its businesses. I hope you enjoy reading it.

You may also contact our Investor Relations and Corporate
Communications Department at 760-603-2331, or by email at
info@isisph.com, to request the Isis 2004 Annual Report,
either on a CD-Rom or in hard copy, be sent to you free of
charge. Please send written requests to:

B. Lynne Parshall, Secretary
Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
1896 Rutherford Road
Carlsbad, CA 92008

oy 7 o
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Stanley T. Crooke, M.D., Ph.D.
CHAIRMAN AND CEO
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